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Part 1

Corporate company name

Corporate name of
overseas company @

UK establishment
number

’Panelling Centre Limited

e 8 joftfefaf7]a]

= Filling in this form
Please complete in typescript or in
bold black capitals.

All fields are mandatory unless
specified or indicated by *

@ This is the name of the company in
its home state.

Part 2

Statement of details of parent law and other
information for an overseas company

Legislation

Please give the legislation under which the accounts have been prepared and,
if applicable, the legislation under which the accounts have been audited.

®This means the relevant rules or
legislation which regulates the
preparation and, if applicable, the

Legislation @ [Companies Act 2014 audit of accounts.
Accounting principles
Accounts Have the accounts been prepared in accordance with a set of generally accepted @ Please insert the name of the

accounting principles?
Please tick the appropriate box.
] No. Go to Section A3.

Yes. Please enter the name of the organisation or other
bady which issued those principles below, and then go to Section A3.

Name of organisation { International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)

appropriate accounting organisation
or body.

or body ®
Accounts
Accounts Have the accounts been audited? Please tick the appropriate box,

[] No. Go to Section AS.
Yes. Go to Section A4,
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Statement of details of parent law and other information for an overseas company

m Audited accounts

Audited accounts Have the accounts been audited in accordance with a set of generally accepted
auditing standards?

Please tick the appropriate box.
[ ] No. Go to Part 3 ‘Signature’.

Yes. Please enter the name of the organisation or ather body which issued
those standards below, and then go to Part 3 'Signature’,

Name of organisation ‘International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
or body ©

O Piease insert the name of the
appropriate accounting
organisation or body.

Unaudited accounts

Unaudited accounts | Is the company required to have its accounts audited?
Please tick the appropriate box.

1 No.
{1 Yes.
Part 3 Signature
omina this f
| I am signing this form on ltﬁhalf o’fﬁhf overseas company.

Signature Signature r M &2

X X

This form may be signed by:
Director, Secretary, Permanent representative.
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Statement of details of parent law and other information for an overseas company

B?’resenter information

nlmportant information

You do not have to give any contact information, but if
you do it will help Companies House if there is a query
on the form. The contact information you give will be
visible to searchers of the public record.

Contact name

Niall Quinn

Company name

Grafton Group plc

Addrass .
Heron House, Corrig Road

|
|

Post town

Sandyford Industrial Estate
County'Region Dublln 18

RN

Lount
“™ Ireland

Jox

Telephone

0035312160600

Checklist

We may return forms completed incorrectly or
with information missing.

Please make sure you have remembered the

following:

O The company name and, if appropriate, the
registered number, match the information held on
the public Register.

O You have completed all sections of the form,
if appropriate.

O You have signed the farm,

Please note that all this information will appear
on the public record.

@ Where to send

You may return this form to any Companies
House address:

England and Wales:

The Registrar of Companies, Companies House,
Crown Way, Cardiff, Wales, CF14 3UZ.

DX 33050 Cardiff,

Scotland:

The Registrar of Companies, Companies House,
Fourth floor, Edinburgh Quay 2,

139 Fountainbridge, Edinburgh, Scotland, EH3 SFF,
DX ED235 Edinburgh 1

or LP - 4 Edinburgh 2 {Legal Post).

Northern Ireland:

The Registrar of Companies, Companies House,
Second Floor, The Linenhall, 32-38 Linenhall Street,
Betfast, Northern Ireland, BT2 8BG.

DX 481 N.R. Belfast 1.

ﬂ Further information

For further information, please see the guidance notes
on the website at www.companieshouse.gov.uk
or email enquiries@companieshouse.gov.uk

This form is available in an
alternative format. Please visit the
forms page on the website at
www,companieshouse.gov.uk

This has been provided free of charge by Companies House.
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Grafton Group plc (“Grafton” or “the Group”) is an
international distributor of building materials to trade
customers who are primarily engaged in residential
repair, maintenance and improvement (“RMI”) projects
and house building.

The Group has leading regional or national market
positions in the merchanting markets in the UK,
Ireland, the Netherlands and Belgium. Grafton is also
the market leader in the DIY retailing market in Ireland
and is the largest manufacturer of dry mortar in Britain.

Grafton trades from 649 branches and has in the region
of 13,000 employees.

The Group’s origins are in Ireland where it is
headquartered, managed and controlled. It has been

a publicly quoted company since 1965 and its Units
(shares) are quoted on the London Stock Fxchange
where it is a constituent of the FTSE 250 Index and the
FTSE All-Share 1ndex.

The Group reported revende of £2.7 billion and adjusted
profit before tax of £157.2 million for 2017.
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Grafton at a Glance

Grafton trades from
649 branches and
has in the region of
13,000 employees.
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Merchanting market
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Revenue

2nd Merchanting market



@ Merchanting FEUILDBASE @w&m

The Merchanting segment distributes Buildbase is the UK’s third largest builders Selco is a trade and business only builders’
building materials from 603 branches merchants trading from more than 180 merchants that operates a retail style
in the UK, Ireland, the Netherlands and branches with a strong presence in the self-select format. Its unique products

Belgium. South East, Midlands and North of England. and service model is primarily focused on

. customers engaged in small residential
R A :
£O=0 o

Selco, the UK’s fourth largest merchanting
brand, trades from 59 branches including 35
that are located within the Greater London

Area.
Merchanting
revenue up 8.3%
to £2.5bn
(up 6.6% in constant currency) 2f  buildbase.co.uk j¢ selcobw.com

MacBlairk: Leylend som
rP L U M BAS E Your LOCAL Builders” Merchant Swwclaiint DatOrdtars Marehdara

Plumbase is the fourth largest plumbing MacBlair is the leading builders’ merchant Leyland SDM is one of the most
and heating merchant in the UK with in Northern Ireland where it trades from 17 recognisable and trusted decorating and
a network of over 160 branches. It has branches. DIY brands in Central London selling paint,
a strong presence in the South East, tools, ironmoengery and accessories from 21
Midlands, East Anglia, West Country and The business supplies the trade, DTY and branches.
Scotland. self-build markets providing “a one stop
shop” for building materials, timber,
As one of the country's leading suppliers doors and fleors, plurmbing and heating,
of plumbing and heating products, it bathrooms and landscaping products.

focuses on a customer base of domestic and
commercial gas engineers, plumbers and
maintenance contractors.



Grafton at a Glance [contihued)

CHADWICKS

Chadwicks is a leading builders’ and
plumbers’ merchants in the Republic
of Treland where it has a strong market
position in the Greater Dublin area and
provincial locations. ’

The business distributes a full range of
building materials principally to the
residential RMI and new build markets.

7

Z chadwicks.ie

GUNTERS en MEUSER

1JZERWAREN - GEREEDSCHAPPEN

Gunters en Meuser is the market leader in
the distribution of tools, ironmongery and
fixings in the Greater Amsterdam Area. Ir
is a high quality business and brand that js
synonymous with the ironmongery market
in Amsterdam where it has traded for over
190 years.

LT

BUILDERS MERCHANTS

Heiton Buckley is a leading builders’ and
plumbers’ merchanting business trading
from branches in Dublin, provincial cities
and towns where the Chadwicks brand

is not represented. It also incorporates
Ireland’s largest steel stockholding
business.

5 heitonbuckley.ie & heitonsteel.ie

Mol

YouBuild

pte gl

YouBuild is a builders’ merchants trading
from ten branches located mainly in the
Flanders Region of Belgium where it has a
strong market position.

@ ISERO

IJZERWARENGROER

Isero is the leading specialist distributor
of tools,ironmongery and fixings in the
Netherlands.

1sero trades from 44 branches under

the Gerritse, Breur Ceintuurbaan, Van
der Winkel and Scholte de Vries-
Estoppey brands. The business offers a
comprehensive range of quality products
to trade professionals supported by an
exceptional level of customer service.

3>

MPro is a six branch builders’ merchants

with a strong market position in Brussels
and the Wallonia Region.



@ Retailing

The Group is the largest DIY retailer in
Ireland trading from 35 branches

(k

Retailing
revenue up
14.8% to £180.4m

{up 7.4% in constant currency)

The Manufacturing segment operates
the market leading dry mortar business
in Britain from 10 plants and a plastics
manufacturing facility in Dublin.

S §
A1

Manufacturing
revenue up
12.5% to £66.1Tm

(up 1£.0% in constant currency)

} Manufacturing

Woodie’s is Ireland’s market leading DIY,
Home and Garden retailer with 35 stores
nationwide offering an extensive range of
DIY products, paints, lighting, homestyle,
housewares, bathroom products and fitted
kitchens. Woodie's is also a leading retailer
of seasonal categories including gardening
and Christmas ranges.

4 woodies.ie

EuroMix

CP1 Mortars is the market leader in dry
mortar manufacturing in the UK, operating
frem 10 strategically located factories

that provide almost naticnal coverage.

The portable silo system, which contains
aggregates, sand and cement, provides
customers with a constant supply of high
quality mortar and creates other benefits
for customers through improved site
management, savings on labour costs and

reduced waste.

MFP is a manufacturer of a comprehensive
range of drainage and roofline products and
is also a distributor of selected ranges from
other manufacturers.




2017 Highlights

Revenue Adjusted Adjusted Operating Profit Margin
Operating Profit before Property Profit

£163.7m

up 15%

£2.7bn

up 7%

Cash Generation Dividend Net Debt
from Operations

£62.9m

decreased
oy £33.4m

£210.7m

Up 25%

Return on Capital Employed Adjusted Earnings
Per Share - Basic

13.6%

up 110bps

_ Key Performance Indicators
kY

( pages 22 - 23
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Record revenue reflects strong organic Growth in profitability in all segments and Record cash from operations of £210.7
growth geographies: million {2016: £168.6 millien) finances
« Strong organic growth in Irish Merchanting,  investment and strengthens balance sheet
Adjusted operating profit before property Woodie's DIY and Mortar Manufacturing
profit up 17% « Acquisitiens and organic growth increase Investment of £119.1 million (2016:
scale and profitability of Dutch merchanting  £72.3 million) on capital expenditure and
business acquisitions
+ Continued investment in Selco with a record
number of branch openings Progressive dividend policy - growth of 121%
» Traditional UK Merchanting business over the past five years

benefits from growth and prior year

restructuring

Read more on pages 44 - 47 Read more on pages 14 - 16 Read more on pages 10 - 13 and 44 - 47
Financial Summary
beelt 2017 P Do
Revenue™* 2,716 2,496 +9%
Adjusted*** S ' o
Operating profit before property prefit 160.9 137.1 +17%
Operating profit 163.7 142.0 +15%
Profit before tax 157.2 136.2 +15% Financial Review
Earnings per share - basic 54.9p 47.7p +15% pages 54 =47
Statutory results o o
Operating profit 160.9 1201 +34%
Profit before tax 154.5 114.2 +35%
Earnings per share - basic 54.0p 39.6p +36% - Financial Statements
Dividend 15.50p 13.75p “13% " pages 100 - 187
Net debt 62.9 96.3 (£33.4m}
Gearing 5% 9% (400bps}
Adjusted operating margin before property profit 5.9% 5.5% +40bps
Return on capital employed 13.6% 12.5% +110bps

~Additional information in relation to Alternative Performance Measures (APMs)} Is set out on pages 190 to 193,

2016 revenue has been updated to reflect a change in the presentation of rebates payable to customers and the
segmental presentation has also been updated. There was rio impact on operating profit as a result of this change.
**The term “adijusted” means betare amartisation of intangible assets ansing on acquisitions and exceptional items of
£19.7 millien in 2016.
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Chairman’s Statement

The creation of a more
balanced portfolio
of businesses
internationally,

by seeking growth
opportunities in new
geographlc markets,
continues to be a hlgh
strategic priority for
the Board.




Dear Shareholder,

I am pleased to report that 2017 was another year of
strong growth and development for Grafton.

The strong results for the year were driven principally
by organic growth. The traditional UK merchanting
business benefitted from growth and the prior year
restructuring and we continued to invest in Selco with
a record number of branch openings. Strong organic
growth was reported by the Merchanting and DIY
businesses in Ireland and the mortar business in the
UK. Acquisitions and organic growth contributed to
growth in the Netherlands merchanting business and
the Belgian merchanting business returned to profit.

Resuits

The Group reported a significant improvement in
key measures of financial performance including an
increase in return on capital employed ("ROCE") by
110 basis points {rom 12.5 per cent to 13.6 per cent.
Revenue grew by 9 per cent to £2.7 billion (2016 £2.5
billion) and by 6.8 per cent in constant currency.
Adjusted operating profit increased by 15 per cent

to £163.7 million 72016: £142.0 million) and adjusted
profit before tax increased at the same rate to £157.2
million {2016: £126.2 million}. Adjusted earnings per
share was also up by 15 per cent ta 54.9p (2016: 47.7p}.

Dividend

A second interim dividend of 10.25p (2016:9.0p) was
approved to give a total dividend for the year of 15.50p.
This represents an increase of 13 per cent on total
dividends of 13.75p paid for 2016. The increase reflects
the Board's policy which is based on increasing
dividends in line with increases in earnings.
Dividend cover remained constant at 3.5 times.

Cash Flow

Cash generated from operations was a record £210.7
million {2016: £168.6 million) driven principally by
increased profitability. Cur priorities for the use of
free cash flow remain broadly unchanged. we will
continue to invest organically in businesses that have
been prioritised for development, pursue acquisition
opportunities in existing and new geographic
markets in line with the Group's development
strategy and maintain a progressive dividend policy.
The Board is also committed to maintaining a strong
balance sheet and to retaining its investment grade
credit rating,



Chairman’s Statement (continued)

Further progress
was made during
the year by the
Group’s executive
management team
in refining and
implementing the
Group’s medium
term strategy.

Strategy

Further progress was made during the year
by the Group’s executive management team
in refining and implementing the Group’s

medium term strategy.

The Group bailt on its entry into the
Netherlands merchanting market at the end
of 2015 with the acquisition during 2017 of
Gunters en Meuser and Scholte & de Vries -
Estoppey, which provided a leading position in
the Greater Amsterdam Area. The Netherlands
business now has a strong presence in each of
the country’s five largest cities.

selco continued to be the focus of development
activity in the UK merchanting market with
the opening of twelve new branches during
the year which increased the estate to 59 at

the year end. The acquisition last menth of
Leyland SDM, London’s largest independent
decorators’ merchant, provides access to a new
and resilient specialist segment of the RMI
market.

The strong growth in profitability in the
merchanting and DIY markets in Ireland
continued to be generated organically by
market leading brands and businesses
operating branch networks that provide
almost national coverage.

The Board's strategy for the future growth
and development of Grafton is based on
strengthening existing market positions

in the merchanting markets in the UK and
Ireland, continuing to build on the relatively
recent successful entry into the Netherlands
merchanting market and increasing

profitability in the Belgian merchanting
business. The creation of a more balanced
portfolio of businesses internationally,

by seeking growth opportunities in new
geographic markets, continues to be a high
strategic priority for the Board. The Group's
excellent cash generation from operations,
good liquidity and strong balance sheet should
continue to support its strategic growth plans.

Board Composition and Renewal

I noted in my statement last year that Mr,
Roderick Ryan and Mr. Charles Fisher would
retire from the Board at the conclusion of
the 2017 AGM having completed eleven years’
and eight years’ service respectively as Non-
Executjve Directors.

Mr. Ryan was succeeded as Senior Independent
Director by Mr. Paul Hampden Smith and

by myselt as Chairman of the Nomination
Commmittee and Mr. Fisher was succeeded as
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee by
Mrs. Susan Murray. These changes took effect
on % May 2017,

The appointments of Mrs. Susan Murray and
Mr. Vincent Crowley to the Board in October
2016 were made in anticipation of planned
retirements from the Board in 2017, The
Board is now comprised of two Executive
Directors, Gavin Slark and David Arnold, four
Independent Non-Executive Directors and
myselt as Non-Executive Chairman.

On behalf of the Board, I would like to thank
Roddy and Charles for their significant
contribution to Grafton over a long period.



Board Evaluation

An internal evaluation of the Board, its Committees
and individual Directors was conducted during 2017
having been externally facilitated by the Institute of
Directors in Ireland during 2015. Each Director and
the Company Secretary independently completed a
questionnaire covering the running of an effective
board, relationships with management, oversight
and development of strategy, monitoring financiat
and operating performance and shareholder value
creation. The overall result was very positive with

a high and improved level of satisfaction among
Directors concerning the matters covered by

the evaluation. The report noted that the Board
continued to function effectively and operate toa
high standard of governance.

Annual General Meeting

In line with the policy adopted in recent years, all
Directors will retire and seek re-election at the 2018
AGM. Each Director performs effectively and has
demonstrated a strong commitment to the role and

1 strongly recommend that it is in the interests of
sharcholders and the Board that each of the Directors
going forward be re-elected at the Annual General
Meeting,.

Colleagues

The results for the year are a testament to the quality
of the management teams in our businesses under
the strong leadership provided by Gavin Slark. 1
have been consistently impressed by the quality
and commitment of colleagues that I have had the
opportunity to meet since I joined the Board in May
2016. The hard work and dedication of our 13,000
colleagues is a critical element in our success and,
on behalf of the Board, 1 would like to extend our
appreciation to each of them for their contribution
and commitment to the progress made during 2017.

Qutlook

The Board is positive about the overall growth
prospects for 2018 and potential opportunities
to continue creating shareholder value over the
medium term.

Michael Reney
Chairman



Grafton achieved a
strong set of results
for the year driven
principally by
organic growth,

an improvement $
in the Group’s
gross margin and
good cost control.




“2017 was a very good year for Grafton that saw all
segments and geographies contribute to strong revenue
growth and a 15% increase in adjusted profit before tax
and earnings per share. Our expectations are positive
for the current year and we remain confident about the
potential to take advantage of opportunities that create

alue for shareholders.”

Group Results

Grafton achieved a strong set of results for the

year driven principally by organic growth,an
improvement in the Group's gross margin and good
cost control all of which combined to produce a
further improvement in financial performance. The
Group also benefitted from its exposure to multiple
geographic markets and a well diversified customer
base.

The UK merchanting business made good progress
and saw operating profit exceed £100 miliion as

it benefitted from internal initiatives and the
restructuring undertaken in 2016 which delivered
in line with the Group's expectations. Selco had its
most active year ever on the development front with
the opening of twelve branches. The traditional

UK merchanting brands had a successful year and
reported good progress in growing profitability.

The market leading merchanting business in Ireland
continued to be an impertant and consistent growth
engine for Grafton delivering deuble digit revenue
growth and a strong increase in profitability for the
fourth successive year. The operating profit margin
before property profit increased by 70 basis points to
8.5 per cent.

Good organic growth in a favourable market
tegether with the completion of three acquisitions
substantially increased the scale and profitability

of the Netherlands business in what was only the
Group’s second full year of trading in that market.
The business is now established as a significant
contributor te Group profitability and a seund
platform for future growth.

The Belgian merchanting business responded
positively to the actions taken in recent years and
returned to profitability.

The woodie's DIY, Home and Garden retailing
business in Iteland delivered high levels of growth
in revenue and profit that reflected the success In
repositioning the business and the positive response
from customers to the store upgrade programme.
The operating profit margin progression was very
strong increasing by 150 basis points to 6.2 per cent.

CPI EuroMix, the market leading UK mortar business,
reported an excellent set of results for the year and
the segment operating margin increased by 220 basis
points to 22.9 per cent.

Cash generation from operations was very strong at
a record £210.7 million (2016: £168.6 million). These
funds were used to invest in future growth through
organic initiatives and selective acquisitions,
increase the dividend, reduce net debt to its lowest
level in almost two decades and strengthen the
Group's investment grade credit rating.



Chief Executive Officer's Review [(continued)

We remain
confident about
the prospects for
growth in the
current year and
in our potential
to take advantage
of future
opportunities to
create value for
shareholders.

Outtook

We anticipate that overall conditions in the
UK merchanting market are likely to remain
relatively flat and that further progress

in 2018 will continue to be dependent on
realising benefits from self-help and ether
opportunities.

Activity levels in the UK housing RMI market
are expected to remain subdued, sensitive

to changes in housing transactions and
consumer confidence and spending. House
building is expected to remain strong
supported by good underiying demand, the
availability of mortgages and the Helpto Buy
scheme.

The outlook for the Group’s businesses in
Treland is favourable with balanced growth
forecast to continue albeit at & more moderate
rate than experienced in receul years, Deundind
in the merchanting and DIY markets should
continte to benefit from increased consumer
spending and investment in residential

RMI, house building and nen-residential
construction.

The prospects for the Dutch economy are
positive with broadly based growth forecast
to continue boosted by international trade
and increased public spending. Demand in
the secondary and new housing markets is
expected to continue to exceed supply.

The Belgian merchanting business should
continue te benefit from internal initiatives
and the modest recovery in the economy.

Total revenue growth in the period from 1
January 2018 to 18 February 2018 was 6.8%.
Average daily like-for-like revenue increased
by 3.8 per cent in the overall Group, 1.0 per cent
in the UK merchanting business, 5.6 per cent
in [rish merchanting business, 11.0 per cent in
the Dutch merchanting business and 7.2 per
cent in the Belgium merchanting business.
Like-for-like revenue was ahead by 17.0 per cent
in the retailing business in Ireland and by 25.7
per cent in the manufacturing business.

We remain confident about the prospects for
growth in the current year and in our capacity
to take advantage of future opportunities to
create value for shareholders.

Gavin Slark
Chief Executive Officer



Strategy

Our overall objective is to be an international distributor of building
materials and related activities. This objective is supported by our five
strategic priorities.

A Strong Excellence rganic Growth
Financial Base in Service - and Acquisitions

Maximising long term returns for Being the first choice supplier to our Deploying mature acquisition
shareholders supported by three custormers, and integration skills to complere
financial pillars: transactions and realise synergies.
Developing an innovative and efficient
= Revenue growth in new and existing multi-specialist and multi-channel Increasing market coverage where the
markets; business. Group is currently under-represented.
» Operating profit margin growth; and
* Optimising capital turn and return Refining and developing the range of Moving into new territories where
on capital emploeyed. products and services offered. opportunities exist to achieve good
returns on capital invested, achieve
Increasing e-commerce capabilities, leading market positions in national
and regional markets and add value te
Being a focused supplier of building familiar business models cperating in
materials, unconselidated markets.

./-‘-"\ .
A Supportive Organisalional ( \  Ethics and
Structure and Management A /./ Integrity
Operating a decentralised organisational structure that confers Conducting business to a high standard of integrity for the
significant autonomy on local management teams within a tight benefit of all stakeholders and in a responsible way that involves
Group accounting, risk management and control environment. a commitment to achieving the highest practical standards of

health and safety for colleagues, customers and visitors to Group
Maximising returns on capital employed from the existing locations.
branch network.

Utilising the Board and the Group Headquarters in Ireland to
implement the strategy of the Group.

Employing high calibre management teams with an appropriate
mix of operational and management experience.



Strategy (continued)

A Strong
Financial Base

Excellence
in Service

A Supportive
Organisational Structure
and Management

Ethics
and Inteqrity

Progress in 2017

cotitinued fucus v vperational and commerecial perfnrmanee arrpss the Group's businesses during
the year resulted in Group revenue growth of 9 per cent.

Adjusted EBITA margin before property profif increased by 40bps to 5.9 per cent.

Capital turn increased from 2.2 to 2.3 times and retutn on Capital euipluycd inercased by 110 bagic
points to 13.6 per cent.

2017 saw the introduction of & nuber vl uew Lading initiatives and innevations in the Group'’s
marchanting husinessgs.

The Irish merchanting business vpened Unee new bratdclhies in Tublio posiding ronvenient
collection points for custorers.

The Woodie's store upgrade programme has helped to provide an improved customer experience
and ensure that it retains its strong market leadership positien.

The Group continted its expausiun in the Netherlands with the acquisition of Gunters en Meuser,
a distributor of tools, ixings and ironmongery from 14 branches. Two further acquisitions were
made in the Netherjands during the year,

Fypansion of the seloy baneh network continued during the year with the opening of twelve new
branches.

Three new branches were opened in the [rish merchanting business in areas of Dublin that are
expected to benefit from increased construction activity over the coming years, increasing the
number of branches in the network to 4% including 20 in the Greater Dublin Area.

In February (018, the Group completed the acquisition of Leyland SDM, a #1-branch decorating
and DIY business that complements the Group’s larger Selco merchanting branches in the Greater
London Area,

The Group maintained its focus on leadesship development with training programmes operating
across a nummber of Business Units.

A Group-wide programime to implement processes for compliance with the General Data
Protection Regulation {GDPR) was developed during 2017 The Group also developed procedures to
confirm supplier cornpliance with regulatory requirements including the UK Modern Slavery Act.

The Group Code of Business Conduct and Ethics,and existing policies relating to Anti-Bribery and
Corruption and Competition Compliance were reviewed and updated during the year.

An external effectiveness review carried out during 2017 found that the Group's Internal Audit and
Risk Management procedures were fit for purpose and suggested a number of actions for further

development.

Group carbon emissions reduced by 3.1% in 2017



Priorities for 2018

A Group priority for 2018 is to grow like-for-like revenue in
its markets and to exert tight control over costs.

The Group will invest in areas of its business which
previde good long term growth prospects and the
opportunity to improve operating margin and return on
capital employed.

The Group will continue to pursue opportunities for
innovalive customer propositions and routes to market.

The maintenance of a custorner service-fucused approach
to branch operations will remain a prioricy.

Grafton will continue to pursue grganic growth in its
established businesses.

The Group will continue to allocate capital for new
branches 1n strategic locations and acquisition
opportunities that complement existing branch locations.

Growth in new geographic markets continues to be a high
strategic priovity.

The Group will continue to focus on the development of
the Group’s management teams and provide opportunities
for developing key leadership competencies.

The maintenance of high ethical standards for the benefit
of all stakeholders remains an integral part of the Group’s
strategy.

The Group will continue to toll out its ethics training
programme to all Group employees.

The recommendations set eut in the external effectiveness

review carried out during the year will be addressed as

part of the Internal Audit and Risk Managernent objectives

for 2018.

Reducing the frequency and severity of accidents remains
a key priority,

Key Performance Indicators
pages22-23

KPIs

* Revenue

+ Adjusted EBITA Margin before Property Profit
+ Adjusted EBITA Margin

« Capital Turn

» Adjusted EBITA

= Free Cash Flow

« Adjusted Earnings Per Share

* ROCE

= Revenue

Adjusted EBITA Margin before Property Profit
+ Adjusted EBITA Margin

Adjusted EBITA

+ Adjusted Earnings Per Share

+ ROCE

» Revenue

+ Adjusted EBITA Margin before Property Profit
+ Adjusted EBITA Margin

+ Adjusted EBITA

+ Free Cash Flow

+ Adjusted Earnings Per Share

= ROCE

= Revenue

+ Adjusted EBITA Margin before Property Profit
» Adjusted EBITA Margin

= Capital Turn

« Adjusted EBITA

+ Free Cash Flow

» Adjusted Earnings Per Share

= ROCE

+ Lost Time [njury Frequency Rate

= Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate
« Group Co2 Emissions

Rrisk Management
pages 48 - 53

e

Link to Risk

+ Macro-Economic Cenditions

+ Competition

+ Acquisition and Integration of
New Businesses

+ Credit Risk Relating to
Customers

+ Supplier Rebates

+ Internal Controls & Fraud

+ Stock Management

+ Competition

« Colleagues

« 1T Systemns and [nfrastructure

« Cyber Security & Data
Protection

+ Supplier Rebates

» Internal Controls & Fraud

+ Stock Management

« Macro-Econemic Coenditions

+ Competition

+ Acquisition and Integration of
New Businesses

o Colleagues

= [T Systems and Infrastructure

= Cyber Security & Data
Protection

» Health & Safety

= Acquisition and Integratjon of
New Businesses

» Internal Controls & Fraud

« Colleagues

+ Health & Safety

= Internal Controls and Fraud

= Non-Ethical and Anti-
Competitive Practices



Business Model

Creating value for
our stakeholders

Inputs
The continued success of
the Group is based on

Strong partnerships
with our customers.

©

The contribution and
commitment of our

Do
Do

—r

colleagues.

An efficient networlk
of trusted suppliers.

O

Astrong financial
base to fund ongoing

fy

development and
acquisition activity.

Recognising our
responsibility as

©

a member of the
communities where
our branches are
located.

Business Activities

We add value by building on our strengths and

leading market positions

Key Strengths

Leading market positions and brands
in each of the countries in which the
Group operates.

Sound financial metrics based on excellent
cash generation, a strong balance sheet and
the financial resources to tund ongoing
development activity.

A geographically diversified network of 649
branches with oppertunities for further
growth through acquisition and organic
development.

A portfolio of highly cash generative and
profitable businesses.

A customer service orientated culture and the
scale and breadth of operations to create a
competitive advantage in local markets.

Strong, capable, highly motivated and
experienced management teams.

Skills and experience in acquiring and
integrating businesses.

Core Yalues

@ Be Brilliant for Our Customers

Ambitious

{E} Entrepreneurial and Empowering

o Value Our People

( \/, Trustworthy



Grafton is an international trade focused, multi-
channel distributor of construction products.
The success of the business is based on the quality of the products it distributes and the quality of

the service it provides to its customers. The Group aims to build on its leading market positions
in the UK, Ireland, the Netherlands and Belgium and to grow internationally in merchanting and

related markets.

Operating Segments

Merchanting

1%

of Group
Revenue
[2014: 92%)

Retailing

o
7%

of Group

Revenue
(2014: %]

Manufacturing

2%
of Group

Revenue
[2016: 2%)

Outputs
Growing our business
internationally

Revenue

£2.7bn

Adjusted Group
Operating Profit

£163.7m

Almost
13,000

colieagues in 649 branches
and support offices

3.1%
reduction

in CO2e Emissions

Over
£500,000

raised for charities

Outcomes
And sharing the resulting value
with our stakeholders

Shareholders

Increasing prefitability and
earnings
Customers

@ Being brilliant for our
customers

p-S Colleagues

& A Retaining a loyal, engaged and

well trained workforce

Supptliers
EB Butlding relationships to grow

our businesses

Commuinities

000 i A

) Engaging with local
communities



Key Performance Indicators

The Key Performance Indicators (“KPIs”) below are used to track '
performance and increase value for shareholders.

KPI

Revenue

Adjusted EBITA
Margin before
Proagperty Profit

Adjusted EBITA

Margin

Capital Turn

Adjusted EBITA

Definstion and Relevance

Group revenue for the year is
a measure of overall growth.

Adjusted EBITA before
profit on disposal ef Group
properties as a percentage
of revenue provides a good
measure of performance.
(The term “adjusted” means
before amortisation of
intangible assets arising on
acquisitions and exceptional
items of £19.7 million in
2016).

Revenue divided by average
capital employed where
capital employed is the sum
of toral equity and net debt at
each period end.

Profit before intangible asset
amortisation on acquisitions,
exceptional items, net
finance expense and income
tax expense.

Pertermance Trend

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017
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2017 Performance

Group Revenue for 2017
was a record £2,7 billion,
an increase of 9 per cent
on 2016 and represented
the Hfth successive year of
growth,

EBITA margin before
property profit increased
by 40bps to 5.9 per cent.

Increased by 30bps to 6.0%.

Capital turn increased to
2.3 times from 2.2 times.

The Group delivered
growth in adjusted
operating profit for the
eighth successive year.

Link to Risk

+ Macro-Economic
Conditions
» Competition

+ Macro-Economic
Conditions
= Competition

* Macro-Economic
Conditions
» Competition

* Macro-Economic
Conditions
» Cornpetition

* Macro-Economic
Conditions
» Competition

Link to Strategy

@ strong Financial
Base

® Excellence in Service

@ Organic Growth and
Acquisitions

® organisational
Structure &
Management

® strong Financial
Base

® Exceilence in Setvice

8 Organic Growth and
Acquisitions

® Organisational
Structure &
Management

@ strong Financial
Base

® Excellence in Service

@ Organic Growth and
Acquisitions

@ Organisaticnal
Structure &
Management

@ Strong Financial
Base

@ Organisational
Structure & '
Management

@ strong Financial
Base

@ Excellence in Service

& Organic Growth and
Acquisitions

® Organisational
Structure &
Management



Certain KPIs are used as financial measures

to incentivise executives. For 2017 these were

Adjusted Earnings per Share and Return on

Capital Employed which are identified below

with the symbol

KPI

Free Cash Flow

Adjusted
Earnings Per
Share

ROCE

Lost Time
Injury
Frequency
Rate

Group Co2
Emissions

Definition and Relevance

Cash generated from
operations less interest, tax
and replacement capital
expenditure net of disposal
proceeds. Free cash flow
provides a good rmeasure of
the cash generating capacity
of the Group's businesses.

A measure of underlying
profitability of the Group.
Adjusted profit after tax

is divided by the weighted
average number of Grafton
Units in issue, excluding
treasury shares.

A measure of the Group’s
profitability and the
efficiency of its capital
employed. Adjusted
operating profit is divided
by average capital employed
(where capital employed is
the sum of total equity and
net debt at each period end;
times 100.

A measure of the number
of lost time injuries per
100,000 hours worked.

The total tonnes of
greenhouse gas emitted by
Group activities, referred to
as our carbon footprint.

Performance Trend

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017
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2017 Performance

Free Cash Flow was up
£259.7m 01 22 per cent in
2017.

Adjusted EPS increased by

15 per cent to 54,9 pence
in 2017 from 47.7 pence
in 2016.

Return on Capital
Employed (ROCE)
increased by 110 basis
points to 13.6 per cent.

Lost Time Tnjury

Frequency Rate decreased

by 6 per cent since 20416.

Group carbon emissions
reduced by 3.1 per cent
since 2016.

Risk
Management
pages 48 - 53

Link to Risk

= Macro-Economic
Conditions

+ Competition

» Macro-Economic
Conditions

= Competition

* Macro-Economic
Conditions

+ Competition

» Health & Safety

» Non-Ethical &
Anti-Competitive

Practices

Strategy
pages 17 - 19

Link to Strategy

® strong Financial
Base

® Organic Growth and
Acquisitions

® Organisational
Structure &
Management

® Strong Financial
Base

® rxcellence in Service

#® Organic Growth and
Acquisitions

@ Organisational
Structure &
Management

@ Strong Financial
Base

@ £xcellence in Service

# Organic Growth and
Acquisitions

@ Organisational
Structure &
Management

@ Organisational
Structure &
Management

@ £thics & Integrity

® Ethics & Integrity
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Sectoral & Strategic Review

Merchanting Segment

Actual
Change

Revenue 5 r ,280. +8.3%

Adiusted operating profit before property profit . . +14.3%

Adjusted operating profit margin before property profit . 7% +30bps

Adjusted operating profit 51, . +12.1%

Adjusted operating profit margin . . +20bps

Merchanting is a core business
and competence of Grafton,
accounting for 91 per cent of
revenue from businesses in the
UK, Ireland, the Netherlands and
Belgium. The businesses in each
of these countries, all of which

J_LJL_LVKE B@L&L&Ml{j &MAJ_L.J_!\L\&LE v U utsu\_/w_@)

reported imcreased revenue amd
adijusted operating profit before
PrOPETtY PrOTTt fer theryear




Sectoral and Strategic Review {continued)]

UK Merchanting

The UK Merchanting segment trades from 479
branches, principally under the Selco, Buildbase
and Plumbase brands in the South LEast, Midlands
and Norch of England, and under the MacBlair
brand in Northern Ireland.

2017 L fetun

£m o Znany.
Revenue 1,845.1 1,762.3 +4.7%
Ejusted operating profit beforeiprope-:rrty proét‘m“ ‘_.ﬁ_loos 54.8 +6.5%7
Ejusted ;Jperati}lg praht margin begor;e propérty proﬁt‘ - ;5% ) _53-4% 7 -HGbps_
:Ad]'usted operating profit 102.6 59.7 +2.9%
Ei@@a\ting profit margin 5.6%

5.7% (10bps)

s The UK Merchanting business delivered a good
Market Positions . .
performance despite relatively weak growth

in the UK economy. The business traded
No.3

No. 4

Builders Merchanting against the backdrop of low volume growth in

Plumbers Merchanting the residential RMI market and a significant
pick-up in the rate of building materials price
infiation. Mixed trading conditions were
Proportion of Group Revenue influenced by general economic and household
uncertainty and a competitive pricing
envirenment. The pace of growth in house

prices slowed and the number of housing

transactions,a driver of RMI spending, was
flat at 1.2 million for the fourth successive year.

68%

Key Brands

4

FsuILDBASE T

MacBlairi:

L UMBASE

e LOCAL Rualil-tr Moy

Against this challenging backdrop, average
daily like-for-like revenue grew by 4.5 per cent
comprising vulutue growlh of 2.0 per cent and
inflation of 2.5 per cent.

Revenue growth in the like-for-like business
was £70.8 miliion and new branches and
develepments generated revenue of £56.5
million. These gains were partly offset by a
revenue decline of £44.7 million due to the
closure of 47 Plumbase and Contracts branches
in the fourth quarter of 2016.




The adjusted operating
profit margin before
property profit
advanced by 10 basis
points after absorbing
an increase of £3.0
million in Selco store
opening costs.

An increase in the gross margin by 30 basis
points was due to a favourable change in mix
refated to increased revenue in Selee.

The adjusted operating profit margin before
property profit advanced by 10 basis points
after absorbing an increase of £3.0 million in

Selco store opening costs.

Selco Builders Warehouse, the retail style
merchanting model for trade and business
customers, expanded its branch network
organically at the fastest rate in its history.
Reported revenue growth of 15 per cent for the
year came principally from the opening of new
branches.

Average daily like-for-like revenue growth
moderated in the Greater London Area,

which accounted for three quarters of
revenue, following a sustained period of
outperformance. Like-for-like revenue growth
was also influenced by the transfer of revenue
from a number of long established branches,
that were trading at record levels of activity
and with limited spare capacity, to a number
of new branches that were opened over the
past eighteen months. There was a significant
increase in market coverage with the opening

of five branches in the first half and seven

in the second half of the year. The business
traded from 59 branches at the year end.

Selco increased its high level of operating
profit before store opening costs which were
ahead of the prior year by £3.0 million.

Development of Selco’s multi-channel offering
continued with the launch of a new on-line
platform with enhanced click and collect
functionality and a new App that allows
customers to prepare lists of building materials
required for individual projects, receive quotes
and place orders through their smartphones or
other devices.

Buildbase performed well despite mixed
market conditions that saw weak volume
growth in the residential RMI market and
stronger house building activity. Commercial
initiatives drove like-for-like volume growth in
revenue and the business recovered significant
supplier price increases related to the effects of
sterling exchange rate weakness and increased
commodity prices.

The gross margin was maintained in a
competitive market aided by procurement



Sectoral and Strategic Review (continued)

UK Merchanting lcontinued)

gains, a more favourable product mix and
targeted price adjustments. Overall, Buildbase
recorded an improvement in operating profit
and margin in the year.

The process of upgrading the Buildbase
legacy trading and back office systems is

at an advanced stage following two years

of planning and development activity. The
trading system recently entered the parallel
pilot phase of testing in a number of branches
with rotlout to the branch estate expected to
commence towards the end of this year, The
expected incremental costs of implementation
and user training in the current year is circa
£3.0 million and the annual amoertisation
charge following full deployment across the
branch network will be circa £3.2 million per

annum.

Plumbase profitability was substantially
improved from a low base despite revenue
being lower due to branch closures in 2016.

Management were successful in growing
like-for-like revenue and in maintaining gross
margin discipline in a very competitive market
environment. Actions taken in Plumbase to
improve the customer mix and the initiatives
taken over the past eighteen months started

to deliver benefits. The bathroom distribution
business continued to deliver a strong level of
operating profit and a good operating margin.

Buildbase Civils, a distributor of heavyside
building materials, made geod progress under
new management increasing revenue and
operating profit. The business benefitted trom
the branch consolidarion and restructuring
undertaken last year and from pesitive
trading conditions in the new housing and
infrastructure marlets. The branches in
Scotland, that trade under the PDM brand,
successfully responded to the completion of a
number of major hydre electric projects with
new business wins for the supply of materials

to groundworks prejects and reported a good

outcome for the year in a more challenging
trading environment,

T.G.Lynes, a leading distributor of pipes and
fittings to commercial heating, plumbing and
mechanical services contractors delivered
strong revenue and profit growth. The
business leveraged its selling and logistics
capability and realised significant economies
of scale from its single site facility in Enfield
that services customers operating primarily
within the M25 Motorway. The small network
of Plumbase Industrial branches, that also
trade in this market, achieved a significantly
improved result.

MacBlair, the Northern Ireland merchanting
business, realised good revenue and profir
growth in its provincial branch network and
made an encouraging start to realising gains
from investment in the branch infrastructure
in the Greater Belfast Area which represents a
future growth opportunity.



UK Merchanting Strategy in Action

The key elements of the Group’s UK merchanting strategy are:

* Focusing on the RMI segment which has attractive
market dynamics including greater through-the-
cycle resilience;

* Focusing on three financial pillars of revenue
growth, improving the operating profit margin and
increasing capital turn by utilising spare capacity
and creating greater efficiency in the existing
branch network;

= Continuing to extract efficiencies and synergies
from current market leading positions;

+ Developing Buildbase and Selco brands in areas
of the market where they currently do not have a
presence or are under-represented;

+ Selectively participating in consolidation of
attractive segments of merchanting market as a
preferred buyer;

 Developing sustainable position in the electrical
distribution market;

+ Growing hire centre revenue in builders

merchanting branches; and
+ Expanding selectively in complementary product
markets.

During 2017 this strategy was implemented through
continued organic development of the Selco branch
network, with 12 new branches opened during the year and
plans to open seven new branches this year and to relocate
its sizeable long established branch at Cricklewood to a new
store nearby.

Selco continued to implement a clear and well-focused
strategy that is based on an opportunity to grow revenue
and the scale of the business. This involved increased
investment and a step-up in the number of branch
openings and is supported by a very successful operating
moedel.

The acquisition in February 2018 of Leyland SDM, a
21-branch decorating and DIY business, complements the
Group's larger Selco merchanting branches in the Greater
London Area,




Sectoral and Strategic Review (continued)

Irish Merchanting

The Irish Merchanting segment trades mainly
under the Chadwicks and leiton Buckley brands
in the Republic of Ireland.

“anstan!

2017 A (Sl

£m Charg Shon g

Revenue 403.6 3473 +16.2% +8.9%

Operating profit before property profit 34.5 27.1 +27.3% +19.7%
Operating profit margin before property profit 8.5% 7.8% +70bps

Operating profit 35.5 271 +31.2% +23.3%
Operating profit margin 8.8% 7.8%  +100bps

2017 was another year of consistent market

. outperformance by the Irish Merchanting

Market Positions P :
business and the fourth consecutive year

to repert double digit like-for-like revenue

Builders Merchanting No. 1 growth. The business continued to achieve
Plumbers Merchanting No. 1 excellent growth in operating prohit.
Steel Stock Holding No. 1

Management used the increased scale and
operational leverage of the business to achieve

R rocurement gains and efficiencies across the
Proportion of Group Revenue P g

\

15%

branch network resulting in an increase in
the pre-property aperating profit margin by 70
basis points to 8.5 per cent.

The Irish Merchanting business used

the benefits of national scale to conrinue
developing close relationships with customers
supported by competitive pricing and great
service. Initiatives to increase the gross profit
margin were successful and more than offset
the adverse impact of a change in the mix of
business related to increased revenue from

Key Brands

residential and commercial new build projects.

Some of the gains from increased revenue were

CHADWICKS  “Heiton Bucidey

BLrLnees weRTmanty reinvested in the businesses to support the
higher level of activity in the branch network
and to provide for further progress in a market
that offers significant growth potential. This

involved creating 60 new roles thar will

allow the business to continue to leverage its
leadership position as the market returns te
a more normalised level of activity over the
COming years.

Overallaclivily in U conatruetion sector
increased during the year although growth
was uneven across the industry. Recently
published Gavernment statistics show that just
10,283 new build homes were sold last year,an
increase of 42 per cent on 2016 but well short

of the estimated 30,000 new homes required to
meet long term annual demand. This peints

to a more sustained but measured increase in

new builds over the coming years.

Home owners opted to renovate their existing
homes as transactions in the secondary
housing mmarket remained low due to a

lack of supply. A pick-up in non-residential
construction was concentrated in the office,
retail and hotel sectors in the Dublin Area.
Although the civils and infrastructure sector
was softer in 2017 following the completion of
a number of major projects in 2016, prospects
for 2018 are very encouraging due to the
current pipeline of projects.



Irish Merchanting Strategy in Action

The Group’s Irish Merchanting strategy is focused on:

« strengthening its market leadership position;

+ Utilising spare capacity in the branch network, as
market conditions improve, to increase revenue,
operating margin and return on capital employed;

« Developing a complementary presence in adjacent
product categories; and

» In-filling geographic coverage through greenfield

development and acquisitions.

The opening of three branches in Dublin, that provide
convenient collection points for customers, increased the
branch network te 49 nationally including 20 in the Greater
Dublin Area. We also continued to invest in customer
service related opportunities with the opening of three
small plant and tool hire implants and the introduction of a
range of commercial plumbing products.




Sectoral and Strategic Review [continued)

Netherlands Merchanting

Grafton trades under the Isero and Gunters en
Meuser brands in the Netherlands.

Reveriue

Adjusted operating profit

[BNTRN R

Adjusted operating profit margin

2017 2y Ataa ey

£'m [T Sy BRRT N
131.0 87.7 +45.4% +39.8%
IZT_ 9.1 +38.1% +2§.3%
9.6% 1049 (80bps) -

10.4%

Market Position

Builders Merchanting No. 1

lironmongery. tosls and fixings)

Proportion of Group Revenue

5%

Key Brands

CHEIE  GUNIERS i MEUSER

1jZERWAREN - GEREEDSCHAPFEN

ITERWARENGROED

The Netherlands business delivered revenue
growth of 49.4 per cent, increased adjusted
operating profit by 38.1 per cent and expanded
the branch network by 19 to 58 with the
completion of three acquisitions. The business
has signiticantly evolved, under 4 stiong
management team,since the Group entered
the Netherlands market at the end of 2015 with
the acquisition of 1sero. A leadership position
and strong presence has been estabiished

in the tools,ironmongery and fixings

segment of the merchanting market which
has a significant addressable market and
opportunities o make bolt-on acquisitions.

Like-for-like revenue grew by 5.4 per cent

in the Isero business. Strong growth in the
branch network, driven by an increased focus
on smaller projects that generate higher
returns, was partly offset by lower revenue

from larger projects,

The like-for-like gross margin improved due
to positive mix effects and procurement
gains. Growth in operating profit and in the
operating margin in the Isero business was
partly offset by operating costs incurred on

a new on-line platform and on the planned
relocation of the central distribution facility to
suppott recent and anticipated growth in the
branch network.




Netherlands Merchanting Strategy in Action

The Group’s strategy in the Netherlands Merchanting market
is focused on:

+ Utilising the acquisition of Isero to provide a The 14 branch Amsterdam based Gunters en Meuser business
development platform in a recovering economy and acquired on 5 January 2017 traded ahead of expectations and
market; made a strong operating profit contribution for the year. The

« In-filling geographic coverage of the ironmongery, business is primarily focused on the maintenance of private
tools and fixings market through organic and public sector housing and public sector non-residential
development and acquisitions; properties.

+ Identifying opportunities to invest in other
attractive segments of the merchanting market; and  The small single branch business acquired in Wijchen, Eastern
+ Using Group scale and expertise to enhance product Netherlands was fully integrated and improved its market
ranges in existing branch network. position in the town.

Scholte & de Vries - Estoppey, a third generation family
business, trading from four branches located primarily in the
Greater Amsterdam Area,was acquired in November 2017.

MAGAZIIN

PEM's o,
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Sectoral and Strategic Review (continued)

Belgium Merchanting

Grafton trades under the YouBuild and MPRO

brands in Belgium.

Revenue

Constant

2017 PAREN Mot Garrenc,

£f'm - Lhanye PUERN

89.6 83.4 +7.5% +0,5%

O'p-)erating profit/{loss) 0.9 i 0.7 +234.4% +220.0%
Operating profit margin 1.0% ) (0.8%)  +180bps W

Market Position

Merchanting Market No. 2

Proportion of Group Revenue

3%

Key Brands

Dol M

YouBuild m

e a4

Like-for-like constant currency revenue
increased by 1.4 per cent in a more stable
market that saw a return te modest growth
in the second quarter that continued through
to the year end. The customer base was
reoriented towards a small to medium sized
trade customer collected business model

that led to a reduction in distribution costs.
New procurement arrangements and cost
reduction initiatives also contributed to the

improvement in performance.

Prior to the year end, the Group acquired the
35 per cent shareholding in YouBuild that it
did not already own. YouBuild trades from

11 branches that are located mainiy in the
Flanders region and accounts for over half

of the Belgian 1evenue. The Central Drusscls
branch was recently relocated to a new
purpose built facility on an adjoining site
significantly expanding the range of products
on offer and improving branch merchandising
and logistics.




Belgium Merchanting Strategy in Action

The Group’s Belgium Merchanting strategy focuses on:

- Increasing profitability in existing estate;

= Extracting scale related synergies as market position develops;

+ Leveraging off best practice and know-how in merchanting businesses in the UK and Ireland; and

« Expanding branch coverage through organic growth and acquisitions if the projected returns meet
the Group’s hurdle rates.
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Sectoral and Strategic Review

Retailing

Constant
2017 2016 Actual Currency
£m £m Change Change

Revenue 180.4 157.1 +14.8% +7.4%

Operating profit .2 .3 +53.1% +44.3%
Qperating profit margin 6.2%

The Group is the largest DIY,
Home & Garden retailer in
Ireland trading from 35 stores
nationally under the Woodie’s
brand.




Sectoral and Strategic Review [continued)

Retailing

Woodie’s, Ireland’s number one retailer for DIY,
Home & Garden products, expanded its market
position with like-for-like revenue growth of 9.1

per cent.

Market Position

DIY Retailing Ireland No. 1

Proportion of Group Revenue

Ny

7%

Key Brand

The strong performance for the year reflected
the posirive response from customers to the
transformation programme implemented in
recent years. This programme sought to build
a business for the future to meet the evolving
needs of customers while recognising the
unique heritage of Woodie’s in the Irish retail
market. Woodie's traded strongly though the
year in a favourable economy and achieved
above market growth from improved and
extended product ranges and initiatives in the
Seasonal, Kitchens and DLY categories.

Eight stores were upgraded taking the
ttnbes cuinpleted to 20 by the year-end
representing two-thirds of revenue. Woodie’s
online presence, which alluws customers the
convenience to shop at any time using the
direct delivery service or to click-and-collect
from stores, was enhanced with a new website

and on-line revenue doubled.

Woodie's retained its Great Place to Work
status and almost one thitd of colleagues
completed accredited educational programmes
which are important in continuing to deliver

a market leading service and a good shopping
experience for customers,

The benefit of increased revenue was
optimised by tight control of costs and
operating profit increased by 53.1 per cent. The
operating profit margin advanced by 150 basis
points to 6.2 per cent and has grown by 360
basis points over the past two years.




Retailing Strategy in Action

The Group’s Retailing Strategy is based on:

Maintaining Woodie's

clear market leadership
position and strohg brand
recognition;

Focusing on core strengths
in the DTY, Home and Garden
categories; and

utilising spare capacity

in the branch network to
increase revenue, operating
margin and returm on capital
employed.

The woodies.ie website continued

to be upgraded in line with evolving
technology and retail trends. Tt iow
allows the convenience to shop at any
time using the direct delivery service or
to click-and-collect from stores,

Social media continues to be an integral

part of ongoing marketing programmes.

The business has over 94,000 Facebook

likes and almost 8,000 Twitter followers.

The use of social media is enabling
Woodie's to engage with custoemers and
gain insights into their shopping habits

and preferences.

The store upgrade programme was
rolled out to a further eight stores

in 2017 following the successful
rellout in 2016 of the new layout and
merchandising concept. This took the
number of branches completed to 20 by
the year-end representing two thirds
of total revenue. The newly formatted
stotes deliver an improved shopping
environment, enhance performance
and protect Woodie’s strong market
leadership position.
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Sectoral and Strategic Review (continued]

Manufacturing

CPI BuroMix consolidated its market teadership
position in the dry mortar market in Britain
where it operates from ten plants. 'The business
had another successful year under an excellent
management team that is focused on industry
leading standards and continuous performance

improvement.

Market Position

Mortar Manufacturing UK No. 1

Proportion of Group Revenue

2%

Key Brands

W'l

Revenue growth was driven by increased
volumes in a strong house building market,
preduct innovation, customer service
initiatives that differentiate the business in
the market place and recovery of raw material
price increases. There was significant growth
in revenue from EuroMix pre-mixed bagged
products and concrete in a competitive pricing

environiment.

‘the gross margin was stable and overheads
were down despite the increase in volumes.
Operating profit increased by 24.5 per cent and
the operating profit margin was up by 220 basis
points and has increased by 410 basis points
over the past two years.




Manufacturing Strategy in Action

The Manufacturing segment strategy is based on:

* Maintaining our clear market leadership position in the UK mortar market; and
» Leveraging scale and expertise in the UK mortar market to expand into related
preducts and markets.




Financial Review

The Group retains
its medium term
objective of
achieving a Group
operating margin of
seven per cent and
a return on capital
employed of fifteen
per cent.




Our three strategic pillars are based on increasing
revenue, operating margin and capital turn. The Group
reported revenue of £1.8 billion, an operating margin
of 3.4 per cent and capital turn of 1.8 times for 2012
and since then has achieved strong increases in each
of these metrics such that, in the financial period just
ended, revenue had grown by 54 per cent to £2.7 billion,
the adjusted operating margin was 260 basis points
higher at 6.0 per cent and capital turn improved to 2.3
times. As a consequence, adjusted earnings per share
has increased by 263 per cent from 15.1 pence to 54.9
pence and return on capital employed has grown from
6.1 per cent to 13.6 per cent.

Significant improvement in the Group's financial Adjusted Operating Profit

returns have been made over the last five years and Adjusted operating profit of £163.7 million (2016:

the Group retains its medium term objective of £142.0 million} increased by 15.2 per cent driven

achieving a Group operating margin of seven percent  principally by strong growth in the like-for-like

and a return en capital employed of fifteen per cent. business. The profit contribution from development
activity reflected a good contribution from the

Revenue Gunters en Meuser acquisition that was partially

Group revenue increased by 8.8 per cent to £2.7 billion  offset by increased store opening costs in Selco.

{2016: £2.5 billion) and by 6.8 per cent in constant Operating profit before property profit increased by

currency. Volume and price growth of 5.3 per cent in 17.4 per cent to £160.9 million (2016: £137.1 million).

the like-for-like business increased revenue by £131.4  Property profit declined to £2.7 millien from £4.9

million. Acquisitions and new branches contributed million.

revenue of £62.9 million which was partially offset

by a revenue decline of £52.3 million from branch Growth in the adjusted operating margin by 30

closures and divestments. A favourable currency basis points to 6.0 per cent and by 40 basis points

translation gain, due to the strengthening of the eure,  to 5.9 per cent excluding property profit was due to

increased sterling revenue by £47.4 million. volume growth and efficiencies across the businesses
including a focus on tight control of overheads in



Financial Review (continued)

the like-for-like business and benefits from
successfully restructuring the UK Plumbing,
Heating and Contracts businesses in the last
quarter of 2016.

Net Finance Income and Expense

The net finance expense increased to £6.4
million (2016: £5.9 million). The net bank
interest payable declined to £4.2 million (2016:
£4.7 million). The benefit of lower average net
debt and an easing of market rates for the euro
was partially offset by the adverse impact on
translation of interest payable on the Group’s
euro denominated debt. The net cost of defined
benefit pension scheme obligations increased
to £0.7 million {2016: £0.5 million}. There was
a net foreign exchange loss of £1.0 million
(2016: £0.2 million) that arose primarily on the
translation of Eure and US doliar denominated
cash and overdrafts.

Taxation

The income tax expense of £26.6 million (2016:
£21.1 million} was equivalent to an effective
tax rate of 17.2 per cent (2016: 18.5 per cent}.
The underlying rate for the year was 18.5

per cent (2016: 19,0 per cent). Non-recurring
tax deductions accounted for the difference
between the effective rate and underlying
rate of 18.5 per cent. The underlying tax

rate is impacted by the disallewance of a tax
deduction for certain overheads including
depreciation on property. The underlying
tax rate for the Group is most sensitive to
changes in the UK rate of corporation tax
which declined by one per cent to 19 per cent
with effect from 1 April 2017. A further two
percentage point reduction to 17 per cent will
take effect on 1 Aprii 2020.

Capital Expenditure and Investment in
Intangible Assets

Gross capital expenditure was £73.7 million
(2016: £50.1 million) and there was expenditure
of £7.7 million (2016: £10.3 million) on
intangible assets. Proceeds of £8.8 million
(2016: £10.0 million) were received on disposal

of fixed assets. The net investment on capital
expenditure and intangible assets was £72.6
million (2016: £50.4 miilion).

Development expenditure of £41.6 million
(2016: £27.2 million) was concentrated on

new Selco branches, the purchase of freehold
interests in two merchanting branches in
reland, increasing the merchanting network
in Dublin, branch upgrades across the Group’s
estate and other projects to grow future
profitability. Asset replacement expenditure
of £32.1 million (2016 £22.9 million}, which
compares to the depreciation charge of £39.5
million, related to the distribution fleet

that supports delivered revenue, replacing
equipment, plant and tools that are hired to
custemers and other assets required to operate
the Group’s network of 649 branches.

An investment of £7.7 million (2016: £10.3
million) was made on the new [T platform in
Buildbase and in other software development
projects across the Group.

1n 2018, development and replacement
expenditure is anticipated to be approximately
twice the level of depreciation excluding

acquisitions.

Pensions

The Group’s main pension arrangements

are gperated through defined contribution
schemes which apply to over 50 per cent of
calleagues. The net deficit on the defined
benefit pensions schemes declined by £7.8
million to £23.5 miilion (31 December 2016:
£31.3 million). The schemes,which are closed
to new members, have 900 current and 1,800
deferred members and pensioners.

The reduction in the deficit was mainly
attributed to good returns on scheme assets
which were valued at £239.4 million at the year
end. Updated mortality assumptions and a fall
in expectations for future inflation reduced
scheme liabilities and the deficit in the UK
schemes. These gains were partially offset

by a decline of 30 basis points to 2.6 per cent
in bond yields used to discount UK scheme
liabilities.

Net Debt

Year-end net debt declined by £33.4 million to
£62.9 million (31 December 2016: £96.3 million).
The translation of euro denominated debt

at the year-end sterling-euro exchange rate
increased the Group's net debt by £9.5 million.
The Group's gross debt is drawn in euros and
provides a hedge against exchange rate risk on
euro assets invested in the Group's businesses
in Ireland, the Netherlanids and Belgium.

The gearing ratio declined to five per cent (31
December 2016: nine per cent). The Group
remains in a very strong financial position
with EBITDA interest cover of 48.4 times (31
December 2016: 37.9 times) and net debt of 0,31
times EBITDA (31 Decernber 2016 0.54 times).
The Group's leverage policy is to maintain its
current investment grade credit rating.

Financing

The Group had bilateral lean facilities of £528.3
million with six relationship banks at the year
end. In March 2017,an option was exercised

to extend facilities of £430.7 million with five
banks for a further year to March 2022. The
average maturity of committed facilities of
£528.3 million, including a facility of £97.6
million maturing in March 2021, was 4.0

years at 31 December 2017. A further one-year
extension option was exercised in February
2018 for facilities of £430.7 million with five of
the Group's six relaticriship banks.

The Group’s key financing objective is to
ensure that it has the necessary liguidity and
resources to support the long term funding of
the business.

At 31 December 2017 the Group had undrawn
bank facilities of £213.1 million (31 December
2016: £217.6 million) and cash balances and
deposits of £253.7 million which together with



strong cash flow from operations provide good
liquidity and the capacity te fund investment
in working capital, replacement assets and
development activity including acquisitions.

Shareholders’ Equity

Shareholders’ equity increased by £112.5
million in the year to £1.2 billion. The effect of
profic after tax of £127.7 million less dividend
payments of £33.7 millicn increased equity by
£94.0 million. Equity increased by £6.4 million
due to a remeasurement gain on pension
schemes and by £4.1 million due tv a currency
translation gain on euro denorinated net
assels.

Return on Capital Employed and Asset
Turn

ROCE increased by 110 basis points to 13.6 per
cent (year to December 2016: 12.5 per cent)

and capital turn increased to 2.3 times from
2.2 times in 2016. The generation of increased
returns on capital employed s a key financial
metric in the creation of shareholder value and
was achieved through increasing profitability
in existing businesses and allocating
development capital to acquisitions and
organic developments that meet a demanding
hurdle rate of return on capital employed.

David Arnold
Chief Financial Officer



Risk Management

The Directors acknowledge that they have overall responsibility for the

Group’s system of internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness. The
Directors recognise that such a system is designed to manage rather than
eliminate risk and can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss.

The Group has established a risk management
process to ensure effective and timely
identification, reporting and management

of risk events that could materially impact
upon the achievement of Grafton’s strategic
objectives and financial targets. The risk
management process is closely aligned with
the overall strategic development of the Group
which is influenced by economic growth,
organic growth through implants, new formats
and greenfield expansion and acquisition
related growth. Strategic projects are risk-
assessed in conjunction with extensive

commercial, financial and legal due diligence.

The Group’s risk management framework, as
described in further detail below, is designed
to facilitate the development, maintenance,
operation and review of risk management
processes that fulfif the Board's corporate
governance obligations and support the
Group's strategic objectives. The Board is
responsible for establishing and maintaining
risk management processes and for evaluating
their effectiveness. The Audit and Risk
Committee oversees the effectiveness of the
risk management procedures in place and the
steps being taken to mitigate the Group's risks.

A process for identifying, evaluating and
managing significant risks faced by the Group,
in accordance with the Guidance for Directors
in the UK Corporate Governance Code and

the FRC Guidance on Risk Management,
Internai Control and Related Financial

and Business Reporting, has been in place
throughout the accounting peried and up

to the date the financial statements were
approved. These risks are reviewed by the
Audit and Risk Committee and the Board.
Executive management is responsible for
implementing strategy and for the continued

development of the Group’s businesses
within parameters set down by the Board.
$imilarly, day to day management of the
Group’s businesses is devolved to operational
management within clearly defined authority
limits and subject to closely controlled
reporting of financial performance. Group
and operating company management are
responsible for internal control including the
identification and evaltuation of significant
risks and for implementation of appropriate
internal controis to manage such risks. Group
management reports te the Board on key risks
and internal control issues including the way

in which thesc issucs are managed.

Internal Control System
The key features of the Group’s system of

internal control and risk management include:

+ Review,discussion and approvali of the
Group’s strategy by the Board;

« Defined structures and authority limits for
the operational and financial management
of the Group and its businesses;

A comprehensive system of reporting

ontrading, on operational issues and

on financial performance incorporating

menthly results, cash flows, working

capital management, return on capital
employed and other relevant measures of
performance;

« Written reports from the Chief Executive
officer and the Chief Financial Officer that
form part of the papers considered by the
Board at every beard meeting;

« Review and approval by the Board of
annual budgets incorporating operating
performance and cash flows;

» Board approval of major capital expenditure

proposals and also significant acquisition

proposals. Capital expenditure proposals
below Board level are delegated to the

Management Comimittee comprising the
CEQ,CFO and Group Financial Controller/
Company Secretary; and

« Review by senicr management and the
Audit and Risk Cemmittee of Internal Audit
Report findings, recommendations and
follow up actions.

The preparation and issue of financial reports,
including the Group's annual and interim
results, is managed by the Group Finance team
based in the Group Head Office in Dublin.

The Group’s financial reporting process is
controlled by reference to the Group Financial
Accounting Policies and Procedures Manual,
which sets out the general accounting
principles, requirements and internal controls
applicable te all Group businesses,

Group Risk Committee

The Group has established a Group Risk
Committee {“GRC"} whose membership
reflects a range of executive functions, skills,
expertise, experience and business activities
within the Group. The GRC is responsible for
the oversight of risk management. The GRC
prepares an annual repost of its activities and
identifies areas for improverment and changes
in the risk profile of the Group and presents it
te the Audit and Risk Committee.

The GRC is chaired by the Group CFO and
reports to the Audit and Risk Committee, The
Committee meets four times per year and is
responsible for maintaining and monitoring
the Corporate Risk Register, which records
the Group's material risks and the actions
and controls, both in place and required, te
manage each to an acceptable leve! of risk
consistent with the Group's risk appetite. Each
of the Group's Business Units are required

to maintain a register of key business risks



and report them gquarterly to the GRC. The
management team in each Business Unit is
responsible for identifying risks and for the
day to day management of those risks.

The GRC initiates Group-wide actions to
manage risks. Recent GRC initiatives and
actions have included:

= Development of procedures to confirm
supplier compliance with regulatory
requirements and ethical standards;

« Defining and communicating
responsibilities of the Group and Business
Units in relation to the management of risk;

« Monitoring the roll-out of Ethics training
and Business Continuity Planning across
the Group;

« Sharing of good practice and lessons
learned;

+ Actions to support the Group’s information
security programme; and

« Monitoring of relevant legislative and
regulatory developments and the Group's
response to these, including Modern Slavery
Act, Gender Pay Reporting, GDPR, Payment
Practices Reporting, and Corporate Criminal
Offences, including updates to Group
Policies where necessary.

Internal Audit

The Group Internal Audit function focuses

on areas of greatest risk to the Group,

by developing and executing an annual
programme of audit work which is based

on covering the key risks to the Group and
Business Units as set out in their risk registers.
it menitors compliance and considers the
effectiveness of internal control throughout
the Group. Where appropriate this involves co-
ordinating work with audit teams based in the
businesses who perform compliance reviews
of branch level procedures, health and safety
and transport.

The Audit and Risk Committee approves the
Internal Audit Plan, reviews Internal Audit
Reports and meets with the Group Internal
Audit and Business Risk Director in order to
satisfy itself of the adequacy of the Group's risk
management and internal contrel systems.

In addition, the Audit and Risk Committee
reviews Management Letter points raised

by the External Auditor and meets with the

External Auditor to discuss the nature of the
points raised. The Chairran of the Audit
and Risk Committee reports to the Board

on all significant matters considered by the
Committee.

I[n line with best practice, the Group’s Risk
Management and Internal Audit procedures
are subject to a review of their effectiveness by

an independent third party on a periodic basis.

An effectiveness review was carried out in
2017 by KPMG, which found that both Internal
Audit and Risk Management procedures

in the Group were fit for purpose, whilst
setting out a number of recommendations

for further development of each function.
These recommendations form part of Internal

Audit and Risk Management objectives to be
addressed in 2018.

The Risk Management Framework diagram
below illustrates the key responsibilities
within the Group’s risk management structure.

In the Board's view, the ongoing information it
receives s sufficient to enable it to review the
effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal
control. The Directors confirm that they have
reviewed the effectiveness of internal controls.
tn particular, during the year the Board has
considered the significant risks affecting the
business and the way in which these risks are
managed,controlled and monitored.

The Board of Directors

« Maintaining risk management and internal control systems

+ Determining and reviewing risk appetite, and establishing risk management

strategies
» Monitoring principal risks

Audit and Risk Committee

+ Monitoring and reviewing the effectiveness of the Group's risk management and

internal control systems

controls

-

Group Risk Committee
+ Maintaining the Corporate Risk
Register
+ Determining and maintaining risk
management policies and procedures

and sharing risk management practices

between businesses
= Initiating Group-wide risk
management actions

Reviewing business unit risk registers

Receiving reports from management on its review of risk management and internal

Reviewing principal risks as documented on the Corporate Risk Register
Approving the internal audit plan and reviewing reports from Group Internal Audit
Receiving reports on internal control from the External Auditors

Internal Audit
+ Establishing a risk based annual
internal audit ptan
» Reviewing internal controls
« Reporting to the Audit and Risk
Committee, including on the
completion of internal control actions

Business Units, Functions and Employees

« Sharing responsibility for effective management of risk

« Maintaining risk registers and monitoring the management of risk at business unit

and functional levels

'y

Identifying and reporting emerging risks



Risk Management (continued)

Key Risks

Risk Movement
©Q New

B Unchanged
A Increased

W Decreased

Link to Strategy

@ suong Financial Base

@ Excellence in Service

# Organic Growth and Acquisitions

. Organisationai Structure & Management
& Fthics and Integrity

The Audit and Risk Committee and the Board have carried out a robust
assessment of the principal risks facing the Group. It is not practical to
document every risk that could affect the Group in this report. The risks

identified below are those that could have

a material adverse effect on the

Group’s business model, future performance, solvency or liquidity. The

actions taken to mitigate the risks cannot provide assurance that other
risks will not materialise and adversely affect the operating results and
financial position of the Group.

Macro-Economic
Conditions in the UK,
Ireland, the Nethertands
and Belgium

Risk Movement
|

Link to Strategy
o

Risk Description

Trading in the Group’s businesses is influenced by
rnacra-economic conditions in the UK, [reland, the
Netherlands and Belgium. The Group's markets are
cyelical in nature and a proportion of revenue is
dependent on the willingness of househelds te incur
discretionary expenditure on home improvement
projects. Investments of this nature closely correlate
with general economic conditions. A deterforation in
econormic conditiens in the UK, [reland, the Netherlands
or Belgium could result in lower demand in the Group’s
businesses.

The Group’s customers are mainly professional
trades people engaged in residential, commercial and
industrial maintenance and new-build projects. These
markets are affected by trends in improvements,
remodelling and maintenance and construction.
Demand in these markets is also influenced by
economic factors including interest rates, the
availability of credit, inflation, changes in property
values, demographic trends, tax policy, emmployment
levels and gross domestic product. Any negative
movement in one or more of these factors could
adversely affect demand in the Group’s business.

The result of the UK referendum to leave the European
Union (“EU”) has created significant uncertainty about

the near term outlock and prospects for the UK economy.

It is still too early to assess the likely impact on the

UK ecenomy of the UK leaving the EU or the extent to
which any possible fall in investment and a potentially
sofrer housing marke! could impact employment and
household spending. It is expected to take at leasta
further 12 months to conclude negotiations on the UK's
exit from the EU. The uncertainty during this period
and beyond could negatively impact the UK econorny,
reduce demand in the Group's markets and adversely
affect the financial performance of the Group.

Mitigation

The Group has taken significant action in previous years
in response to the downturn in its markets to increase
the operating etiiciency of its business which leaves it
well pusitioned to benefit from the continuing recovery.
Exposure to the more resilient and less cyclical Repair,
Maintenance and [Improvement (“RMI1") market has
increased through ongoing expansion of the network of
Selco stores particularly in the Greater London Area.

The merchanting branches in Ireland were refocused

on the residential RMI market during the downturn but
are equally well positiened to respond to an increase in
the new house build markets. Branch showrooms have
been upgraded and the product portfolio expanded to
meet the needs of customers engaged in residential RMI
projects which currently account for a higher proportion
of revenue.

A highly cost efficient branch implant route to market
model has been used to increase revenues through the
existing branch network supperted by an enhanced
service to customers. Buildbase provides a plant,

tool and equipment hire service to its customers,
Electricbase implants supply a range of electrical
products. Plumb Centre implants provide a full range of
plumbing and heating produets in the Chadwicks and
Heiton Buckley branches in {reland.

The mitigation strategy also incorporates proactive cost
contrul in response to changes in market conditions.
An assessment of macro-economic, censtruction and
residential market conditions informs the allocation of
capital resources to new projects.



Competition in
Merchanting, BIY and
Mortar Markets

Risk Movement
|

Link to Strategy
®
®

Colleague Recruitment,
Engagement, Retention
and Skills

Risk Movement
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Link to Strategy
@
L
&

IT Systems and
Infrastructure

Risk Movement
|

Link to Strategy
®
®

Risk Description

Grafton faces volume and price competition in its
markets. The Group competes with builders’ merchants
and retailers of varying sizes, and faces competition
from existing general and specialist merchants
including the natienal builders’ merchanting chains

in the UK together with retailers, regional merchants
and independents. The Group also faces the risk of

new entrants to its markets, for example, by way of
competition from on-line operators.

Actions taken by the Group’s competitors, as well

as actiens taken by the Group to maintain its own
competitiveness and reputatien for value for money,
may exert pressure on product pricing, margins and
profitability. Some of the Group's competitors may have
access to greater financial resources, greater purchasing
economies and a lower cost base, any of which may
confer a competitive advantage that could adversely
impact the Group’s revenues, profits and margins.

Risk Description

The Group has in the region of 13,000 colleagues
engaged in the operations and management of its
portfolio of businesses. Employees are fundamentai to
the long term success and develepment of the business.
Attracting and retaining employees with the relevant
skills and experience and investing in training and
development is essential to sustaining the existing
operations ail providing a plaiforms for the longer term
development of the Group.

The Group is dependent on the successful recruitment,
development and retention of talented executives to run
the overall Group and its businesses.

In addition, the Group's ability tu continue to
identify and develop oppertunities is influenced by
management's knowledge of and expertise in its
marlkets.

Risk Description

The Group's businesses are dependent on IT systems and
supparting infrastructure to trade. Either the failure of
key systems or the inability to compete through up te
date trading platforms could have a serious impact on
the business and could potentially result in the ioss of
reveniue and reduced profitability.

The rate and scale of IT change is increasing as the
Group undertakes a programme to replace a number
of legacy systems. These changes have the potential to
disrupt operations.

Mitigation

The Group's businesses monitor gross marging and,
where possible, develop appropriate tactical and trading
responses to changes in the competitive and pricing
environment. Mitigation of this risk {s achieved
through ensuring a value proposition for customers
through the review of custumer pricing metries,
monitoring pricing developments in the market place
and the active management of pricing.

The Group has established and contirues to develop
online sales capability te respend to changing customer
requirements. Promotional and marketing activity

is also a feature of revenue and margin management.
Procurement strategies are focused on reducing costs
through supplier consolidation and sourcing, when
appropriate, through overseas markets. The Group
maintains an open dialogue with suppliers in order

to mitigate the impact on customers and Group
profitability from commodity related cost pressures. The
Group’s businesses conduct surveys and review feedback
from customers in order to improve the quality of the
overall product and service proposition and te ensure
that customer expectations are met.

Mitigation

The Group and its individual businesses are committed
to high standards of eriployment practice and are
recognised as good employers in the UK, Treland,

the Netherlands and Belgium. Remuneration and
benefits are regularly reviewed and are designed to

be competitive with other companies in the sectors
that the Group operates in and with market practice
generally

Significant resources and time are devoted to training
and development. This includes programmes that are
organised internally by Group businesses and also in
conjunction with external bodies. Employee turnaover is
clesely monitored and processes are in place to provide
career development cpportunities and actively manage
succession planning throughout the business. The
Group made a number of appointments in recent years
in planning for the succession of key executives and

to support its longer term development. This enabled a
number of Business Unit CEO roles to be filled internally
during 2017.

Mitigation

Back-up facilities and Business Continuity Plans are in
place and tested regularly to ensure that interruptions to
the business are prevented or minimised and that data
is protected from unauthorised access.

The replacement and updating of systems and
technologics is supported by a full strategy and business
case analysis and planning and risk analysis for each
project. Implementation is supported by subject

matter experts and colleagues from a cross section of
functions to ensure that projects are managed to deliver
technical, functional and business selutions within an
appropriate cost and timeframe. System changes are
subject to rigorous testing and confirmation that they
meet defined business acceptance criteria prior te full
implementation. Regular progress reporis are made to
the Board and planning and implementation is subject
to review by Group Internal Audit.



Risk Management [continued]

Key Risks [cantinued]

Cyber Security and Data
Protection

Risk Mavement
A

Link to Strategy
L
@

Health and Safety

Risk Movement
||
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Acquisition and
integration of New
Businesses

Risk Movement
|

Link to Strategy
9

Credit Risk Relating to
Customers

Risk Movement
|

Link to Strategy
o

Risk Movement
O New

W Unchanged
A Increased

W Decreased

Risk Description

I[ncreased levels of cybercrime represent a threat to the
Group’s businesses and may lead to business disruption
or loss of data. The Group is exposed to the risk of
external parties gaining access to Group systems to
deliberately disrupt business, including the risk of a
material loss of revenue, steal infermation or comrmit

fraud.

Theft of data relating to employees, business partners or
customers may Tesult in a regulatory breach and could
impact the reputation of the Group.

Risk Description

The prevention of injury or loss of life to colleagues,
customers and third parties is an absolute privrity for
the Board and executive management. Health and
safety risks in branch locations concern the manual
handling of products, slips, trips and falls and incidents
involving fork lift rrucks and delivery vehicles, Outside
of the branch lecations the main health and safety
risks relate to vehicles engaged in transferring building
materials from branch locations te customers’ sites.

Risk Description

Growth through acquisition has historically been a key
element in the Group's development strategy. The Group
may not be able to continue to grow if it is unable to
identify artractive targets, execute full and proper due
diligence, raise funds on acceptable terms, complete
acquisition transactions, integrate the operations of the
acquired businesses and realise the anticipated levels of
profitability, cash flows and return on invested capital.

Risk Description

The Group is exposed to the risk of default by customers
who ptirchase products on credit. One of the key
features of customer service in merchanting is the
provision of short-term credit to customers, with the
Group carrying the associated credit risk.
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Mitigation

The Group has a number of IT security controls

in place including gateway firewalls, intrusion
prevention systems and virus scanning. The Group
has also introduced a suite of informarion security
policies. Regular IT audits are carried out in the
Group's businesses. The Group has put in place a Cyber
Insurance Policy to provide additional cover against
cyber risk.

A programme to oversee the actions required for GDPR
compliance has been established at a Group level,
with leads established in each business unit to co-
ordinate activities. The Group has also established an
Information Security and GDPR Steering committee
to monitor and oversee the delivery of the Information
Security and GDPR Programmes.

Mitigation

Health and safety forms part of the agenda at all Board
meetings and statistics covering accident frequency
rates, lost time, management of risks and the cost of
accidents and incidents are reviewed by the Board

on a vegular basis. The individual businesses invest
significant resources in health and safety management
and actively work to minimise health and safety risks.
Accidents are monttored and corrective action taken
when appropriate to reduce or eliminate the risk of
recurrence. The Group has recruited additional health
and safety expertise to facilitate an improvement in the
management of health and safety risks.

Mitigation

Acquisitions are made in the context of the Group’s
overall strategy. The Group has a lung established,
experienced and skilled acquisition capability that

has significant relevant experience in all aspects

of acquisition transactions and in managing post
acquisition integration. This process is underpinned by
strategic and financial acquisition ¢riteria and the close
menitoring of performance post acquisition including
one and three year post acquisition reviews by Group
Internal Audit,and the sharing of any lessons Jearnt
identified by those reviews.

Mitigation

The Group's exposure to customer credit risk is
diversified over a large customer base and the incidence
of default by customers is tightly managed by Business
Unit credit control teams, Credit insurance is in place to
cover major exposures in the UK and Irish merchanting
businesses. Past-due receivables are menitored and
actively managed un an on-going basis and bad debt
provisions are made as required. Enforcement action is
taken against customers who do not fulfil their payment
obligations where it is anticipated that all or partofa
debt will be recovered.
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Risk Description

The total value of income the Group receives from

its suppliers in the form of volume rebates and other
amounts, including product and marketing support,
represents a material percentage of its operating

profit. There is a risk that the Group does not collect all
supplier rebates receivable or that rebates are accounted
for incerrecly.

Risk Description

The Group is exposed to the risk of failure in financial
or operational controls in individual Business Units,
including the failure to prevent or detect fraud. A
breakdown in controls of this nature could lead to a
financial loss for the Group.

Risk Description

Non-ethical behaviour by any of the Group’s employees
may result in a breach of legislation, and potentially
sighificant fines and penalties, as well as damaging

the Group's reputation. In particular, given the market
leading position of many of the Group’s businesses there
is a risk that anti-competitive practices could result in
the imposition of a penalty against the Group under
competition law.

Risk Description

Inadequate stock management and contrel procedures
could result in a misstatement of inventory balances
and the holding of excessive inventory which may have
to be written down to realisable value which may result
in financial loss. In additien poor stock management
practices which lead to non-availability of products
required by customers will result in loss of revenue and
profit,

Mitigation

The Group seeks to put in place written agreements wirh
all key suppliers detailing the terms and conditions of
rebate arrangements. Finance and procurement teams
work closely to validate amounts due from suppliers
based on these agreements and quantities purchased.
Rebates receivable are regularly reviewed and Business
Units engage in dialegue with suppliers regarding
collection. A preportion of rebate agreements provide
for repayment of rebates at regular intervals througheout
the year thereby reducing the ameunt receivable by the
Group at the year end.

Mitigation

The Group has established a framework of controls
incorporating a “three lines of defence” model to
protect against significant control deficiencies and the
risk of fraud. This includes documented policies and
procedures for key inancial and operativnal processes,
ongeing monitoring of management accounts both

at Group and Business Unit level, monthly sign-off of
Business Unit accounts by local finance directors and
an annual compliance statement, Business Units also
complete a six monthly self-assessment of key financial
controls which is subject to validation by Group Internal
Audit. Branch procedures are subject to regular review
and audit by Business Unit internal audit and loss
prevention teams.

Mitigation

The Group has established a Code of Business Conduct
ard Ethics which sets out the high standard of
behaviour expected frem the Group's employees and
businesses. This is supported by a number of Group
policies which are cascaded down into Business

Units setting out the requirements in areas including
Anti-Bribery and Corruption and Competition Law.
These policies are communicated to all ernployees and
reinforced through mandatory on-line training which
also ferms part of employee induction programmes.

“SpeakUp”, the Group wide, independently run, reporting
function, allows employees to anonymously report

any suspected wrongdoing or unethical behaviour. all
reported cases are investigated, which is overseen by
Group internal Audit, with appropriate disciplinary
action taken where necessary.

Mitigation

Each business has its own specific inventory
management practices and controels in place to
minimise excessive stock holding and avoid stock-outs,
including regular reviews of slow moving inventory
across branch networks. Inventory is counted and
verified on a regular basis at branches through either
full stock counts or regular checks on a rotation basis
of stocks that are contrelled by perpetual inventory
system&



Corporate Social Responsibility

Some Highlights of our Performance in 2017

Over £500k

Raised by the Group's
pBusinassas for various
charities

25,345km

cycled by colleagues
for various charities

()
‘-___//
62%
Of branches accredited to 150 14001,

the Internationat Envircnmental
Management System

®
30,000

Hours of training detlvered
by Woodie's across various
training modules

77.1%

Uf waste recycled across the
Graup’'s businesses

3.1%

Reduction in carbon
emissions compared
with 2016




Grafton is committed to conducting its business in a socially responsible
manner. This is demonstrated in the way we engage with our colleagues,
customers, suppliers and with the communities in which we trade. The
Group is also committed to taking a balanced view on economic, social and
environmental issues when making business decisions.

The Group continues to recognise the importance of a strategic and coordinated
approach to the many aspects of its coerporate social responsibility (“CSR”).

2017 saw further development in a number of areas of the Group's broader CSR
strategy. Various key policies were issued ot updated and practical approaches to
implementation continue to develop.

The Group’s core values listed below help 1o ensure that its CSR strategy is focused
and relevant.

1 Be brilliant for our customers
2 2 Value our people
Ambitious

r'A < Trusiworthy

5 < Entrepreneurial and empowering

The Group’s approach
to CSR is built on the
following key themes,
around which policy,
strategy and activity
are focused.

Corporate Governance and
Ethical Business

EXQEXGEN EXC TN

The Group's Code of Business Conduct and
Ethics and associated policies and training
modules are fundamental to establishing
the basic standards of behaviour which all
colleagues (and also contractors,agents and
business partners) of the Group are expected
to follow and to ensuring that the Group's
principles of ethical behaviour are embedded
across all Business Units. The Group tracks
completion of online ethics and regulatory
training modules across all Business Units.
During the year the training modules were
translated into Dutch and rolled out in the
Netherlands business.

The Group’s commitment to ethical business
and good corporate governance was further
strengthened during the year with the
establishment of a Group-wide programme
for compliance with GDPR, the development
and piloting of procedures to confirm supplier
compliance with regulatory requirements
including the UK Modern Slavery Act, and the
cempletion of an external effectiveness review
of the Group’s risk management processes
which resulted in a number of actions that



Corporate Social Responsibility (continued)

require further development.

Community and Charity Support

[:{

Grafton recognises its tesponsibility as a
membet of the communities in which we
conduct business and we are committed

to developing links to those communities
through a range of community and charitable
initiatives suppotted by local colleagues and
management. The Group also supports a range
of charitable causes mainly at a local leve]
through its branch network. In 2017, Grafton
businesses raised over £500,000 in support of
charities.

The very successful “Woodie’s Heroes”
fundraising campaign raised a total of
€275,000 in 2017 and over €750,000 to date for
various children’s charities. The campaign
included cycling events, the recerding of a
charity single and various other initiatives
across the branches. The charities benefitting
from the campaign in 2017 were Make a Wish
Ireland, Temple Street Children’s Hospital, Act
for Meningitis and The Jack and Jili Children’s
Foundation.

The Irish merchanting business supported

a number of charitable initiatives during
the year in support of various charities such
as Barnardos and St. Vincent de Paul, The
business also continued its partnership
with Moyle Park College, Clondalkin where
colleagues facilitated CV and interview skills
workshops for local students under the
“Business in the Community” initiative.

Grafton Merchanting GB continued its support
of Cancer Research UK raising over £50,000
through a number of events and initiatives, A
further £80,000 was raised for various other
charities. Colleagues from across Buildbase
and Hirebase spent seven weeks in Tanzania
during the year assisting with the construction
of sanitary facilities for a local school in
parinership with Raleigh International.

in June 2017, Grafton Group plc sponsored
its sixth consecutive cycle challenge. The
four day challenge covered over 300 miles
from Poland to Prague. A team of senior

executives completed the challenge and raised
overT £10,000 for the Foundation of Light, the
registered charity of Sunderland AFC. The
Foundation uses the power of football to
inspire, involve and educate children, families
and adults across the North East of England
and engages with more than 40,000 people
every year.

Selco continued its ongoing fundraising
support for MacMillan Cancer Support, raising
£118,000 in 2017 and almost £500,000 to date
through a variety of sporting events and
community initiatives. Selco also donated

to local charities as part of its new branch

opening activity.

The Netherlands merchanting business
continues to sponsor the ‘Beursvloer Woerden’,
a trade fair which provides for the sharing

of information and skills between local
businesses and social organisations. Other
sponsorships included sports events to raise
funds fer the Dutch Cancer Society.

The Belgian merchanting business continues
to support a number of childrens’ charities
including the Children's Cancer Foundation
and the “Music for life” and “Viva for Life”

campaigns which focus on the relief of child

poverty.
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4 Colleagues from across
Buildbase and Hirebase spent
seven weeks in Tanzania
during the year, assisting with
the construction of sanitary
facilities for a tocal school,
in partnership with Raleigh
International.

A Woodie's colleagues took part in the Heroes cycle in August 2017, covering
over 1,500km in five days as part of a campaign to raise funds for Irish

children’s charities.




Our values
[< pe brilliant for owr custemers

[ value our people

Products and Supply Chain
EXQENS

Grafton recognises the increasingly significant
role that eflective environmental management
has to play in its business and acknowledges
its corporate responsibilities {n this fleld.

62 per cent of the Group's branches are
accredited to the 1SO 1400t environmental
management standard. This accreditation

is seen as vital in helping to focus on
environmental risk management initiatives.

CPI Mortars has maintained the Construction
Products Certification (CPC) BES 6001
accreditation for product and supply chain
sustainability and ethics.

The Group recognises the increasing
importance of supplying renewable and
sustainable products. Product ranges designed
to provide sustainable building solutions have
been introduced in a number of businesses.

Ambitious
= Trustworthy
[ Entrepreneurial and empowering

These ranges include Solar Thermal and Solar
PV, air source heat pumps, ground source
heat pumps, biomass heating, rainwater
harvesting and heat recovery ventilation
systems. The Woodie's DIY business offers a
range of environmentally friendly products
including energy-saving lamps,solar garden
lights and composters for recycling garden and
househoeld waste. The merchanting branches
sell condensing boilers which reduce demand
for fossil fuels, energy-saving insulation
materials and controlled ventilation systems.

Transparent Timber Sourcing

Buildbase holds an internationally recognised
environmentai certificate for the PEFC
(Programme for the Endorsement of Forest
Certification) scheme. It is Buildbase policy
that its natural timber products are FSC/

PEFC accredited. The entire operation is
independently audited. Buildbase has adopted

Carbon Footprint and Energy Reductien

[l L

Greenhouse Gas Emissions
Group COZe Emissions

[Tonnes of CO2e)
2017 g
84,630

Overall CO2 emissions for the Group decreased
by 3.1 per cent in 2017,in part due to the cleaner
energy now being supplied in the UK energy
rmarket.

Ongoing renewal of the Group's fleet and
continued installation of LED lighting have
also contributed to the Group's lower carbon
footprint. In 2017 the Group invested in 177
new vehicles that comply with the latest and
most stringent Eura 6 low emission standard.

The isero business in the Netherlands has
invested in a number of electric vans to reduce

emissions.

the Timber Trades Federation 'Responsible
Purchasing Pelicy’. This demonstrates that the
business is committed to sourcing timber and
timber products from legal and well-managed
forests. The Irish and Belgian merchanting
businesses source timber from suppliers that
are FSC/PEFC certified.

Modern Slavery Act

The Group has issued a Modern Slavery

Policy Statement in respect of the year ended
31 December 2017, which is available on its
website v vveiaftonple com. This describes
Grafton’s policy on forced or involuntary
labour and describes the safeguards that the
Group has in place to mitigate against the risk
of modern slavery in its businesses or supply

chains.

Energy Efficiency

During 2017 we have continued to install LED
lighting across our branch networks. All new
Selco stores have installed LED lighting and
energy management systems that reduce the
gas used in heating. The UK merchanting
business continues to issue monthly energy
reperts to all branches to promote energy
saving at a local level.



Corporate Social Responsibility (continued)

Pollution and Waste
(<.

Grafton strives to reduce the quantity of
waste sent to landfAll by implementing
recycling measures across its businesses.
The Group’s Irish businesses are members
of Repak and the UK businesses are
members of Biffpack.

Recycling rates in 2017 remained static at
77.1 per cent. However it is hoped that the
rate will increase in future years following
the introduction of a new waste recycling
initiative in the UK merchanting business
during 2017.

The Belgian business participates in the
“Clean Site System"” which aims to increase
collection and recycling of plastic waste on
construction sites by allowing customers to
purchase empty waste bags in the branches
and return them ence futl to branches
where they are stored and collected by an

accredited firm for recycling.

During 2017, MacBlair introduced a waste
recycling initiative for cardboard, plastic
and timber resulting in the business being
shortlisted for the "Waste Reduction Project
of the Year’ in the 2017 Business Eye awards.

Colleagues

EXQEX|

The success of the Group is dependent

on the contribution and commitment of

its emplovees. The Group's decentralised
structure, which is appropriately supported at
Group level, gives colleagues the autonomy to
maximise their experience, expertise and skills
both for their own career development and for
the success of the Group. The Group recognises
that talent management and succession
planning are critical for future growth and as

a result an annual talent review is conducted

and people risks are strategically managed.

Grafton is committed to high standards of
employment practice across its businesses and
aims to reward colleagues fairly by reference
to skills, performance, peers and market
conditions. The Group provide incentives to
employees through remuneration policies
that promote commitment and reward

achievement.

The Group’s Equality and Diversity Policy
states that Grafton will not tolerate
harassment or discriminatory practices

based on age, ethnicity, marital status,
medical condition, disability (both mental
and physical}, nationality, religion, political
affiliation, gender, sexual orientation ar gender
identity, or any other factor as established

by law or best practice. 'the Group believes
that monitoring the pay between men and
wormnen is an important step to ensuring

all colleagues are fairly rewarded for their
wark and their contribution to the business.
Grafton's aim is to promote equality and to be
a welcoming, inclusive, diverse and safe place
to work for everyone. Gender Pay information
will be published on the websites of these UK
businesses that are within the scope of the UK
Gender Pay Gap reporting reguiations,

Grafton is comrmitted to offering equal
opportunities to all individuals in their
recruitment, training and career development
having regard to their particular aptitudes
and abilities. Training and development
programmes are important to the business,
with significant attention and resources
devoted to this area. Training programmes
are organised internally by Group businesses
and also in conjunction with external bodies,
including the Builders Merchant Federation
in the UK. These programmes cover sales
development, customer service, product
training, health and safety and leadership
skills. They help to ensure that the Group can
develop, retain and attract the best talent at
all levels in the business. The Group aims to
support career progression by giving people
opportunities through internal promotions
and to complement internal appointments
with recruitment from outside of the
organisation.

The Itish merchanting business uses its
Leadership Academy to develop and retain
strong talent. Successful participants are
conferred with a City & Guilds Diploma. The
business also operates the ‘'GMROI Sales
Academy’ which equips colleagues with the
essential tools required to develop their careers
as sales representatives.

The Group's commitment to career
developmient has been reinforced by the
introduction of the Apprenticeships Levy

in the UK whereby a proportion of payroll
costs of UK emiployer companies are used

to recruit entry-level apprentices and

fund the development of future talent.
Existing employees can also benefit from
apprenticeship training programmes that lead
to level 3 and 5 ILM qualifications.
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P Both Selco and the traditional
UK merchanting business
participated in the UK Best
Companies Survey which
resulted in ‘One to Watch’
accreditations, while Woodie's
was recognised as a ‘Great
Place to Work'.

GREAT Jares
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Ambitious
= Trustworthy
i Entrepreneurial and empowering

Woodie’s operate a range of learning and
development programmes including the
externally accredited Seeds to Success
Programime, Leadership Development Training
and a Retail Degree Programme. A training
program was also introduced to develop
Experts in key areas of customer support.

The Isero business in the Netherlands operates
an in-house business academy to train

apprentice customer service representatives.

Buildbase and Plumbase offer a wide range of
training courses through the ‘My Learning’
e-learning platform.

The Belgian business increased investment
in training, including management and
Icadership programs, and training in sales,
driver and crane safety and first aid.

A number of Group businesses tock partin
employee engagement surveys during the vear.
The results of all surveys across the Group
demonstrated ongoing improvements in both
participation rates and employee engagement
scores. Both Selco and the traditional UK
merchanting business participated in the UK
Best Companies Survey which resulted in ‘One
to Watch’ accreditations, while Woodie's was
recognised as a ‘Great Place to Work'.

The Group continued to roll out its cloud

based HR sclution which currently allows
almost 10,000 colleagues to access and

update their employee records frem a range

of devices. Colleagues in the UK have access

to “Reward Gateway"”, an online benefits and
communications web platform which provides
access [0 company communications and
information on discounts available from a
range of high street retailers.

The Group operates a Revenue-approved
Save as You Earn (SAYE) Scheme that enables
eligible UK colleagues to share in the success

of the overall Greup. A scheme launched in
2014 matured in Decembert 2017 that gives
participating employees the option to purchase
Grafton Units at a discount te the market price
of the shares at the time the options were
granted. A new SAYE scheme was launched

in 2017 which will mature in 2020. Colleagues
have the opportunity to benefit from any
increase in the share price over the three

year savings period. The Irish Merchanting
business also operates a Revenue-approved
profit sharing scheme.

Colleagues in the UK, have access to an
Employee Helpline, a confidential helpline
service available online or by telephone which
provides instant and unlimited 24/7 access to
them and their immediate family, to help and
support on a wide range of everyday issues
covering work, relationships, family matters,
financial,legal and heaith.

Celleagues also have access to “Speak-Up”, the
group-wide confidential reporting service
which provides an effective channel for
employees to raise concerns to an independent
third party regarding practices or conduct in
their businesses including possible instances
of fraud, theft, serious health and safety
issues and other risks. The Speak-Up line

will alse be utilised for whisteblowing under
the Group’s GDPR compliance programme.

All reports are logged by the third party and
passed to the Group Internal audit team for
investigation. The individual making the
report is kept appropriately informed of the
progress of the investigation and its outcome
through the reporting service. All concerns
raised through this channel and the outcomes
of investigations are reported to the Audit

and Risk Committee. While Group policy
encourages colleagues to raise any concerns
with their manager in the first instance, this
service provides an alternative reporting route
if required.



Corporate Social Respensibility (continued}

Health and Safety

ERQEXQEX{

The Group is committed to achieving the best
practicable standard of health and safety for
its colleagues, customers and visitors, Health
and safety is regarded as a vital element in the
overall management of the Group's businesses
and is an agenda item for all meetings of the
Grafton Group ple Board and at Business Unit
review meetings. Effective health and safety
management is driven by the Board and senior
management.

The Group's health, safety and environment
support teams were further strengthened

in 2017 with the recruitment of additional
advisors and the re-alignment of teams within
each business to increase local ownership and
leadership of safety. Senior management in
each business will directly manage their local
safety support teams to promote responsibility
for health and safety and to ensure that the
health and safety agenda is driven alongside
all other business priorities. During the year
the Group appointed Mike O'Hara as Group
Safety, Health, Environment and Quality
Director to strengthen its focus on behavioural
safety leadership to support and challenge the
Business Unit leaders and to provide overall
strategic direction and guidance to individual
Business Units. These changes to our safety
leadership and support teams further
demonstrate the Group's ongoing commitment
to the health, safety and environment agenda.

Health and Safety improvement plans are in
place in each of the businesses which allow
for the measurement of future performance
against agreed improvement objectives. The
Group Health and Safety Policy, which sets out
the key responsibilities for health and safety
management across the Group, was reviewed
and updated during the year. Every employee
is expected to fulfil their responsibilities

as effectively as possible and to raise any
cancerns about safety. The Group's health
and safety training programmes develop

knowledge, understanding, capability and
commitment among colleagues. Programmes
of practical and specialist training continued
with the objective of ensuring that colleagues
have the requisite skills and competence to
operate in areas that give rise to particular
health and safety considerations.

A new electronic incident reporting system
was introduced across most of the Group in
2017 utilising the ‘Safety Cloud’ system. This
system has been used to encourage more
open reporting of all incidents, Tt is intended
that safety Cloud will be further developed to
become the ‘one-step-shop’ for safety rather
than simply being an incident reporting teol.
Online training, safety bulletins, audits and
checklists will be added to the system as they
are developed during the year.

The Group’s Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate
(LTIFR} reduced by 6 per cent to 1.09 lost time
injuries per 100,000 hours worked.

Louking ahead to 2018, the ongoing embedding
of local safety teams alongside the operational
leadership teams will form a significant part of
the Group’s health and safety activity using a
revised methodology that is based on a Group
average of 39 hours per working week.

Group-wide initiatives will continue to focus
on three high risk areas: the management

of pedestrians and vehicles in branches, safe
product storage and handling practices and
safe delivery to customers, Behavioural safety
leadership is fundamental to the Group’s
successful transition from a ‘Must Do’ safety
culture 1o a ‘Choose To' safety culture and will
be a focus for all business leaders (n 2018 and
bevond.

P Anew electronic incident

reporting system was
introduced across much of
the Group in 2017 utilising
the ‘Safety Cloud’ system.
This system has been used
to encourage more open
reporting of all incidents.
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Case studies: Health and safety

MacBlair introduced a number of safety initiatives including mandatory eyesight testing for
all commercial vehicle drivers and alcohol and drugs testing after any incident and in certain
other circumstances.

Plumbase continued its drive to increase awareness of health and safety with its new
management handbook which contains practical advice and guidance for branch management.

Buildbase set up two drivers’ forums for delivery drivers from several branches, chaired by
the Regional Managing Directors.

Various strategies were introduced by Selco to reduce noise pollution from branches located in
residential areas.

CPI Mortars, the Group’s mortar manufacturing business, was the winner of the Mineral
Products Association [MPA) Occupational Health and Wellbeing Award during 2017 in
recognition of improvements achieved in the workplace by the fitting of hepa-filters to its
mobile skip-vac units. These filters virtually eliminate respirable crystalline silica (RCS)
emissions from the vac exhaust systems. This is an area of significant focus within the
industry as RCS is a known carcinogen.

CPI Mortars also held a Vulnerable Read User Awareness day in partnership with a primary
school to raise awareness of safety arcund heavy goods vehicles.
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Board of Directors and Secretary

Legend
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Michael J. Roney [USA), MBA

Non-Executive Chairman
Michael Roney was appointed to the
Board as Non-Executive Director,
Deputy Chairman and Chairman
Designate on 1 May 2016 and
assumed the role of Non-Executive
Chairman on 1 January 2017.

Career

Mr. Roney was Chief Executive
of Bunzl ple from 2005 until his
retitement in April 2016. Prior
to joining Bunzl he was Chief
Executive Officer of Goodyear
Dunlop Tires Europe, having
previously been President of
Goodyear’s Eastern European,
African and Middle Bastern
businesses. He was formerly Non-
Lxccutive Dircetor of JTohnson
Matthey Ple.

Current externat appointments
Non-Executive Chairman of Next
ple, the FTSE 100 listed UK retailer.
Non-Executive Ditector of Brown-
Forman Corporalion, the US based
spirits business and of Azelis SA, a
private company.

Board Length of Service: 1.9 years

N

)
Chartes Rinn, MBA, FCCA

Group Financial Controller &
Secretary

Gavin Stark (UK]

Chief Executive Officer

Gavin Slark jeined the Group

and the Board as Chief Executive
Designate on [ April 2011 and was
appeinted Chief Executive Officer on
1 July 2011,

Career

Mr. Slark was previously Group Chief
Executive of BSS Group plc, a leading
UK distributer of plumbing, heating,
pipeline and mechanical services
and products.

Current external appointments
Non-Executive Director of Galliford
Try ple,a UK housebuilding and
consiruction group.

Board Length of Service: 7.0 years

David Arnold {UK}, BSc,

FCMA, FCT

Chief Financial Officer

David Arnold juined the Group as
Group Chief Financial Officer on
September 2013.

Career

Mr. Arnold was Group Finance
Director of Enterprise ple, the UK
Maintenance and Supportt Services
business, from 2010 to 2013 and was
Finance Direcror of Redrow ple, the
house builder, from 2003 to 2010.
He previously held senior financial
positions with Six Continents plc,
the hotels group and Tarmac plc, the
building materials company,

Current external appointments
None.

Board Length of Service: 4.5 years

Finance Committee
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Frank van Zanten (NL}, MBA

Non-Executive Director
Frank van Zanten was appointed to
the Beard on 13 May 2013.

Career

Mr.van Zanten is Chief Executive
of Bunzl ple, the FTSE 100 UK
international distribution

and outsourcing Group with
operations across the Americas,
Europe and Ausrralasia. Prior to
his appointment as CEC he was
Managing Director of Bunzl's
Continental Europe business area.
He was previously Chief Executive
of PontMeyer N.V., the Dutch
Builders Merchants.

Current external appointments
Chief Executive of Bunzl ple.

Board Length of Service: 4.8 years

Remuneration Committee
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Paut Hampden Smith (UK), FCA

Non-Executive Director

Paul Hampden Smith was appointed
to the Board on 27 August 2015 and
was appointed Senior Independent
Director with effect fiom 9 May 2017.

Career

Mr. Hampden Smith was Group
Finance Director of Travis Perkins
plc from 1996 until his rerirement in
February 2013. He joined the Travis
Perkins Group in 1988 and has 25
years' senior level management
expetience in the UK merchanrting
industry. He was previously Non-
Executive Director and Chairman of
the Audit Committee of Pendragon
plc, Redrow plc, DX Services ple and
Clipper Logistics plc.

Current external appointments
Non-Executive Director, Chairman
of the Audit Committee and a
member of the Nomination and
Remuneration Committees of
Bellway plc.

Board Length of Service: 2.5 years

Nomination Committee

Susan Murray [UK]

Non-Executive Director
Susan Murray was appointed to the
Board on 14 October 2016,

Career

Mrs. Murray is a former Chief
Executive of Littlewoods Stores
Limited and former worldwide
President and Chief Executive of
The Pierre Smirnoff Company, part
of Diageo plc. She is also a former
Chairman of Farrow & Ball and a
former Non-Executive Director of
Compass Group ple, Pernod Ricard
S.A., Imperial Tobacco plc, Enterprise
Inns plc, Aberdeen Asset Management
ple, SSL International ple and Wm
Maorrison Supermarkets ple.

Current external appointments
Non-Executive Director of 2 Sisters
Food Group, a food manufacturing
company,and of Hays plc,a

provider of recruitment and human
FESOUICES SCTVICES.

Board Length of Service: 1.4 years

Somper bon
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Vincent Crowley [IRL], BA, FCA

Non-Executive Director
Vincent Crowley was appointed to
the Board on 14 Qctober 2016.

Career

In the course of a 24 year career
with Independent News & Media
PLC,a leading Irish newspaper and
media business, Mr. Crowley held

a number of leadership positions
including Chief Executive Officer
and Chief Operating Officer and
was a member of the Board. Priorto
joining Independent News 8 Media
PLC, he held senior roles in KPMG
and Arthur Andersen.

Current external appointments
Non-Executive Director of C&C Group
plc,an international manufacturer
and distributor of branded drinks

and Executive Chairman of

Altas Investments ple, an Irish
company that holds investments in
infrastructure and related businesses.

Board Length of Service: 1.4 years

Audit and Risk Committee

S. Murray (Chairman) L1 years M. Roney {Chairman) 1.8 years P.Hampden Smith {Chairman) 2.5 years
;;_an-z:;;en 2.2 years F.van Zanten 2.7 years V.Crowley ﬁ—wl.i years
P.Hampden Smith- 22 years P.Hampden Smith 2.6years 5. Murray 0.2 years
S.Murray 1.0 years »
_1(; years

V.Crowley

*All lengths ot service are as at 12 March 2018



Directors’ Report on Corporate Governance

Compliance with the 2016 UK Corporate Governance Code

Grafton Group ple ("the Company”} is incerporated in Ireland and

is subject to Irish company law. Its Units (shares) are listed on the
London Stock Exchange and the Group is subject to the UK Corporate
Governance Code (“the Code”) which sets sut the standards for corporate

LEADERSHIP

governance to be applied by companies with a listing on the Londen

Stock Exchange. This report describes how the Company has applied the

main and supporting principles of the Code during the year.

The Beard believes that the Company has, throughout the accounting

period, complied with all relevant provisions of the Code.

The Board of Directors

Role of the Board

The Board is responsible for the oversight and success of the Group’s
business. The Board’s responsibilities include ensuring that appropriate
management, development and succession plans ate in place; reviewing
the environmental and health and safety performance of the Group;
approving the appointment of Directors and the Company Secretary;
approving policies relating to Directors’ remuneration and severance and
ensuring that satisfactory dialogue takes place with shareholders.

It is Board policy that no individual or small group of individuals can
dominate its decision-making.

The Board has delegated some of its responsibilities to the Audit and Risk,
Rermuneration, Nomination: and Finance Comrnittees,

Matters Reserved for Board Decision

The Board has a formal schedule of matters specifically reserved for its

decision, covering:
« Strategic decisions;

= Risk management and internal controls;

» Acquisitions and capital expenditure above agreed threshelds;

= Approval of interim and final dividends and share purchases;

» Changes to the capital structure;

« Tax and treasury management;

Approval of half-yearly and annual financial statements; and

= Budgets and matters currently or prospectively affecting the Group

and its performance.

Supported by

Audit and Risk Committee Nomination Committee

Monitors the appropriateness and
integrity of the Group's financial
reporting, external audit, internal
audit and risk management
processes.

= See page 73

for mere information

Evaluates the composition of

the Board to ensure an effective
balance of skills and experience
and considers succession
planning for directors and senior
executives.

| see page 77
for more information

Remunetation Committee
Determines the pelicy for
remuneration of the Chairman,
the Executive Directors, the
Company Secretary and such
ather executive management as
it is designated to consider.

] see page 79
for more information

Finance Committee |

Considers the financing
requirements of the Group,
amendments to the terms of
existing bank facilities, finance
and operating leases for assets
other than property up to a
specified level and litigation
matters.

= see page 68
for more information



Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are split. There is

a clear division of responsibility between the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer. The responsibilities of each role were documented in
a schedule approved by the Board during the year. The Chief Executive
Officer is responsible for day-to-day management of the Group including
implementing the strategy agreed with the Board and reporting on

the perfermance of the Group, He is accountable to the Board as Chief
Executive Officer for all authority delegated to executive management.
The Chairman is responsible for leading the Board and ensuring its
effectiveness in all aspects of its role.

Board meetings

The Board met on nine occasions during 2017, The Board also maintains
contact between meetings as required. These contacts are for the
purpose of receiving updates on developments from management. The
Board takes the major decisions while allowing management sufficient
scope to run the business within a centralised reporting framework. The
Group has arranged insurance cover up to a specified limit in respect of
legal actions against directors and officers.

Non-Executive Directors

Non-Executive Directors act constructively to challenge management
proposals and review the performance of the business and management.
During the vear, the Chairman and Non-Executives met without the
Executives present.

Senior Independent Director
M. Paul Hampden Smith was appointed Senior Independent Director
with effect from 9 May 2017, He succeeded Mr. Roderick Ryan who

Executive and Non-Executive
Director Balance

Board Tenure

@ Executive Directors

@ More than 5 years
® 3 5years
@ 1-3years

@ Nuon-Executive Directors
@ Chairman

retired from the Board on that date. Mr. Hampden Smith is available to
act as a sounding board for the Chairman, and as an intermediary for
the other Directors, if necessary. He is also available to shareholders
who may have concerns that cannot be addressed through the normal
channels of Chairman, Chief Executive Officer or Chief Financial Officer.

Company Secretary

The Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary, Mr. Charles Rinn, who advises the Board on governance
matters. The Company’s Articles of Association and Schedule of Matters
reserved for the Board provide that the appointment or removal of the
Company Secretary is a matter for the full Board.

Attendance at Board and Board Committee Meetings during the Year Ended 31 December 2017

The number of Board Meetings and Committee Meetings held during the year and attended by each Director was as follows:

Sorveegt e

St

T AL A N IO et

g T Zorom led o [ R

M. Roney 9 9 - - - - - - 3 3
G.Slark 7 9% o 9 - T 2 2 - - - k -
D.Armold s 8 : : 2 2 - - o
P.Hampden Smith 9 - _9 7 7 4 4 - o 5 5 7 3 3
;V;l-z—anten g 8 - 4 z - 5 3 3 3

S. Murray @ ~9— - - - - 5 . 5 1 1
V.Crowley 9 : - 3- 3 - . - - 1 1

C.M. rFisher 3 3 - 2 1 - o 3 ; 7 B ; P
R.RYE;I:l - ) ? 7 2 - - - - - - 2 7 2




Directors’ Report on Corporate Governance (continued)

The Board is assisted by Committees of Board members that focus on
specific aspects of its responsibilities. The Terms of Reference of the
Audit and Risk Commiittee, Remuneration Comimittee and Nomination
Commiittee, which were approved by the Board and comply with the
Code, are available from the Company and can also be found on the
Group’s website at wynwgiaftonplc com. Membership and length of
service of Beard Committees is shown on pages 64 to 65. Ms. Susan
Lannigan, Deputy Company Secretary is Secretary to the Audit and Risk
Committes. Mr. Charles Rinn and Ms, Paula Harvey, Group HR Director,
jointly act as Secretary to the Rernuneration Committee. Mr. Charles
Rinn is Secretary to the Nomination Committee.

What the Board Did This Year

The Finance Cornmittee is chaired by Mr. Gavin Slark, Chief Executive
Officer and also comprises Mr. David Arnold, Chief Financial Officer
and Mr. Charles Rinn, Group Financial Controller and Secretary. The
Committee considers the financing requirements of the Group,
considers amendments to the terms of existing bank facilities,approval
of finance and operating leases for assets other than propertyuptoa
specified level and litigation matters,

The Board is briefed on key discussions and decisions by each
Committee Chairman at the Board meeting following the relevant
committee meeting and minutes of cemmittee meetings are circulated
to the Board.

The activities of the Board are structured so as

to enable the delivery of the Group’s strategic
priorities within a transparent governance
framework. The key activities of the Board during

2017 are set out below:

January March

+ Reviewed trading and « Reviewed trading and
financial performance financial performance

= Reviewed Health & safety « Reviewed Health & Safety
performance performance

= Considered findings of Board Approved the 2016 Tinal

evaluation Results Announcement

» Received an update from the

Approved the 2016 Annual
Report, Notice of AGM and
noted interim dividend

Remuneration Committee
Chairman on response

from investors to proposed proposal

changes to remuneration « Approved the guarantee of

policy the liabilities of certain group
» Approved the appointment subsidiaries

of Mr. Vincent Crowley to the » Approved policy statement

Audit and Risk Committee on the UK Modern Slavery Act
+ Approved the appointment
of Mrs. Susan Murray to the

Remuneration Committee

May June

+ Reviewed trading and * Reviewed trading and

financial performance financial performance

+ Reviewed Health & Safety + Reviewed Health & Safety
performance performance
» Received a presentation = Updated key Corperate

on market dynamics and Governance documents

competitive landscape in the relating to the division

of duties between the
Chairman and CEQ, the Role
of the Senior Independent

nirector, the Schedule of

UK merchanting market
» Approved Trading Update

Participated in the Annual

General Meeting
Matlers reserved for the
Board, the operation of the
Board and its Committees,
and the approvals process
for acquisitions and capital
expenditure



EFFECTIVENESS

Board Composition

It is the Company’s policy that the Board comprises a majority of Non-
Executive Directors. At 31 December 2017,the Board of Directors was
made up of seven members comprising the Nen-Executive Chairman,
two Executive Directors and four independent Non-Executive Directors.
The Board considers that its proposed size and structure is appropriate
to the scale, complexity and geographic spread of its operations.

The number of Non-Executive Directors is considered sufficfent to
enable the Board and its Committees to operate eflectively without
excessive reliance on any individual Non-Executive Director. The Board
believes that Executive and Non-Executive Directors between them have
the necessary skills, knowledge and international business experience,
zained from a diverse range of industries and backgrounds, required to
rmanage the Group. The skiils, expertise and experience of the Board is
used to review strategy,allocate capital, monitor financial performance
and consider executive management's response to market developments
and operational matters.

The terms and conditions of appointment of Non-Executive Directors,
which include the time commitment expected from cach Director,arc

available for inspection by any person at the Company’s registered office
during normal business hours and prior to the AGM.

June August

+ Censidered and approved + Reviewed trading and

Directors’ Independence and Board Balance

The teur Non-Executive Directors, Mr. Paul Hampden Smith, Mr. Frank
van Zanten, Mr. Vincent Crowley and Mrs. Susan Murray are considered
by the Board to be independent in character and free from any business
ot other relationship which could materially interfere with the exercise
of independent judgement. The Board has determined that each of the
Non-Executive Directors fulfilled this requirement and is independent.
In reaching that conclusion, the Board considered the principles
relating to independence contained in the Code.

The Company’s Articles of Association provide that one third of the
Directers retire by rotation each year and that each Director seek re-
election at the Annual General Meeting every three years. However, in
accordance with the provisions of the Code, the Board has decided that
all birectors should retire at the 2018 Annual General Meeting and offer
themselves for re-election.

The Board undertakes a formal annual evaluation of the performance
of its Directors and is satisfied that all Directors who are proposed for
re-election continue to discharge their obligations as Directors and
contribute effectively to the work of the Beard and its Committees.

October December

a proposal to launch a new
grant of the Save As You

Earn scheme for eligible UK
employees

Meeting to consider
strategic development of
Business Units organically
and through acquisition,
growth eppertunities in new
geographic markets, trends
in the merchanting market,
on-line trading and changes
in the competitive landscape
Considered proposed
appointments to a number
of senior management
positions inn the Group

financial performance
Reviewed Health & Safety
performance

Update from the
Remuneration Committee
Chairman on the
Committee's work
programime

Received a repott from the
Audit and Risk Cornmittee
Chair in refation to the
findings of both the
External Auditor’s and the
Committees review of the
Interim Results for 2017
Approved the Interim Results
for 2017 and noted the
interim dividend proposal

Reviewed trading and
financial performance
Reviewed Health & Safety
performance

attended offsite Board and
Committee meetings in
Amsterdam which provided
an epportunity to visit
branches and meet with the
local executive team
Reviewed and approved an
update to the Group’s Share
Dealing Code

Received an update on
acquisition oppertunities
Approved a proposal to
acquire Scholte & De Vries -
Estoppey BV, an Amsterdam-
based itonmongery, tools and
fixings business

Reviewed trading and
financial performance
Reviewed Health & Safety
performance

Received a report on talent
and succession planning
Received presentations from
a number of Business Unit
managernent teams that
included a review of 2017 and
plans for 2018

Considered and approved the
Group Budget for 2018
provided feedback to the
Group’s Internal Audit and
Business Risk Director in
relation te the key Group
risks



Directors’ Report on Corporate Governance (continued)

Further details on the Board evatuation are set out below.

The overall comnposition and balance of the Board is kept under review
as outlined in the programme of work undertaken by the Nomination
Committee in its report on pages 77 to 78. The Beard will continue to
manage the orderly succession of Non-Executive Directors who were
appointed between 2013 and 2017.

Induction and Training

It is the pelicy of the Board that formal induction is offered to all
Directors appointed to the Board. This includes on-site visits and
meetings with Senior Management in the Group’s businesses and
briefings from the Chairman, Executive Directors and the Company
Secretary. Induction covers matters such as the operations of the
Group, the role of the Board and matters reserved for its decision, powers
delegated to Board Committees, corporate governance policies and the
performance of the Group. Directors are advised on appointment of their
legal and other duties and of their obligations as Directors of a listed
company. The training and development needs of the Directors were
reviewed and agreed at meetings held during the year.

Information and Support

Directors have full and timely access to all relevant information ina
form appropriate to enable them to discharge their duties. Reports and
papers are circulated to Directors in sufficient time to enable them

to prepare for Board and Committee meetings. All Directors receive
monthly management accounts and board reports covering the Group’s
performance, development proposals and other matters to enable them
to review and oversee the performance of the Group on an ongoing
basis. The Board devotes one of its meetings to strategy and one to

the following year's budget. The strategy meeting covers the macro-
economic, political and social systems in existing and prospective
countries of operation for the Group. It alse covers distinctive segments
of the merchanting market, competitive landscape and possible
acquisition apportunities.

All Directors have access to independent professional advice at the
Group’s expense where they consider that advice is necessary to enable
them to discharge their responsibilities as Directors.

The Board periodically visits branches and meets with senior
management annually in order to help Directors gain a deeper
understanding of the Group's operations, markets, performance and
development. These centacts also provide an opportunity to get to know
local management and to listen to their views.

Evaluation of Board

A formal review of the performance of the Board, Board Comumittees
and individual Directors is undertaken each year including an external
evaluation every three years. The process is designed to ensure that the
effectiveness of the Board is maintained and improved where possible.

An internal evaluation was conducted by the Chairman during the
year ended 31 December 2017. An externally facilitated evaluation was
conducted during 2015 by the Institute of Directors in Iteland, with
whom the Group has no other connection. The Chairman, Group CEO
and Company Secretary met te discuss the findings of the 2016 Board
evaluation and agreed a number of actions that were notified to the
Board and implemented.

The internal evaluation conducted in 2017 involved each Directer and
the Company Secretary independently completing a questionnaire
that covered the running of an effective board, relationships with
management,oversight of strategy and development, monitoring
financial and operating performance and shareholder value creation.
Mr. Niall Quinn, Assistant Company Secretary, collated the responses
to the questionnaire and prepared a report on the findings of the
evaluation for the Chairman who reported the results to the Board.
The overall results of the evaluation were very positive with a high and
improved level of satisfaction among Directors concerning the matters
covered by the evaluation.

The Non-Executive Directors met without the Chairman present
to appraise his performance. The evaluation of individual directors
involved a meeting between each of them and che Chairman.

The Board conflrms that each of the Non-Executive and Executive
Directors continues to perform effectively and demonstrate a strong
commitment to the role.

Succession Planning

The Board’s genera!l policy is to keep the overall composition and
balance of the Board under review and to manage the orderly succession
of Non-Executive Directors without compromising the effectiveness and
continuity of the Board and its Committees.

The Board plans for succession with the assistance of the Nomination
Committee, The Board believes that it is necessary to have appropriate
Executive Director and Non-Executive Director representation to
provide Board balance and alsc to provide the Board with the breadth
of experience required by the increasing scale, geographic spread and
complexity of the Group’s operations.

The Nomination Committee takes account of the skills, knowledge and
experience,including internatienal business experience, required by
the Board. It also considered Board diversity, including nationality and
gender in considering suitable candidates to serve as Non-Executive
Directors as part of the ongoing process of Beard renewal. The
Committee also considers the need for an appropriately sized Board.

The Board considers sentor management succession planning on a
regular basis with a view to developing, over the coming years, a strong
succession pipeline for key positions up to and including Executive
Director level.



ACCOUNTABILITY

The Board is committed to providing a fair, balanced and understandable
assessment of the Company’s position and prospects.

Responsibility for reviewing the Group's internal controls, risk
management and risk evaluation procedures has been delegated by the
Board to the Audit and Risk Committee. Details of how these duties were
discharged is set out in the Audit and Risk Committee Report on pages
73to76.

An assessment of the viability of the Group over a three year period
to Decemnber 2020 was carried out by the Board and details of this
assessment are set out below.

Going Concern

The Directors, having made appropriate enquiries, believe that the
Company and the Group as a whole has adequate resources to continue
in operational existence for the foreseeable future, being 12 months from
the date of approval of the financial statements and, for this reason, they
continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial

statements.

Viability Statement

The Directors have assessed the viability of the Group over a three-year
period to December 2020, taking account of the Group's current positicn
and prospects, the Group's strategy and principal risks and how they are
managed as documented en pages 50 to 53. Based on this assessment,
the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the company will be
able to continue in aperation and meet its liabilities as they fall due over
the period to December 2020.

In making this statement the Ditectors have considered the resilience
of the Group, taking account of its current position, the principal

risks facing the business in severe and reasonable scenarios, and the
effectiveness of mitigating actions that could be taken to avoid or reduce
the impact or occurrence of the underlying risks that would realistically
be open to them in the circumstances. This assessment has considered
the potential impacts= of these risks on the business medel, future
performance, selvency and liquidity over the peried. The Directors have
also considered the Group's very effective response following the 2008
global financial crisis.

The Directors have determined that the three-year period to December
2020 is an appropriate period over which to provide its viability
statement. The Group prepares five year plans as part of its annual
budgeting process however, given the inherent uncertainties, the outer
two years are more difficult to forecast. These two years are used mainly
for scenario planning with the Board placing greater reliance on the
initial three year period. ITn making their assessment, the Directors have
taken account of the Group's low net debt to equity position of five per
cent, its strong financial position and headroom on lcan facilities in
place over the period, its key potential mitigating actions of reducing

the Group's cost base, capital expenditure, dividend payments and the
Group’s ability to generate positive cash inflows in a scenario of falling
revenue as working capital invested in the business is unwound. These
mitigating actions were tested during the downturn in the Group’s
businesses from 2008 to 2012 which highlighted the resilience of its
business model to a severe and protracted economic downtumn.

REMUNERATION

The Board has adopted remuneration pelicies that are considered
sufficient to attract, retain and motivate Directors of the quality
required to manage the company successfully whilst ensuring that the
performance related elements of pay are both stretching and rigorously
applied. The Board has established a Remuneration Committee
comprising three independent Non-Executive Directors. Details of the
committee’s key responsibilities and a description of its work during
2017 are contained in the Report of the Remuneration Committee on
Directors’ Remuneration on pages 79 to 95.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company recognises the importance of communication with
shareholders. Meetings are held with existing and prospective
institutional shareholders principally after the release of half-yearly and
annual results. The Group alsc issued trading updates in January, May,
July and Novernber of 2017.

Presentations to analysts were held in London on 7 March 2017 and 31
August 2017 following the announcement of the Final Results tor 2016
and the Interim results for 2017 respectively. The presentation by the
Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer was broadcast
live on v graftonple.conn webeasl and can be viewed or downloaded

atvowow gratronple,com.

Significant or noteworthy acquisitions are announced to the market,
The Company’s website swwww.graltonple com provides the full text of

all announcements including the half-yearly and annual results and
investor presentations. As noted above, the Group also issues regular
trading updates on the performance of the overall group and individual
business segments.

while the Chairman takes overall responsibility for ensuring that the
views of our shareholders are communicated to the Board as a whole,
contact with major shareholders is maintained through the Chief
Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer. The Chairman is
available to meet with shareholders if they have concerns which have
not been resolved through the normal channels of Chief Executive
Officer or Chief Financial Officer or where such contacts are not
appropriate. The Board receives feedback from investors following
meetings with management following the announcement of the Final
Results and the Interim Results and also receives analysts’ reports on



Directors’ Report on Corporate Governance (continued)

the Group. The Chairman is offered an opportunity to attend meetings
with major shareholders. The Chairman attends the presentation of the
interim and annual results.

All shareholders are invited to attend the Annual General Meeting.
This provides an opportunity for shareholders to put questions to

the Chairman, the Chairman of each of the Board Committees and
Executive Directors and to meet informally with Directors before

and after the meeting. The Company Sccretary communicates with
shareholders on corporate governance matters, particularly in the lead
up to the AGM.

Disclosure Committee

The Disclosure Committee is a management Committee comprising
Mr. Gavin Slark, Group CEO and Mr, David Arnold, Group CFO. The
Committee holds meetings formally and informally as required to
ensure the accuracy and timeliness of compliance with the EU Marlket
Abuse Regulation.

General Meetings

Grafton Group ple is incorporated, managed and controlled in treland
and the Company’s Annual General Meeting (AGM) is held in Dublin.
The Notice of the AGM, which specifies the time, date, place and the
business to be transacted, is sent to shareholders at least 20 working
days before the meeting. The AGM is normally attended by all Directors.
Resolutions are voted on by either a show of hands of those shareholders
attending in person or by proxy, or, if validly requested, by way of a poll.
In a poll, the votes of shareholders present and voting at the meeting are
added to the proxy votes received in advance and the total number of
votes for, against and withheld for each resolution are announced. This
information is made available on the Company's website following the

meeting.

All other general meetings are called Extraordinary General Meetings
(EGMs). An EGM called for the passing of a special resolution must
be called by at least 21 clear days’ notice. Provided shareholders have
passed a special resolution at the Immediately preceding AGM and
the Company allows shareholders to vote by electronic means, an
EGM to consider an ordinary resolution may, if the Directors deermn it
appropriate, be called at 14 clear days’ notice. Tn view of the Group's
international shareholder base, it is the Board's policy to give 21 days’
notice of EGMs unless the Directers believe that a period of 14 days

is merited by the business of the meeting and the circumstances

surrounding the business of the meeting.

A quovurm for a general meeting of the Company is constituted by four or
more shareholders present in person and entitled to vote. The passing of
resolutions at a meeting of the Company, other than special resolutions,
requires a simple majority. A special resolution requires a majority of at

least 75 per cent of the votes cast to be passed.

Shareholders have the right to attend, speak, ask questions and vote
at general meetings. Tn accordance with Irish company law, the

Company specifies the record date for the general meeting, by which
date shareholders must be registered in the Register of Members of
the Company to be entitled to attend. Record dates are specified in the
notice of general meeting. Shareholders may exercise their right to
vote by appointing a proxy/proxies, by electronic means or in writing,
to vote some or all of their shares. The requirements for the receipt of
valid proxy forms are set oug in the Notice convening the meeting. A
shareholder, ot a group of shareholders, holding at least five per cent
of the issued share capital of the Company, has the right to requisition
a general meeting. A shareholder, or a group of shareholders, holding
at least three per cent of the issued share capital of the Company, has
the right to put an item on the agenda of an AGM or to table a draft
resolution for inclusion on the agenda of a general meeting, subject to
any contrary provision in Irish company law,

Memorandum and Articles of Association

The Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association set out the
objects and purposes of the Company. The Articles detail the rights
attaching to each share class, the method by which rhe Company’s
shares can be purchased or re-issued, the provisions which apply to the
helding of and voting at general meetings and the rules relating to the
Directors, including their appointment, retirement, re-election, duties
and powers.

The Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association may be
amended by a Special Resolution passed by the shareholders at an AGM
or EGM of the Company.

A copy of the Memorandum and Articles can be obtained

from the Group’s website, wi w.grationple om.



Audit and Risk Committee Report

Dear Shareholder,

As Chairman of Grafton’s Audit and Risk
Committee, [ am pleased to present the report of
the Committee for the year ended 31 December

2017.

This report describes how the Committee has fulfilled its
responsibilities during the year under its Termns of Reference and under
the relevant requirements of the UK Corporate Governance Code (the
“Code").

The Committee is satisfied that its role and authority inciude those
matters envisaged by the Code that should fall within its remit and that
the Board has delegated authority to the Committee to address those
tasks for which it has responsibility.

Membership

The Comrmittee currently comprises three Non-Executive Directors:
+ Mr.Paul Hampden Smith,Chairman,

+ Mr.Vincent Crowley and

« Mrs. Susan Murray

Mr. Charles Fisher was a member of the Committee until his
resignation from the Grafton Board on 9 May 2017. Mr. Frank van
Zanten stepped down frem the Committee on 15 Decemnber 2017 and
Mrs. Susan Murray was appointed to the Comnmittee on the same date.

All members of the Committee are determined by the Board to be
independent Non-Executive Directors in accordance with provision
B1.1 of the Code. In accordance with the requirements of provision C.3.1
of the Code, I am designated as the Committee member with recent
and relevant financial experience. The biographical details on page 65
demonstrate that all members of the Commirtee have a wide range of
financial, taxatien, commercial and business experience relevant to the

sector in which the Group operates.

Key Duties

Monitoring the integrity of the Group’s financial
statements and announcements relating to the Group’s
performance;

Adyvising the Board on whether the Annual Report
and accounts, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced

and understandable, and whether it provides the
information necessary for shareholders to assess the
Group’'s performance, business model and strategy;

Monitoring the effectiveness of the external audit
process and making recommendations to the Board
in relation to the appointment, reappointment and
remuneration of the External Auditor;

Overseeing the relationship between the Group and the
External Auditor including the terms of engagement
and scope of audit;

Reviewing the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
controls;

Reviewing the scope, resourcing, findings and
effectiveness of the Internal Audit function;

Overseeing the effectiveness of the risk management
procedures in place and the steps taken to mitigate the
Group’s risks; and

Reporting to the Board on how the Committee has
discharged its responsibhilities.

The full terms ef reference of the Committee can be

found on the Group’s website wyw grartonple.com.



Audit and Risk Committee Report (continued)

Meetings
The Committee met four times during the year and attendance by each
Committee member {s set out in the table on page 67.

Meetings are attended by the members of the Committee and others
being principally the Chief Executive Qfficer, the Chief Financial Officer,
the Group Financial Controller and Company Secretary and the Group
Internal Audit and Business Risk Director,who attend by invitation.
Other members of executive management may be invited to attend to

Key Areas of Activity During 2017

provide insight or expertise in relation to specific matters. The PwC
Group Engagement Leader and other representatives of the External
Auditor are also invited to attend certain Audit and Risk Committee
meetings. The Committee alse met privately with the External Auditor
and the Group Internal Audit and Business Risk Director without
executive management present. Ms. Susan Lannigan, Deputy Company
Secretary, is Secretary to the Committee.

The Chairman of the Committee reports to the Beard on a regular basis
on the work of the Audit and Risk Committee and on its findings and

recommendations.

A summary of the key activities of the Committee during the year is set cut below:

Financial Reporting

The Committee reviewed the draft financial statements and draft half-yearly results before recommending

their approval to the Board. As part of this review, the Committee considered significant accounting

policies, estimates and significant judgements. The Committee reviewed the Half Year and Final Results

announcements. The Committee also reviewed the Report of PwC following their audit and the significant

management letter points on internal centrols in the Group's individual businesses prepared by PwC as

part of the audit process. The significant issues in relarion to the financial statements considered by the

Committee and how these were addressed are set out on page 76.

Risk Management and
Internal Controt

The Board has delegated responsibility to the Committee for monitering the effectiveness of the Group’s
system of risk management and internal control, which is set out in further detail in the Risk Management

Report on pages 48 0 53. The Committee reviewed the Gioup's 1isk twanagement process and the procedures

estahlished for identifying, evaluating and managing key risks, which included a review of performance

against the objectives set in the prior year.

Internal Audit

The Committee considered reports and updates from the internal audit function which summarised the

findings, recommendations and management Tesponses to audits conducted during the year. These reports

covered the work undertaken, findings, actions recomunended and the response of executive management of

cthe Group’s businesses to recommended actions. The Committee considered and approved the programme

of work to be undertaken by the Group's internal audit function in 2018.

The Group Internal Audit and Business Risk Director reports to the Chief Financial Ofhcer and also has
direct access to the Audit and Risk Committee. The Comrnittee met with the Group Internal Audit and

Business Risk Director on four occasions during the year where he presented internal audit report findings

and recommendations and updated the Committee on the actions taken to implement recommendations.

The scope, authority and responsibility of the Internal Audit function are set out in the Internal Audit

Charter which has been approved by the Committee.

IT Systems

As part of its review of principal risks, the Committee considered the adequacy of the governance structures,

and IT policies and procedures to support a programme of investment in systems and infrastructure

planned over a number of years that will result in the upgrading and conselidation of systems that support

a number of businesses including the rollout of the AX trading platform in Buildbase and noted that a full

strategic busingss case and a risk analysis was conducted for each project. The Committee continued to

monitor implementation of the AX Trading Platferm and the quality of the processes in place in relation to
its development and planned roll out across the branch network.



External Auditor

Non-Audit Services

Whistieblowing and Fraud

Anti-Bribery and Corruption

The Comimittee reviewed the External Auditor's overall audit plan for the 2017 audit of the Group and
approved the remuneration and terms of engagement of the External Auditor. The Committee also
considered the quality and effectiveness of the external audit process and the independence and objectivity
of the Auditor.

In erder to ensure the independence of the External Auditer, the Committee received confirmation from

the Auditors that they are independent of the Group under the requirements of the Irish Auditing and
Accounting Supervisory Authority’s Ethical Standards for Auditors (Ireland). The Auditors also confirmed
that they were not aware of any relationships between the firm and the Group or between the firm and
persons in financial reporting oversight roles in the Group that may affect its independence. The Committee
considered and was satisfied that the relationships between the Auditor and the Group including those
relating to the provision of non-audit services did not impair the Auditor’s judgement or independence.

The External Auditor is not prohibited from undertaking non-audit services that do not conflict with auditor
independence provided the provision of the services dees not Impair the auditors objectivity or conflict
with their role as auditor and subject to having the required skills and competence te provide the services.
The Auditor is precluded from providing non-audit services that could compromise its independence or
judgement.

In January 2016 the Committee approved a pelicy on non-audit services. Under this policy the External
Auditor will not be engaged for any non-audit services without the approval of the Audit & Risk Committee.
The External Auditor is precluded from providing certain services under Regulation (EU) No 537/2014, or fium
providing any non-audit services that have the potential te compromise its independence or judgement.
with the exception of fees incurred in acquired businesses, fees for non-audit services in any financial year
are targeted not to represent more than 20 per cent of the audit fee.

The Committee monitors and reviews the nature of non-audit services provided by the Auditors. An
analysis of non-audit services provided by Pwc for 2017 is disclosed in Note 3 on page 129. The Committee
has undertaken a review of non-audit services provided during 2017 and is satisfied that these services,
which were very limited in nature, were efficiently provided by the External Auditor with the benefit of their
knowledge of the business and did not prejudice their independence and objectivity.

A Group Anti-Fraud and Theft Policy was approved during 2016 setting out the Group’s approach to all forms
of fraud and theft, the responsibilities of Business Unit management in relation to prevenrion and detection
procedures and controls, the appropriate reporting channels and the possible actions which may be taken by
the Group in response to suspected fraud or theft. Instances of fraud or theft over a specified threshold are
reported to and menitered by the Committee.

The Committee considers reports received periodically on matters raised through “Spealc Up”, a Group

wide confidential reporting service run independently of the Group which allows colleagues to report,
anonymously if they wish, any concerns they may have regarding certain practices or conduct in their
businesses including possible instances of fraud and theft. All concerns raised through this channel and the
cutcomes of investigations are reported to the Committee.

The Group’s Code of Business Conduct and Ethics sets out the ethical standards to which all Group
employees are expected to adhere. The Group Anti-Bribery and Cortuption Policy was reviewed during 2017.
It sets out the core standards and procedures to be observed and provides practical guidance on dealing with
bribery risk. An annual declaration of independence is signed by senior management and other individuais
who are considered to be exposed to higher rigk of conflicts of interest, including employees who have
responsibility for contract negotiations with customers and suppliers.



Audit and Risk Committee Report [continued)

Estimates and judgements

The Committee reviewed in detail the following areas of significant judgement, complexity and estimation in connection with the Financial

Statements for 2017, The Committee considered a report from the external auditors on the audit work undertaken and conclusions reached as set out

in their audit report on pages 103 to 11¢. The Committee alse had an in-depth discussion on these matters with the external auditors.

Goodwill

Recognition of Supplier
Rebates

Valuation of Inventory

The Committee considered the goodwill impairment analysis provided by management and agreed with the
conclusion reached that no impairment charge should be recognised in the year. In arriving at its decision,

the Committee considered the impairment review conducted by management which involved comparing the
recoverable amount and carrying amount of the CGUs. The review by management involved discounting the
forecasted cash flows of each CGU based on the Group's pre-tax weighted average cost of capital adjusted to
reflect issues associated with each CGU and carrying out sensitivity analysis on the key assumptions used in the
calculations including the revenue growth rate, the gross margin, the discount rate and the long term growth
rate. The Committee also considered reports on the mediurm term macro-economic environment, analysts’
forecasts for the Group, the budget for 2018 and internal forecasts for the years 2019 to 2022 inclusive,

The Committee noted the significant overall level of headroom in the value in use model prepared by
management and considered the impact on the headroom of sensitivity analysis on the key assumptions used in
the model. Of the CGUs which are not significant, the value-in-use of the Belgian merchanting CGU is the most
sensitive to changes in key assumptions. The Committee alse compared the year-end market capitalisation of
the Group to its net asset position and noted that it was materially higher than the net asset value.

Supplier rebates represent a significant source of income in the merchanting industry and is an area of risk
due to the number, complexity and materiality of rebate arrangements. The Commitree reviewed the basis
used by management for calculating rebate income for the year and rebates receivable at the year end and was
satisfied that the accounting treatment adopted was appropriate and that rebates receivable at the year-end
were recoverable. In reaching its cenclusion, the Committee reviewed information and reports prepared by the
internal audit funcuon which completed year-end reviews across a sample of significant Business Units with
the primary objective of providing independent assurance on the accuracy of rebate receivable balances at year-
end. These reviews included re-performing calculations on a sample of rebate income for 2017 with reference
to agreements with individual suppliers and reports of purchases made from suppliers. The Committee also
considered the value of rebates received after the year end relating to 2017.

The Group carries significant levels of inventory and key judgements are made by management in estimaring the
level of provisioning required for slow moving inventory. In arriving at its conclusion that the level of inventory
provisioning was appropriate, the Committee received half year and full year updates from management on stock
ageing and provisioning at Business Unit level. The Committee reviewed the basis for calculating the valuation
of rebate attributable to inventory and was satisfied that inventory was appropriately valued and that a prudent
approach for inventory provisioning was adopted.

As Chairman of the Committee, I engaged with the Group CFO, the

Group Internal Audit and Business Risk Director and the PwC Group

Engagement Leader in preparation for Committee meetings. T also

attend the Annual General Meeting and am available to respond te any

questions that shareholders may have concerning the activities of the

Committee.

Paul Hampden Smith

Chairman of the Audit and Risk Committee

12 March 2018



Nomination Committee Report

Dear Shareholder,

I am pleased to present my first report as Chairman
of the Nomination Committee having taken on the
role after my predecessor Roderick Ryan stepped ~

down from the Board at the end of the 2017 AGM. \ 4
‘s’?

The Committee’s primary responsibility is to ensure that the Board is Key Duties of Committee

comprised cf individuals with the skills, knowledge, independence and

expertise to enable it to discharge its responstbilities to shareholders. Evaluating the balance of skills, knowledge, experience
and diversity of the Board and Committees and making

Membership recommendations to the Board with regard to any

The Committee currently cormprises myself as Chairman and all four changes;

Non-Executive Directors:

+ Mr. Paul Hampden Smith, Considering succession planning for Directors and

+ Mr, Frank van Zanten, other senior executives taking into account what skills

» Mrs. Susan Murray and and expertise are needed for the future;

« Mr. Vincent Crowley.
Regularly reviewing the structure, size and composition

The biographical details of each Committee member and their length including the skills, knowledge and experience

of service on the Committee are set out on pages 64 to 65. All members required of the Board and its Committees;

of the Committee are determined by the Board to be {ndependent

Non-Executive Directors in accerdance with provision BL1 of the UK Identifying, and nominating for the approval of the
Corporate Governance Code. Board, candidates for appointment as Directors

and ensuring that there is a formal, rigorous and
transparent procedure for the appointment of new
Directors to the Board; and

Considering the re-appointment of any Non-Executive
Director at the conclusion of their specified term of
office and making recommendations to the Board.

The full terms of reference of the Committee can be

found on the Group’s website ww v giattonpleoom.



Nomination Committee Report [continued)

Activities of the Committee During 2017

The Nomination Committee met formally on three occasions during the
year. The principal activities undertaken by the Committee during the
year are set out below:

Changes to Board

In March 2016, the Group announced the planned retirement of Mr.
Michael Chadwick as Non-Executive Director and Chairman and the
appointment of myself as Chairman Designate. I was very pleased to
succeed Mr. Chadwick as Chairman with effect from 1 January 2017,

Mi. Roderick Ryan retired from the Board at the conclusion of the 2017
AGM having completed eleven years as Non-Executive Director. Mr.
Charles Fisher also retired from the Board at the conclusion of the 2017
AGM having completed eight years as Non-Executive Director.

Mr. Paul Hampden Smith succeeded Mr. Ryan as Senior Independent
Director, Mrs. Susan Murray succeeded Mr. Fisher as Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee and I succeeded Mr. Ryan as Chairman of the
Nomination Committee. These changes took effect on 9 May 2017.

Mrs. Susan Murray and Mr. Vincent Crowley were appointed Non-
Executive Directors in October 2016 in the context of the Board’s

succession planning and in anticipation of planned retirements.

Committee Changes

The Committee reviewed the composition ot Board Comnmittees
during the year and recommended the appointment of Mr. vincent
Crowley to the Audit and Risk Committee and Mrs. Susan Murray to the
Remuneration Committee, These appointments were approved by the
Board with effect from 1% January 2017,

On the recommendation of the Committee, Mrs, Susan Murray and Mr.
Vincent Crowley were appointed to the Nomination Committee with
effect from 2 March 2017.

Mr. Frank van Zanten indicated that he wished to step down from

the Audit and Risk Committee and, on the recommendation of the
Committee, the Board approved the appointment of Mrs. Susan Murray
to the Committee. This change took effect on 15 December 2017.

Details of the current membership of Board Committees are shown
within each Committee report and on pages 64 to 65.

Nomination Process

There is a formal, rigorous and transparent procedure determining the
nomination for appointment of new Directors to the Board. Candidates
are identified and selected on merit against objective criteria and with
due regard to the benefits of diversity on the Board. The Committee
engages specialist recruitment consultants to assist in the identification
and selection process. The Committee makes recommendations to

the Board concerning appointments of Executive or Non-Executive
Directors, having considered the blend of skills, experience,

independence and diversity deemed appropriate and reflecting the
international nature of the Company.

The Nomination Committee also makes recommendations to the Board
concerning the reappointment of any Non-Executive Director at the
conclusion of their specified term and the re-election of all Directors
whao are the subject of annual rotation. Appointments to the Board

are for a three year period, subject to shareholder approval and annual
re-election, after consideration of annual performance evaluation. The
terms and conditions of appointment of Non-Executive Directors are set
out in formal letters of appointment,

Diversity and Inclusivity

The Group wants to recruit, retain and develop diverse and talented
colleagues and to generate an inclusive working environment where a
range of views are considered. The Board is very supportive of initiatives
that promote diversity and inclusivity across the Group's businesses.

The Group's policy is to promote equality and diversity across all

areas of its business. while the Board will always seek to appeint the
best candidates available and to appoint candidates on merit against
objective criteria, the Committee and the Board recognise the benefits
of greater diversity on the Board and diversity is actively considered
when considering Board appointments. Differences in background,
skills, experiences, nationality and other attributes including gender, are
considered in determining the eptimum composition of the Board. All
Board appointments are made on mietit, with due regaid Lo diversity.

The Year Ahead

The Committee believes that all Directors have the right blend of skills
and experience to advance the interests of shareholders and to build
on the Group's track record of profitable growth. In the year ahead, we
will continue to keep succession planning under review to ensure that
the Group can retain,attract and develop the best people available to
implement its strategy and grow profitability.

Michael Roney
Chairman of the Nomination Committee
12 March 2018



Report of the Remuneration Committee

on Directors’ Remuneration

Chairman’s Annual Statement

Dear Shareholder,

I am pleased to present my first report as Chairman
of the Remuneration Committee having taken over
the role from Mr. Charles Fisher who stepped down
from the Board at the conclusion of the 2017 AGM.

although not required under the Irish Companies Act 2014, the
Coemimittee has continued to prepare the Remuneration Report in
accordance with the UK regulations governing the disclosure and
approval of remuneration of the Directers. This remuneration report
has been split into three parts - (i) the Chairman's Annual Statement, (ii}
the Remuneration Policy Report which sets out the Group’s policy for
remunerating Directors,and (iii} the Annual Report on Remuneration
which sets out how Directors were remunerated in 2017 and how it is
proposed te apply the policy in 2018. This report also contains additional
information on directers share interests.

Approach to Remuneration

The Committee’s approach to remuneration is to ensure that Executive

Directors are incentivised to successfully implement the Board's

strategy and that remuneration is aligned with the interests of

sharehoclders over the longer term. The Committee seeks to achieve this
by:

= Rewarding Executive Directors fairly and competitively for the
delivery of strong performance;

+ Taking into account the need to attract, retain and maotivate
executives of high calibre and to ensure that Executive Directors
are provided with an appropriate mix of short term and long term
incentives;

+ Taking a range of facrors into account including market practice, the
changing nature of the business and markets in which it operates,
the performance of the Group, the experience, responsibility and
performance of the individuals concerned and remuneration
practices elsewhere in the Group; and

+ Setting bonus targets that are stretching and Long Term Incentive
Plan {LTIP) metrics that are challenging with full vesting of awards
requiring exceptional performance.

These principles underpinned the Remuneration Policy put to
shareholders at the Annual General Meeting {("AGM”) of the

Company held on 9 May 2017. I was very encouraged by the level of
shareholder support for our remuneration related reselutions with 96.9
per cent of votes cast in favour of the new Remuneration Policy and 99.5
per cent of votes cast in favour of the Annual Report on Remuneration.

The Policy becarmne effective from the close ef the 2017 AGM and the
following pages describe how the policy has been applied in 2017 and
how it will apply in 2018.

Performance Qutcome for 2017
The key features of a good performance by the Group for 2017 are

summarised as follows:

Revenue up 9% to a record £2.7 billion - 7% increase in
constant currency;

Adjusted* Group operating profit growth of 15% to
£163.7 million [2016é: £142.0 million);

Adjusted* Group profit before taxation up 15% to £157.2
million from £136.2 million;

Adjusted basic earnings per share up 15% to 54.9p;
ROCE increased by 110bps to 13.6%;

Record cash generation from operations of £210.7
million {2016: £168.6 million] and year-end gearing of
just 5% [2016: 9%};

Investment of £119.1 million on acquisitions and capital
expenditure to support future growth; and

13% increase in dividend in line with progressive
dividend policy.

" Before amortisation of intangible assets arising on acqulsitions and exceptional {tems

of £19.7mm in 2016,

Remuneration for 2017

The Committee agreed to award an increase in basic salary of two per
cent to the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer for 2017.
This reflects a salary cap which limits increases to current Directors to
that of the general workforce.



Report of the Remuneration Committee on Directors’ Remuneration (continued)

The annua!l bonus for 2017 was based on twe financial perfermance
targets being earnings per share and return on capital employed.
Reflecting the very strong financial performance set out above, a bonus
of 120 per cent of basic salary, out of a potential bonus opportunity of
120 per cent of basic salary, was made te the Chief Executive Officer. The
bonus award made to the Chief Financial Officer was 100 per cent of
basic salary out of a potential bonus opportunity of 100 per cent of basic
salary.

The performance conditions for LTIP awards granted in April 2015, that
covered the performance period of three years ending on 31 December
2017, were based on growth in Adjusted Earnings Per Share (EPS)

and Total Shareholder Return {TSR). Half of the award to the Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer was based on the relative
TSR performance versus a cormparator group. As the Group’s TSR was
below the median relative to a bespoke group of 18 UK and Irish quoted
companies that operate in the construction industry, this half of the
award will not vest. The other half of the award was based on the
Group's adjusted EPS for the financial year ended 31 December 2017 being
in the range of 52,0 pence to 60.0 pence. As the Adjusted Earnings Per
Share of 54.9 pence for 2017 was within the target range 51.72 per cent of
this half of the award will vest.

The Rentuneration Comimittee is satisfied that the short and long-term
elements of remuneration reflect the performance of the Group both in
217 and over the three years to the end of 2017,

Remuneration Policy for 2018

Fellowing a comprehensive review of remuneratien and consultation
with major shareholders and institutional investor bodies, a

new Remuneration Policy was put to a vote at the 2017 AGM and,

as previously noted, was passed with very strong support from
shareholders. The changes included a salary cap that limited increases
to Ditector’s salaries over the [ife of the policy (i.e. for 2017,2018 and
2019; to the average increase for the general workforce an increase

in the LT1P award level alongside a toughening of the LTIP targets

and the introduction of a two-year post-vesting holding period, a
strengthening of our recovery (clawback} provisions, and an increase in

our shareholding guidelines from 100 per cent to 200 per cent of salary.

The way in which we will be implementing our policy for 2018 witl
remain largely unchanged from the application of the policy in 2017

The Committee approved a salary increase of 1.75 per cent for 2018 which
is lower than the rate of increase for the general workforce.

The annual bonus opportunity remains at 120 per cent of salary foi the
CEQO and 100 per cent of salary for the CFO. The 2018 bonus will be based
on two critical measures of financial performance for the Group being
operating profit (70 per cent) and ROCE (30 per cent). These measures
are intended to focus the executive team on both profitability and the
maintenance of a disciplined approach to the use of capital.

LTIP awards will continue to be made at 200 per cent of salary te the CEQ
and at 175 per cent of salary to the CFO. Half of the award will be based
on a TSR performance condition and half based on an adjusted EPS
performance condition. This is in line with awards made in 2017 and
prior years.

The TSR performance condition will be measured, in line with the new
policy, against a comparator group consisting of the constituents of

the London Stock Exchange’s FTSE 250 Index excluding investment
trusts, This index was chosen on the basis that it is representative of the
Group's overall trading and financial environment and is considered te
be an appropriate measure of outperformance. If the Group's TSR equals
the median TSR of the peer group, 25 per cent of this part of the award
will continue to vest, with full vesting for upper quintile performance or
better, Awards will vest on a straight line basis for performance between
the median and upper quintile. Notwithstanding the achievermnent

of the TSR performance conditions, no shares will vest unless the
Comumittee considers that the overall financial results of the Group have
been satisfactory in the circumstances over the performance period.

The propesed EPS vange for the 2018 LTIP award is 69p to 80p for the year
ended 31 December 2020 which compares to adjusted EPS of 54,9p for
2017. The lower end of the target range (threshold) is above consensus
Brokers Forecasts for 2020 which were available when the range was
approved on 9 March 2018 and reflects changes made te forecasts
following the publication of the Final Results for 2017 on 1 March 2018.
The uppel end of the range is appropriately stretching and will only be
achieved if performance is exceptional. 25 per cent of the award will vest
if the lower target in the range is achieved. where EPS is between the
lower and higher targets in the range, then between 25 per cent and 100
per cent of this part of the award will vest on a straight line basis.

The Remuneration Policy is set out on pages 81 to 86.

Shareholder Engagement

The Committee is committed to ongoing dialogue with shareholders
and institutional investor bodies on remuneration matters and
welcemes feedback as it helps to inform its decisions. The Committee
actively engaged with major shareholders and institutional investor
bodies in 2017 concerning the new Rermuneration Policy and altered its
original proposals in some areas to take account of the helpful feedback
received during the consultation process.

I hope that we can rely on your continued support at this year’s AGM. 1
arn available to respond to any questions that shareholders have about
rhe Remunerarion Policy, the Annual Report on Remuneration or indeed
on any other aspect of the work of the Committee and can be contacted
by email at remunerationchair@graftonplc.com.

Susan Murray
Chairman of the Remuneration Comrmittee



Remuneration Policy Report

This part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report sets
out the Remuneration Policy for the Company and

has been prepared in accordance with Schedule 8 to

the Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups
(Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 (as amended)
and the disclosure requirements set out in the Listing
Rules of the Financial Conduct Authority. The policy has
been developed taking into account the principles of the
UK Corporate Governance Code and describes the policy
to be applied from 1 January 2017 onwards. This Policy
Report was approved by sharcholders at the 2017 AGM.

Policy Overview How the Views of Sharehclders are taken into Account

The objective of the Remuneration Policy is to provide remuneration The Remuneration Committee considers the guidelines issued by bodies

packages for each Executive Director that will: representing Institutional shareholders and feedback from shareholders

« Attract, retain and motivate executives of high calibre; on the Group’s remuneration policies and practices. Leading

» Ensure that executive management is provided with appropriate shareholders and investor bodies were consulted prior to agreeing the
incentives to encourage enhanced long-term performance; new Remuneration Policy. The Committee also takes on beard any

» Ensure that the overall package for each director is linked to the short sharehelder feedback received prior to and during the AGM each year.
and lenger term strategic objectives of the Group; and This feedback, together with any feedback received during meetings and

* Have a significant proportion of the potential remuneration package contacts with shareholders from time to time, is then considered as part
paid in equity, which is designed to ensure that executives have a of the annual review of the Remuneration Pelicy and its effectiveness.

strong alignment with shareholders.
When any significant changes are proposed to the Remuneration

When setting the levels of short-term and long-term variable Policy, the Remuneration Committee Chairman will inform major
remuneration and the balance of equity and cash within the package, shareholders of these in advance and will offer a meeting to discuss
consideration is given to discouraging unnecessary risk-taking whilst these changes. The Remuneration Committee will actively engage with
ensuring that performance hurdles are suitably challenging. shareholders and give serious consideration to their views.

In determining the policy, the Remuneration Cemmittee took into Details of votes cast for and against the resolution to approve the prior
acceunt all factors which it considered necessary, including market year’s remuneration report and any matters discussed with shareholders
practice, the changing nature of the business and markets in which it during the year are referred to in the Annual Report on Remuneration
operates, the performance of the Group, the experience, responsibility on page 93 and in the Chairman's Annual Statement on page 79.

and performance of the individuals concerned and remuneration

practices elsewhere in the Group. How the Views of Employees are taken into Account
When setting the Remuncration Pelicy for Executive Directors the
Remuneration Committee takes into account the pay and employment
conditions of other employees in the Group although it does not directly

consult with employees on Directors’ remuneration.



Report of the Remuneration Committee on Directors” Remuneration [continued)
Remuneration Policy Report lcontinued)

The Remuneration Policy for Directors
The table below summarises the key aspects of the Group’s Remuneration Policy for Executive Directors.

Etement, purpose and
lLink to strategy

Operation

Maximum opportunity/limit

Performance targets/comments

Base Salar;

Te recruit, retain
and reward
executives of a
suitable calibre for
the roles and duties
required

Salaries of Executive Directors are
reviewed annually in January and
any changes made are effective from 1
January,

When conducting this review and
the level of increase, the Committee
considers a range of factors including:

» The performance of the Group and
the individual;

= Market conditions;

» The prevailing market rates for
similar positions in UK and Irish
companies of broadly comparable
size and a number of industry
specific peers;

* The responsibilities and experience
of each Executive Director; and

» The level of salary increases
implemented across the Group.

There is a cap for current
Directors that limits
salary increases for 2017,
2018 and 2018 to that of
the general workforce.

The Comrittee may
decide for any particular
year, based on the
performance of the
Group and personal
performance, to apply

a lower rate of increase
in salary to Directors
than the rate of increase
applied to the general
workforce.

Not applicable

Benefits

To provide market
competitive
henefits to ensure
the well-being of

Benefits may include company car,
mobile telephone, life assurance,
private medical cover and permanent
health insurance.

The value of other benefits
is based on the cost to the
company and is not pre-
determined.

Not applicable

Directors
Relocation or other related expenses Relocation expenses
may be offered, as required. must be reasonable and
necessary.
Pension

To provide market
competitive
benefits

A company contribution to a money
purchase pension scheme or provision
of a cash allowance in lieu of pension.

A company pension
contribution or payment
in lieu of pension made
through the payrell of up
10 25% of basic salary.

ot applicable




Element, purpose and
link to strategy

Cperation

Maximum opportunity/Limit

Performance targets/comments

Annual Bonus

To encourage and
reward delivery of
the Group's annual
financial and
strategic objectives

Bonus payments are determined by the
Committee after the year end, based

on performance against the targets set.
Performance measures and targets are
reviewed annually.

The bonus is payable in cash.An
Executive Director is required to
apply 30% of their annual bonus after
statutory deductions for the purchase
of shares in the Group until their
shareholding is equivalent to at least
200 per cent of basic salary.

Clawback may be applied, at the
discretion of the Committee, in the
event of gross misconduct, material
misconduct, material misstaterment
of results, a calculation error and/
or the use of incorrect or inaccurate
information when calculating the
bonus award.

The maximum award
under the annual bonus
plan is 120% of basic
salary for the CEO and
100% of salary for the

CFO and any Executive
Directors appeinted in the
future {other than = CEQ).

Long-Term Incentives (‘LTIP’)

To encourage
and reward
delivery of the
Group’'s strategic
objectives; to
provide alignment
with shareholders
through the use of
shares and to assist
with retention

The bonus will be primarily based on the achievement of
appropriate financial measures but may also include an
element for non-Anancial measures including personal
performance and strategic meastires.

Financial measures which will account for rhe vast
majority of the bonus opportunity in any year may
include measures such as earnings per share, profie,
return on capital employed, free cash flow and such

other measures as determined from time to time by the
Comrmittee, The metrics chosen and their weightings will
be set out in the Annual Report on Remuneration,

For hinancial measures, a sliding scale is set by the
Committee. No bonus is payable if performance is below
a minimum threshold, up to 20% is payable for achieving
threshold and the bonus payable increases on a straight
line or similar basis thereafter with full bonus payable for
achieving the upper point on the scale.

The 2011 LTIP is an incentive plan
that is designed to reward Executive
Directors and senier executives in a
manner that aligns their interests with
those of shareholders. An Executive
Director nominated to participate
in the plan is granted an award over
“free shares” which vest subject to
the achievement of performance
conditions measured over three
financial years and the Executive
Director remaining employed in the
Group.

There is a clawback provision under
which the Remuneration Committee
has the discretion to reguire the
reduction of the vesting of awards or
require the repayment of vested awards
{(within two years of the vesting of
awards) in circumstances where the
vesting arose as a result of intormation
which has subsegquently proved to be
inaccurate or misleading in a material
Tespect.

There is a holding period of two
years on shares received by Executive
Directors from LTIP awards that vest
after taking into account any shares
sold to pay tax and other statutory
obligations.

The maximum value of
awards which may be
granted in any financial
year is 200% of salary.

The Company's policy is
to make awards of up to
200% of basic salary in
the case of the CEC and
175% of basic salary in the
case of the CFO and any
Executive Directors {other
than a CEO} appeinted in
the future.

LTIP awards vest subject to the achievement of
challenging financial and total shareholder return
performance targets measured over a three year
performance peried.

The vesting of LTIP awards made to Executive Directors
is currently subject to EPS (earnings per share) and TSR
{total shareholder return} performance conditions.

The Remuneration Committee has the authority to set
appropriate metrics (not limited to EPS and TSR] for
each award taking account of the medium te long term
strategic objectives of the Group.

The EPS (as defined in the scheme rules) condition if
chosen will be subject to achieving EPS within a target
range. 25% of this part of the award will vest if the lower
target in the range is achieved. Where the EPS is between
the lower and higher targets in the range, then between
25% and 100% of this part of the award will normally vest
on a straight line basis.

I TSR is chosen as a metric, the Group's TSR must equal
the median TSR of the peer group with 25% of this part of
the award vesting on achieving threshold perfermance
and full vesting for upper quintile performance or better.
Awards will vest on a straight line basis for performance
between the median and upper quintile.

Notwithstanding the achievement of a TSR performance
condition, no shares will vest unless the Committee
considers that overall financial results have been
satisfactory in the circumstances over the performance

period.
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Element, purpose and
uink to strategy

Operatien

Maximum oppertunity/limit

Performance targets/comments

All-Employee Share Plans

To encourage share
ownership and
align the interests
of emptoyees with
shareholders

Executive Directors are entitled to
participate in employee share schemes
in operation during the period of the
policy on the same basis as other
colleagues. The Group currently
operates the 2011 Approved SAYE Plan
for UK colleagues.

The limits are set by the
UK tax authorities from
time to time. Currently
this limit is £500 per
month for the SAYE
scheme.

Not applicable

Share Ownership Guidelines

To increase the
alignment of
interests between
Executive Directors
and shareholders

An Executive Director is required to
apply 30% of their annual benus after
statutory deductions for the purchase
of shares in the Group until his/her
shareholding is equivalent to at least
200 per cent of basic salary.

Half of any LTIP awards that vest, after
taking into account any shares sold to
pay tax and other statutory obligations,
must be held until the share ownership
guideline has been met.

vested awards subject to the two
year holding period will be deemed
to be part of an executive directors’
shareholding

Minimum 200% cf basic
salary 1o be held in
Grafton shares, built up
over time.

Not applicable

Chairman and Non-Executive birector Fees

To attract and
retain a high-
calibre Chairman
and Non-Executive
Directors by
offering a market
competitive fee
level

The Chairman'’s fee is set based
on a recommendation from the
Remuneration Committee,

On the recommendation of the
Chairman, the Board sets the level of
vemuneration of all Non-Executive
Directors within an aggregate limit
approved from time to time by
shareholders.

additional fees may be payable for
chairing the main Board Committees.

The level of fees paid seeks to recognise
the time comimitment, respunsibility
and skills required to contribute to the
effectiveness of the Board.

Non-Executive Directors may

be reimbursed for travel and
accommodation expenses (and any
personal tax that may be due on those
expenses).

Details of the outcome

of the most recent fee
review are provided in the
Annual Remuneration
Report.

Not applicable




Annual Bonus and LTIP Discretions

The Committee will operate the annual bonus and LTIP according to

their respective rules and in accordance with the Listing Rules and

applicable tax rules. The Committee, consistent with market practice,
retains discretion over a number of areas relating to the operation and
administration of these plans. These include (but are not limited to)
the following (albeit with the level of award restricted as set out in the
policy table above):

* Who participates in the plan;

 The timing of grant of awards;

« The size of awards;

» The choice of performance measures and performance target
conditions in respect of each annual award (including the setting of
EPS targets and the selection of a TSR comparator group?;

+ Discretien relating to the measurement of performance in the event
of a change of control or reconstruction;

= Determination of a good leaver status (in addition to other specified
categories) for incentive plan purposes based on the rules of the plan;

« Adjustments required in certain circumstances (e.g.in the event of a
de-merger, special dividend or an alteration to the capital structure
of the Company including a capitalisation of reserves or rights issue);
and

»

The ability to adjust existing performance conditions for excepticnal
events so that they can still fulfil their original purpose.

Legacy Arrangements

For the avoidance of doubt, it is noted that the Group will honour any
commitments entered into with current or former Directors that have
been previously disclosed to shareholders.

Differences in Remuneration Policy for Executive Directors
Compared to Other Employees

The Committee is made aware of pay structures across the wider Group
when setting the Remuneration Policy for Executive Directors. The
Comrmittee considers the general basic salary increase for the broader
employee population when determining the annual salary review for
the Executive Directors.

Overall,the Remuneration Policy for the Execurive Directors is more
heavily weighted towards variable pay than for other employees. This
ensures that there is a clear link between value created for shareholders
and remuneration received by Executive Directors and recognises

that Executive Directors should have the greatest accountability and
responsibility for increasing shareholder value.

Approach to Recruitment and Promotions

The remuneration package for a new Director will be set in accordance
with and subject to the limifs set out in the Group's approved policy as
set out earlier in this report, subject to such modifications as are set out

below.

Salary levels for Executive Directors will be set in accordance with the
Group’s Remuneration Pelicy, taking into account the experience and

calibre of the individual and his/her existing remuneration package.
where it is appropriate to offer a lower salary initially, a series of
increases to the desired salary positioning may be made over subsequent
years subject to individual performance and development in the role,
Benefits will generally be provided in line with the approved policy,with
relocation, travel or other expenses provided if necessary. A pension
contribution of up to 25 per cent of salary may be provided.

The structure of the variable pay element will be in accordance with
and subject to the limits set out in the Group's approved policy detailed
above. Different performance measures may be set initially for the
annual bonus in the year an Executive Director joins the Group taking
into account the responsibilities of the individual and the point in the
financial year that he or she joins the Beard. Subject to the rules of the
scheme, an LT1P award may be awarded after joining the Group.

if it is necessary to buy-out incentive pay or benefit arrangements
(which would be forfeited on leaving the previous employer) in the
case of an external appeintment, this would be provided for taking
into account the form {cash or shares), timing and expected value
(i.e.likelihood of meeting any existing performance criteria) of the
remuneration being forfeited. The general policy is that payment
should be no more than the Committes considers is required to provide
reasonable compensation for remuneration being forfeited, Share
awards may be used to the extent permitted under the Group's existing
share plans and provisions under the Listing Rules where necessary.

In the case of an intemnal hire, any outstanding variable pay awarded in
relation to the previous role will be allowed to pay out according to its
terms of grant or adjusted as considered desirable to reflect the new role.

Fees for a new Chairman or Non-Executive Director will be set in line
with the approved policy.

Service Contracts & Payments for Loss of Office

The Remuneration Committee determines the contractual terms for
new Executive Directors, subject to appropriate professicnal advice to
ensure that these reflect best practice.

The Group’s policy is that the period of notice for Executive Directors

will not exceed 12 months. The employment contracts of the current

CEO and the CFO may be terminated on six months’ notice by either

side. In the event of a director’s departure, the Group's policy on

termination is as follows:

« The Group will pay any amounts it is required to make in accordance
with ot in settlement of a director's statutory emnployment rights;

» The Group will seek to ensure that no more is paid than is warranted
in each individual case;

« There is no entitlement to bonus paid following notice of termination
unless expressly provided for in an Executive Director’s employment
contract but the Group reserves the right to pay a bonus for the notice
period subject to performance cenditions; and
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« Following service of notice to terminate employment, the Company
may place the executive on garden leave. During this time, the
executive will continue to receive salary and benefits (or a sum
equivalent to} until the terminatien of employment.

A Director’s service contract may be terminated without notice and
without any further payment or compensation, except for sums accrued
up to the date of termination, on the occurrence of certain events such
as gross misconduct.

1f the Group terminates employment in lieu of notice in other

circumstances, compensation payable is as provided for in employment

contracts which is as follows:

+ Gavin Slark - basic salary due for any unexpired notice periad;

» David Arnold - basic salary together with benefits and bonus which
would have been payable during the notice period or any unexpired
balance thereof. Any bonus payable is subject to performance
conditions. Payments may be made in monthly instalments.

The Group may pay salary, benefits and pension in [ieu of notice fora
new director.

The treatment of unvested awards previously granted under the LTTP
upon termination will be determined in accordance with the plan
rules. As a general rule, LTIP awards will lapse upon a participant giving
ar receiving notice of his/her cessation of employment. However for
certain good leaver reasons including death, ill health, injury, disability,
redundancy, agreed retirement, their employing company or business
being sold out of the Group, or any other reason at the Committee’s
discretion after taking into account the circumstances prevailing at
the time, awards will vest on the normal vesting date subject to the
satisfaction of performance conditions and pro-rating the award

to reflect the reduced period of time between the commencement

of the performance period and the Executive Director’s cessation

of employment as a proportion of the total performance period.
Alternatively, the Committee can decide that the award will vest on

the date of cessation, subject to the extent to which the performance
conditions have been satisfied by reference to the date of cessation and
pro-rated by reference to the date of cessation of employment.

Non-Executive Directors

All Non-Executive Directors have letters of appointment with the
Company for an initial period of three years, unless otherwise
terminated earlier by and at the discretion of either party upon one
month’s written notice or otherwise in accordance with the Group's
Articles of Association and subject to annual re-appeointment at the
AGM.

The appointment letters for Non-Executive Directors provide that no
compensation is payable on termination other than accrued fees and
expenses.

Remuneration Scenarios for Executive Directors

The Group’s normal policy results in a significant portion of
remuneration received by Executive Directors being dependent on
performance, The chart below shows how the total pay opportunities for
2018 for Executive Directors vary under three performance scenarios -
Minimurm, In line with Expectation and Maximum.

Chief Executive Officer [£'000) Chief Financial Officer (£'000)

2,680

1736
1,638

1,082

M-nmum  Inling with Maximum Mimimum Inbnewith Maxireum
expectation expectation
® Long-Term Share Awards @ Annual Bonus @ Fixed

Chart labels show proposiiion of tre fotal psckage comprised of each elemenlt.

Assumptions:

Minimum = fixed pay only (2018 salary, benefits and pension)

In line with Expectation {which is not target} = 50% vesting of the
annual benus and LTIP awards

Maximum = 100% vesting of the annual bonus and ITTP awards.

No account has been taken of any share price increase in respect of LTIP
awards.



Annual Report on Remuneration

Although not required under Irish
Companies legislation, this report
includes the disclosures required by
Uk legislation contained in Part 3 of
Schedule 8 to The Large and Medium-
sized Companies and Groups
(Accounts and Reports) (Amendment)
Regulations 2013, and the disclosures
required by 9.8.6R of the Listing
Rules.

Membership of the Remuneration Committee

The Committee currently comprises Mrs. Susan Murray, Chairman, Mr.
Frank van Zanten and Mr. Paul Hampden Smith, all of whem are Non-
Fxecutive Directors determined by the Board te be independent. Mrs.
Susan Murray was appointed to the Committee on 19 January 2017 and
assumed the role of Chairman at che conclusion of the 2017 AGM which
was held on 9 May 2017. Mr. Charles M. Fisher stepped down from the
Board and as Chairman of the Committee at the conclusion cf the 2017
AGM.

The Committee members have no personal financial interest, other

than as sharehelders, in matters to be decided, no potential conflicts of
interests arising from cross directorships and no day-to-day involvernent
in running the business. The Neon-Executive Directors are not eligible for
pensions and do not participate in the Group’s boenus or share schemes.
The Committee’s Terms of Reference can be found on the company
website.

Mr. Michael Roney, the Chairman, attended meetings of the Committee
during 2017 by invitation and participated in discussions, The Committee
also consulted with the CEO as appropriate and periodically invited him
to attend certain parts of meetings of the Committee. The Chairman of
the Committee was assisted in her work by Mr. Charles Rinn, Company
Secretary and Ms. Paula Harvey, Group HR Director. No Directors or

the Company Secretary take part in discussions relating to their own
remuneration and benefits. New Bridge Street is the Committee’s
advisor on remuneration matters and fees paid to them during the

vear were £38,332. The Greup has no other connection with New Bridge
Street {“NBS™, other than that another subsidiary of Aon ple, its parent
company, provides pension advice. During the year NBS provided a
market practice update to the Committee on remuneration trends and
governance and also provided advice on the fulfilliment of the TSR vesting
conditien for the LTIP and general advice to the Committee Chairman on

remuneration matters.

Activity During The Year

3 March 2017

+ Determined bonus awards under the 2016 bonus scheme for
Executive Directors and the Company Secretary;

+ Determined extent to which the vesting conditions were met
for the LTIP awards granted in 2014;

+ Agreed the quantum of the 2017 LTIP awards to be granted
to the Executive Directors and Company Secretary subject
to shareholder approval of the new Remuneration Policy in
respect of the increased limits;

» Determined and approved the basis for calculating the EPS
target range for the 2017 LTIP award;

+ Considered and approved the Report of the Remuneration
Committee on Director’s Remuneration; and

« Determined the EPS Target for the 2017 Bonus Award.

12 April 2017
« Approved the vesting of LTIP awards granted in 2014.

8 May 2017
+ Determined arrangements for the vesting of the 2014 LTIP
award.

23 October 2017

+ Considered the AGM vote on remuneration resolutions and the
feedback from shareholder advisory groups;

+ Reviewed Directors’ remuneration and considered a market
practice update from New Bridge Street;

« cConsidered the framework and conditions for financial targets
for the 2018 bonus scheme;

» Agreed the basis for setting the Adjusted EPS range for the 2018
LTIP Award;

» Considered the disclosure requirements of the shareholder
Rights Directive; and

+ Reviewed and updated the Committee’s Terms of Reference.

14 December 2017

« Agreed the rate of increase in basic salaries for 2018;

= Approved the framework for measuring financial targets for the
2018 bonus scheme;

* Reviewed compliance with minimum share ownership
guidelines;

+ Provisional discussion on forecast bonus awards for 2017 and on
vesting of LTIP awards granted in 2015; and

» Initial consideration of 2018 LTIP participants, award levels,
performance measures and targets.
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Single Total Remuneration Figure of Directors’ Remuneration
The following table sets out the total remuneration for Directors for the year ending 31 December 2017 and the prior year.

Long Term
Salary/Fees (a) Bonus (bl Pension l¢) Other Benefits [d) lncentive Plan lel Total
2047 2017 PN 2017 s 2017 PIE 2017 Jile 2017 2iin
€000 £000 {0 £°000 fono £000 TN £000 £ 00 £000 [
Executive Directors
G.Slark 580 569 696 411 128 128 73 53 213 531 1,690 1,692
D.Arnold 397 390 397 234 79 78 41 42 122 303 1,036 1,047
T 977 959 1,093 645 207 206 114 95 335 834 2,:15; T ame
Non-Executive Directors
M. Roney (i} 230 77 - - - B - - - - 230 7
P.Hampden Smith 61 57 - - - - - - - - 61 57
F.van Zanten 61 57 - - - - - - - - 61 57
S. Murray (ii) 61 12 - - - - - - - - &1 12
V. Crowley (iil) 61 12 - - - - - - - - 61 12
M. Chadwick {iv) - 123 - - - - . - , - . 123
R. Ryan (v} 22 57 - - - - - . . - 22 57
€. M. Fisher {vi} 23 57 - - - - - - - - 22 57
- 518 a5z - - - - - - - - 518 452
Total Remuneration 1,495 1411 1,098 645 207 206 14 a3 335 83 3,244 319

+1) ML Roney was appeinted Deputy Chairman and Chairman Designate on 1 May 2016
{11} Mrs. Murray was appainted Non-Executive Director on 14 October 2016

F M1 Crowley was appointed Non-Fxecutive Director on 14 October 2016
{iv) Mr. Chadwick retired frum the Board on 3t Decembaer 2016

{v] Mr. Ryan retired from the Boald on 9 May 2017

{vi} Mr Fisher retired from the Buard on $ May 2017

Comparative figures included in the table above have been presented on a consistent basis with the current year. Further details nn the valuation methodologies applied are set out
in notes (] to {e) below. These valuation methodologies are as required by the Regulations and are different from those upplied within the financial statements which have been
prepared in accordance with International Financisl Reporting Standards {'TFRS™). The total expense relating tu the Directors recognised within the income staterent is £1,114,000
{2016: £811,000} in respect of the Long-Term Incentive Plan (LTIP).

Notes to the Directors’ Remuneration Table:

(a) This is the amount of salaries and fees earned in respect of the financial year. Fees payable to Non-Executive Directors were unchanged at
€70,000 in constant currency.

(b) This is the amount of bonus earned in respect of the financial year.

(c) This is the amount of contribution payable in respect of the financial year by way of a company contribution to a pension scherme or a payment
in lieu of pension made through the payroll.

(d) Benefits comprise permanent health and medical insurance, the provision of a company car and, in the case of Mr. Slark, a rent allowance.

(e) TFor the year ended 31 December 2017, this is the value of LTIP awards that will vest in May 2018. The value of the awards is based on the average
share price of £7.9¢ for the three months to 31 December 2017. The vesting of these awards was subject to performance conditions over the period
from 1 January 2015 to 31 December 2017. For the year ended 31 December 2016, this is the value of LTIP awards that vested in May 2017. The value
of this award has been updated from that disclosed last year to reflect the share price of £7.92 on the date of vesting.




Fixed pay in 2017

Salary and Fees

Having taken account of both external market developments and
internal Group considerations, the Committee agreed in January
2017 that the basic salary of the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief
Financial Officer would increase by 2 per cent for the year ended 31
December 2017. This reflects a salary cap in the Remuneration Policy
which limits increases to current Directors’ to that of the general
workforce.

Salary/Fees

2017 s
£000 [ PPN
G.5lark 580 569 2%
D.Amnold o 397 390 2%

Non-Executive Directors’ fees were paid at the rate of £61,000 per
annum, the same level in constant currency (€70,000) since 2005. No
additional fees were paid for chairing Board Committees. The fee paid
to Mr. Roney, who assumed the position of Non-Executive Chairman on
1January 2017 having previously been Deputy Chairman and Chairman
Designate, was £230,000.

Benefits
Benefits cemprise permanent health and medical insurance, the
provision of a company car and, in the case of Mr.Slark, a rent allowance.

Health  Provision
and of a Total 2017 Tt
Medical Company Rent Taxabte Tas 1
Insurance Car Aliowance Benefis [0 1o
£'000 £°000 £000 £°000 vl
G.slark 9 35 29 73 53
D. Arnold 7 34 - 41 42

Pension

Pension benefits comprise either a company contribution to an
Executive Director’s personal pension plan, a company contribution to
the Group defined contribution pension scheme or an allowance paid
through the payrell in lieu of pension benefit.

2017 Base 2017 Pension /0 -1~ 11

Salary “%af Contribution -0 boon

£000 Salary €000 foLi

G.slark 380 22.1% 128 128
D.Arneld 397 20.0% 79 78

Mr.Slark’s pension benefit comprised a payment made to a defined
contribution scheme and a taxable non-pensionable cash allowance. The

total pension benefit was £128,000. The pension benefit for Mr. Arnold
was paid as a taxable non-pensionable cash aliowance.

Pay for Performance

Annual Bonus

The maximum bonus opportunity for Mr.slark and Mr. Atnold was 120
per cent and 100 per cent of salary respectively, The bonus was based on

two inancial measures.

The tabie below analyses the composition of the bonus awards for the

year:
Percentage of Basic Salary
Returnon
Earmings Capitat Bonus
Per Share Employed Payable
G.Slark B4% 36% 120%
D. Arnold FO% 30%

100%

Financial targets were set at the beginning of the year by reference to
the Group’s budget for 2017. The actual targets and performance against
those targets are set out in the table below for 2017

Threshold Budget  Stretch % of

0% [50% 1100% Maximum

Payablel Payable] Payablel Actual Payable

Earnings per share 46.6p 49.0p 51.5p 54.9p 100%
Return on capital

employed* 11.0% 11.5% 12.1% 100%

13.0%

~ Based on capital employed in monthly management accounts

The award for each financial measure was based on a sliding scale from
95 per cent to 105 percent of the Group's budget for 2017, No bonus was
pavable if performance was below a minimum threshold of 95 per cent
of budget. The bonus then increased on a straight line basis up te a limit
of 100 per cent of the bonus opportunity on achieving 105 per cent of
budget.

The Comimittee considered the extent to which these targets were
achieved and agreed a payment of 120 per cent of salary for Mr. Slark
and 100 per cent of salary for Mr. Arnold cut of 2 maximum bonus
appertunity of 120 per cent and 100 per cent of salary respectively.
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Long Term Incentive Plan [LTIP)

The Remuneration Committee has the authority to set appropriate
criteria for each award. The Committee believes that the LTTP should
align management and shareholder interests and assist the Group in the

recruitment and retention of senior executives.

Awards Granted with a Performance Period Covering the Three Years
to 31 December 2017

The performance conditions for LTIP awards made in April 2015 were
based on growth in EPS and TSR. Half of the awards to Executive
Directors were based on relative TSR versus a peer group. The other haif
was based on the Group's Adjusted EPS for the financial year ended 31
December 2017,

The relative TSR performance over the three year peried was ranked
below the median of the comparator group, which comprised a bespoke
group of 18 UK and Irish companies that operate in the construction
sector, and this half of the award will not vest as independently
confirmed to the Committee by New Bridge Street.

The other half of the award was based on the Group’s Adjusted EPS for
the financial year ended 31 December 2017 being in the range of 52 pence
ta 60 pence. The Adjusted EPS for 2017 of 54.9 pence lies within the lower
and higher targets of the range and 51.72 per cent of this part of the
award will vest.

In aggregate 25.9 per cent of the 2015 LTLP awards will vest.

The number of Grafton Units granted to Mr. Slark on 17 April 2015 was
104,314 of which 26,576 will vest under the EPS performance condition
with no units vesting under the TSR performance condition. The
number of Grafton Units granted to Mr. Arnold en 17 April 2015 was
59,534 of which 15,395 will vest under the Adjusted EPS performance
condition with no units vesting under the TSR performance condition.
The value of the awards made to Mr.Slark and Mr. Arnold is £213,000 and
£122,000 respectively on the basis of the average price of a Grafton Unit
of £7.9¢ over the three months to 31 December 2017,

LTIP Awards Granted During the Year Ended 31 December 2017
The following awards were made during the year ended 31 December
2017:

Share Price Value of

Date of Number of at Grant Award at

Grant Units Date Grant Date

G.8lark 12 Apr 17 121,654 715 £870,130
G.Slark 10 May 17 37,497 2.74  £290,029
D.Arnold 12 Apri7 69,432 715 £496,612
D.Arnold 10 May 17 25,681 7.74  £198,643

Mr. Slark was granted an award on 12 April 2017 valued at 150 per cent

of his base salary in the form of nil cost Grafton Units. Mr. Arnold was
granted an award on 12 April 2017 valued at 125 pert cent of his base salary
in the form of nil cost Grafton Units. Following the approval of the new
Remuneration Policy at the 2017 AGM, LTIP policy limits were increased
from 150 per cent to 200 per cent of salary for the CEC and from 125 per
cent to 175 per cent of salary for the CFO. Mr. Slark and Mr. Arnold were
each thereby granted an additional award on 10 May 2017 valued at 50
per cent of base salary in the form of nil cost Grafton Units.

The 2017 awards to Mr.Slatk and Mr. Arnold are subject to the
achievement of TSR and Adjusted EPS performance conditions.

Half of these awards will vest depending on the Group’s TSR
performance over a three-year period commencing on 1 January 2017,
with no opportunity to re-test. TSR will be compared to a comparator
group consisting of the constituents of the Londen Stock Exchange’s
FTSF 250 Index excluding investment trusts. This index was chesen on
the basis that it is more representative of the Group’s overall trading
and financial environment and is a more appropriate measure of

outperformance.

" of Total
TSR Rank Award Yesting
Below median 0%
Median ) 12.5%

Median - 80th percentile 12.5%-50%

Above 80th percentile 50%

The level of outperformance for full vesting has been increased under
the new policy. Previously full vesting was set at upper quartile
performance and for awards granted in 2017 and going forward fuil
vesting will be at the upper quintile. Notwithstanding the achievement
of the TSR performance condition, no shares will vest unless the
Committee considers that the overall financial results have been
satisfactory in the circumstances over the performance peried.

The other half of these awards will vest subject to the Adjusted EPS
performance condition as follows:

% of Total

EPS for Year Ending 21 December 201% Award VYesting

Below 59p 0%
s9p 12.5%
59p - 66D 12.5% - 50%

66p or above 50%

Clawback provisicens will apply.



External Appocintments

The Company recognises that Executive Directers may be approached
to become Non-Executive Directors of other companies and that
opportunities of this nature can provide valuable experience thar
benefits the company.

Mr.slatk is a Non-Executive Director of Galliford Tty ple and is permitted
to retain his fee for the role which amounted to £46,000 in 2017.

Loss of Office Payments and Payments to Past Directors
No loss of office payments or any payments to past Directors were made
during the year.

Application of Remuneration Policy in 2018

Salaries

The Remuneration Policy for 2018 includes a salary cap which limits
increases to current Directors’ salaries over the life of the policy
{covering 2017,2018 and 2018) to that of the general worlforce. The
Committee may decide for any particular year, based on company and
personal performance, to apply a lower rate of increase to the salaries of
Directors than the rate of increase applied to the general workforce.

The following salaries will apply for 2018:

2018
Base Salary

207

Base Salary Y Increasc

G.Slark £590,236

£404,243

£580,085 1.75%

D.Arnold £397,260 1.75%

Chairman and Non-Executive Directors’ Fees

Non-Executive Directors’ fees are payable in Euro and will remain
unchanged at €70,000 to cover all Board and Committee duties. The
sterling equivalent was £61,000 in 2017. The fee paid to Mr. Roney as
Chairman will remain at the rate of £230,000 per annum.

Pension and Benefits

Mr. Slark and Mr. Arnold will receive pension contributions/salary
supplements in lieu of pension of £128,04¢ and 20 per cent of salary
respectively which is consistent with the arrangements in place for 2017,

Annual Bonus

The maximum potential perfermance related bonus pay award for the
Chief Executive Officer for 2018 is 12¢ per cent of basic salary and the
maximum bonus opportunity for 2018 for the Chief Financial Officer is
100 per cent of salary. These limits also applied in respect of 2017. The
measures and weightings for 2018 are as follows:

% of Salary % of Salary

CEQ Bonus Based on 2018 2017

Operating profit 84% -

Earnings pershare : g4
36% 36%

Return on capital employed

% of Salary % of Salary

CFO Bonus Based on 2018 2017
Operating profit 70% -
Earnings per share o - 70%7
Return on capital employed h 30% 0%

Operating profit is a key performance indicator for the business and
replaces earnings per share which is a performance measure that
applies to half of the awards granted under the LTIP.

The actual bonus targets are commercially sensitive and will be
disclosed in the 2018 Annual Reportt.

The annual bonus is payable in cash subject to part investment in shares
if required under the Group’s share ownership guidelines as set cut in
the Remuneration Policy.

Clawback provisions will operate as sct out in the Remuneration Policy.

Long-Term incentives

Awards to be made in 2018 will be at the same level as 2017 being 200 per
cent of salary for the CEO and 175 per cent of salary for the CFO. Vesting
of the 2018 award will continue to be based on relative TSR (50 per cent)
and on EPS (50 per cent) performance conditions.

The TSR performance condition will continue to be measured against
a comparator group consisting of the constituents of the London Stock
Exchange’s FTSE 250 Index excluding investment trusts.
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Annuat Report on Remuneration {continued]

The performance measures were toughened for the 2017 award and are
similarly stretching for the 2018 award as follows:

% of total award

TSR Rank vesting
Below median 0%
Median 12.5%

Median - 80th percentile 12.5%-50%

Abave 80th percentile 50%

Notwithstanding the achievement of the TSR performance conditions,
no shares will vest unless the Committee considers that the

overall financial results of the Group have been satisfactory in the
circumstances over the performance period.

For EPS growth targets, the Committee sets the percentage growth range
having considered the Group’s budger and strategic business plan, the
Group's economic and trading environment and analysts’ forecasts for
EPS. The Committec has historically set very demanding growth ranges
for EPS in absolute terms.

The proposed EPS range for the 2018 LTIP award is 69p to 80p for the year
ended 31 Decernber 2020. The lower end of the target range (threshold)

is above consensus Brokers Forecasts for 2020 of 68p which were
available when the range was approved on 9 March 2018 and reflects
changes made following the publicarion of the Final Results for 2017 on
1 March 2018. Consistent with prior years, the upper end of the range is
appropriately stretching.

% of Total

EPS for Year Ending 31 December 2020 Award Vesting

Below 69p 0%
69p 12.5%
69D - BOp 12.5% - 50%

80p or above 50%

A holding period of two years will apply to LTIP awards received by
Executive Directors that vest, after taking into account any shares

sold to pay tax and other statutory obligations in line with the new
Remunertation Policy. Shares held during the twoe-year holding period
will be deemed to be part of an executive directors’ shareholding, for the
purposes of monitering the shareholding guidelines. The vesting period
and the holding period will be five years in total.

Relative Importance of Spend on Pay

The foliowing table sets out the percentage change in dividends and
overall spend on employee pay in the 2017 financial year compared with
the prior year.

2017 2504 “ et
€000 Lol AT
Dividends payable 36,775 32,490 13.2%
Employee
395,358 362,905 8.9%

remuneration costs

Percentage Change in CEO Pay

The table below shows the percentage year-on-year change in the value
of salary, benefits and annual bonus for the Chief Executive Officer
berween the current and previous year compared to that of the average

ermployee.
2017 B R
£000 P g
Chief Executive Officer
- Salary 580 569 2.0%
- Benefits " ” 73 53 7.7%
) Bonus - 69;; ) 411 69.3%
;v;f;;;e employeé T -
28,264 26,997 4.7%

- Salary, Benefits and Bonus (£}

" based on average number of persons employed during the year. The increase in

CANSEANT QUITENCY WAS 2,5%.



Performance Graph and Single Total Figure of Remuneration

Total Shareholder Return

The graph below compares the TSR performance of Grafton Group ple, assuming dividends are re-invested, with the TSR performance of the FTSE 250

over the period 31 December 2008 to 31 December 2017,

— Grafton Group plc — FTSE 25C Index

300
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Value {£) (rebased)

Dec-08 Eec-09 Dec-10 Dec-11 Dec-12

Souice! Datastream {Thomenn Renters)
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The table below shows the total remuneration figure for the posirion of CEO over the nine years to 2017.

CEO single total figure of

remuneration (£'000) 589 570 1,151

Annual bonus payout refative to

maximum 0% 0% 16%

S TR A S PR 2037

1,001 1,524 3,080 2,255 1,692

1,690

49% 49% 98% 53% 60% 100%

LTIP vesting N/A N/A

N/A 45% 100% 87% 50% 26%

Statement of Shareholder Voting at the 2017 AGM
The new Remuneration Policy received the following votes from

The 2016 Annual Report on Remuneration received the following votes

shareholders: from shareholders:
Total Number % of Vales Total Number % of Yotes
of Yotes Cast of Votes Cast
For 154,103,858 96.88 For 158,340,815 $9.52
Against 4,965,700 312 Against 756,436 .48
To;; - 159,069,_5_5; o 100.007 Total o 159,097,271_- .-100.90

The number of votes withheld was 33,435, A vote withheld is not a vote
under Irish law and is not counted in the calculation of the percentage
votes for and against a resolution.

The number of votes withheld was 5,722,
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Directors’ and Secretary’s Interests
The beneficial interests of the Directors in the share capital of the
Company were as follows:

37 December ! Unvested Unvested

2017 Grafton 2 Jrattan LTIP SAYE
Director Units* RTIEN Awardgs®*  Optians***
G.Slark 316,925 283,692 382,359 -
D.Arhold 53,625 724,100 222,504 1,;
IT. van Zarnlten V 3,000 7 3,0(.‘;0 - ) :
EHampden Smithr 32,990 7 32,95;:) - -
Eoney ‘ ) 11,529 V 11,5297 B - 7 -
V. Crowiey i 8,00;) 81000 - - ’ 7—
.-'S.I\fdl.u'r:ﬂ_fv - 7 - 7 - 7 - : j
Secretary
C.Rinn ) ri_:uﬂo,zw 400,124 58,993 -

“ At 31 December 2017 and at 31 December 2016, a Grafton Unit comprised one ordinary
share of 5 cents each and seventeen 'A” ordinary shares of 0.001 cenat cach in Grafion
Group ple and one *C" erdinary share of Stgo.00mp in Grafton Group (UK ple.

** Vesting of these awards is subiect o performance conditions.

*** Oprion e buy shares at the agreed price at end of the three year petiod on 1
December 2020.

The closing price of a Grafton Unit on 31 December 2017 was 802p (31
December 2016: 550p) and the price range during the year was between
540,5p and 841p (2016: 440p and 752p).

There have been no changes in the interests of the Directors and
Secretary between 31 December 2017 and the date of this report,

To further align the interests of senior management with those of
shareholders, Exccutive Directors are subject to share ownership
guidelines. Executive Directors are required te build a holding of shares
in the Company with a minimum value of 200 per cent of their salary.
Directors are required to apply 30 per cent of their annual bonus after
statutory deductions for the purchase of shares in the Group until this
share ownership requirement is fulfilled.

Mr. Slark held shares at the year-end valued at 4.4 times his salary. Mr.
Arnold held shares at the year-end valued at 1.1 timies his salary.

During the year, Mr. Arnold exercised options to purchase 3,015 Grafton
Units on the maturity of the 2014 SAYE scheme.

Directors” and Secretary’s Interests under the Grafton Group
Share Schemes

The interests of the Directors and the Secretary te acquire Graften Units
in accordance with the Grafton Group Share Schemes are shown below:

Mr. C.Rinn had an interest to acquire 160,000 (31 December 2016:
200,000) Grafton Units at 31 December 2017 at a price of €1.66 subject to
the rules of the 1999 Grafton Group Share Scheme. An interest to acquire
100,000 Grafton Units lapsed during the year.

Under the terms of the 1999 Grafton Group Share Scheme, shares were

subject to the performance conditions set out below:

» Basic shares which cannot be converted before the expiration of
five years, unless the Remuneration Committee agrees to a shorter
period which shall not be less than three years, and may be converted
any tirme after chat to the end of their contractual life provided the
Company’s earnings per share has grown at not less than the rate
of growth in the Consumer Price tndex plus 5 per cent compounded
during that period. Basic shares granted after 8 May 2008 cannot be
converted before the expiration of three years.

+ Second tier shares which cannot be converted before the expiration of
five years and at any time thereafter up to the end of their contractual
life, enly if over a period of at least five years, the growth in the
Group's earnings per share would place it in the top 25 per cent of the
companies listed on the Irish Stock Exchange Index over the same
period and also provided that such shares shall be acquired only if
the Company’s earnings per share growteh over the relevant period is
greater, by not less than 10 per cent on an annualised basis, than the
increase in the Consumer Price Index over that peried.

The share scheme had a ten year life for the award of entitlements.
This period expired in 2009 and was replaced in 2011 by the Long Term
Incentive Plan.

There has not been any contract or arrangement with the Company
ot any subsidiary undertaking during the year in which an Ofticer of
the Company was materially interested and which was significant
in relation to the Company’s business except for remuneration
arrangements.



Directors’ and Secretary's Interests under the 2011 Long Term Incentive Plan

The grant of awards over Graften Units to the Directors and Secretary under the LTIP are shown below:

Number of Units

Share
Price on

date of 1 January Shares 31 Dec EPS TSR
Grant Date Grant 2017  Grapted Lapsed Received 2017 Condition Condition Performance Period Vesting Date**
G. Slark 16 April 2014 £6.20 134,181 - (87,090} (67,091} - - - 1 Jan 2014 - 31 Dec 2016 16 April 2017
17 April 2015 £8.18 104,314 - - - 104,314 52,157 52,157 1 Jan 2015 - 31 Dec 2017 17 April 2018
14 April 2016 £718 118,894 - - 118,894 59,447 55,447  1Jan 2016 - 31 Dec 2018 14 April 2019
12 April 2017 £7.15 - 121,654 - - 121,654 60,827 60,827 1 Jan 2017 - 31 Dec 2019 12 April 2020
10 May 2017 £7.74 - 37,497 - - 37,497 18,749 18,748 1 Jan 2017 - 31 Dec 2019 10 May 2020

357,389 159,151 {67,090) (67,091) 382,359 191,180 191,179
D. Arnold 16 April 2014 £6.20 76,582 - (38,291) (38,291)% - - - 1Jan 2014 - 31 Dec 2016 16 April 2017
17 April 2015 £8.18 59,534 - - - 59,534 29,787 29,767 1Jan 2015 - 31 Dec 2017 17 April 2018
14 April 2016 £7.18 67,857 - - 67,857 33,926 33,928  1.Jan 2016 - 31 Dec 2018 14 April 2019
12 April 2017 £7.15 - 69,432 69,432 34,716 34,716 1.Jan 2017 - 31 Dec 2019 12 April 2020
10 May 2017 £7.74 - 25,681 25,681 12,841 12,840 1Jan 2017 - 31 Dec 2019 10 May 2020

203,973 95,113 (38,291) (38,291) 222,504 111,253 111,251
€. Rinn 16 April 2014 £6.20 21,616 - {10,808) (10,808)" - - - 1.Jan 2014 - 31 Dec 2016 16 April 2017
17 April 2015 £8.18 14,640 - - - 14,640 7,320 7,320 1Jan 2015 - 31 Dec 2017 17 April 2018
14 April 2016 £718 18,534 - - - 18,534 9,267 9,267  1Jan 2016 - 31 Dec 2018 14 April 2019
12 April 2017 £7.15 - 20,269 20,266 10,135 10,134 1.Jan 2017 - 31 Dec 2019 12 April 2020
10 May 2017 £7.74 - 5,555 5,555 2,778 2,777 1Jan 2017 - 31 Dec 2019 10 May 2020

54,790 25,824 (10,808) (10,808} 58,998 29,500 29,458

* The market price at the date of vesting was £2.92,

= This is the earliest date for vesting except for the vesting in 2017 which 15 the actaal date of vesting. The actual date of vesting 1s subject to approval by the Remuneration

Comunuirtee.

The Group’s previous long-term incentive share scheme expired in April 2009. Consequently, no long-term incentive awards were made during 2010,

Shareholder approval was granted at the AGM held on 4 May 2011 for the introduction of a new Long-Term Incentive Plan and the first awards under
the plan were made on 25 May 2¢11. Subsequent awards under the LTIP were made on 18 April 2012,16 April 2013, 16 April 2014,17 April 2015, 14 April

2016,12 April 2017 and 10 May 2017.

Susan Murray
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
12 March 2018



Report of the Directors

The Directors present their report to the shareholders together with the
audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017,

Group Resulis

Group revenue increased by £0.2 billion to £2.7 billion in 2017. Adjusted
operating profit before property profit increased 17 per cent to £160.9
million compared to £137.1 million in 2016.

The net finance expense was £6.4 million (2016: £5.9 million). Group
statutory profit before taxation amounted to £134.5 million compared
with £114.2 million in the previous year.

The income tax expenge of £26.6 million (20161 £21.1 muillion} was
equivalent to an effective tax rate of 17.2 per cent {2016: 18.5 per cent).
The underlying rate for the year was 18.5 per cent {2016: 19.0 per cent).
Non-recurting tax deductions accounted for the difference between the
effective and underlying rate of 18.5 per cent.

Basic earnings per share were 54.0 pence compared with 39.6 pence
in the previpus year. Adjusted earnings per share (before intangible
amortisation on acquisitions and before exceptional and non-recurring
items) increased by 15 per cent to 54.9 pence from 47.7 pence in 2016.

The Group and Company financial statements for the year ended 31
Decermber 2017 are set out in detail on pages 100 to 187,

Dividends

The payment in 2017 of a second interim dividend for 2016 of 9.0 pence
on the ‘C’ Ordinary shares in Graften Group (UK) ple from UK-sourced
income amoeunted to £21.3 million. A 2017 interim dividend of 5.25
pence per share was paid on 6 October 2017 on the ‘C’ Ordinary shares in
Grafton Group (UK} ple from UK-sourced income and amounted to £12.4

million.

A second interim dividend for 2017 of 10.25 pence per share will be paid
on the ‘C’ Ordinary Shares in Grafton Group ! UK) plc from UK-sourced
income to all holders of Grafton Units on the Company’s Register of
Members at the close of business on 9 March 2018 (the ‘Record date’).
The dividend will be paid on & April 2018. A liability in respect of this
second interim dividend has not been recognised at 3t December 2017 as
there was no present obligation to pay the dividend at the year-end.

Review of the Business

Shareholders are referred to the Chairman's Statement, Chief Executive
Officer’s Review, Sectoral and Strategic Review and Financial Review
which contain a review of operations and the financial performance

of the Group for 2017, the cutlook for 2018 and the key performance
indicators used to assess the performance of the Group. These are
deemed to be incorporated in the Report of the Directors.

Cautionary Statement

Certain statements made in this Annual Report are forward looking
statemnents. Such statements are based on current expectations and
are subject to 2 number of risks and uncertainties that could cause
actual events or results to differ materially from those expressed or
implied by these forward-locking statements. They appear in a number
of places throughout this Annual Report and include staternents
regarding the intentions, beliefs or current expectations of Directors
and senior management concerning, amongst other things, the results
of operations, financial conditions, liquidity, prospects, growth rate

and potential growth opportunities, potential operating performance
improvements, the effects of competition and the strategy of the
overall Group and its individual businesses. You should not place
undue reliance on forward looking statements. These forward locking
statements are made as at the date of this Directors Report. The
Company and its Directors expressly disclaims any obligation to update
or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new
information, future developments or otherwise, except as required by

law

The tisk factors included on pages 50 te 53 of this Annual Report could
cause the Group's results to differ materially from those expressed in
forward-locking statements. There may be other risks and uncertainties
that the Group ig unable to predict at this time or thar the Group
currently does not expect to have a material adverse effect on its
business. These forward-locking statements are made as of the date of
this Annual Report.

The forward-looking statements in this Annual Report do not constitute
reports or statements published in compliance with any of Regulations 4
to 9 and 26 of the Transparency (Directive 2004/109/EC) Regulations 2007,



Board of Directors

Mr. Roderick Ryan and Mr. Charles Fisher both retired from the Board

at the conclusion of last year’s Annual General Meeting. In line with
the provisions contained in the UK Corporate Governance Code, all
other Directors retired at the same meeting and being eligible offered
themselves for election/re-election and all were elected/re-clected to the
Board on the same day.

Under the Company's Articles of Association, Directors are required to
submit themselves to sharehoelders for election at the Annual General
Meeting following their appointment and all the Directors are required
to submit themselves for re-election at intervals of not more than three
years. However,in accordance with the provisions of the UK Corporate
Governance Code, the Board has decided that all Directars seeking
re-election should retire at the 2018 Annual General Meeting and offer
themselves for re-election.

Share Capital

At 31 Decentber 2017, a Grafton Unit comprised one erdinary share

of 5 cent and seventeen ‘A’ ordinary shares of 0.001 cent each in
Grafton Group plc and one ‘C’ ordinary share of 5tg0.0001p in Grafton
Group {UK) ple. The composition of the Company’s share capital
including a summary of the rights and obligations attaching to the
three components of a Gratton Unit is set out in Note 18 to the Group
Financial Statements.

The Group has in place a number of employee share schernes, the details
of which are set out in the Report of the Remuneration Committee on
Directors” Remuneration and in Note 33 to the Group Financial Statements.

Annual General Meeting

The Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held at the IMI
Conference Centre, Sandyford Ruad, Dublin 16 on 9 May 2018 at 10.30am.
Your attention is drawn to the ¢ircular on the Company's website, www.
gratunplecom which sets out details of resolutions to be considered at
the Annual General Meeting, including the following:

Continuation in Office of Auditors

While it is not required under Irish law, an advisory, non-binding
resolution is being presented in relation to the continuation of PwC in
office as Auditors.

Authority to Allot Relevant Securities

Shareholders are being asked tu renew the Directors’ authority to allot
and issue any unissued ordinary share capital of the Company. The total
number of shares which the Directors may issue under this authority
will be limited to approximately 26 per cent of the issued share capital of
the Company at 12 March 2018. The Directors have no present Intention
to make a share issue other than in respect of employee share schemes.

Disapplication of Pre-emption Rights

At each Annual General Meeting, the Directors seek authority to
disapply statutory pre-emption rights in relation te allotments of
shares for cash up to an aggregate nominal value for all allotments
and all treasury shares of approximately €594,760 representing five per
cent of the nominal value of the issued ordinary share capital of the
Company. Under the Articles of Association, shareholders are required
to renew this power at each year’s Annual General Meeting. The
Directors confirm their intention to follow the provisions of the Pre-
emption Principles regarding cumularive usage of authorities within
a rolling three-year period. These principles provide that companies
should consult sharehelders prior to issuing, other than to existing
shareholders, shares for cash representing in excess of 7.5% of the
Company’s issued share capital in any rolling three-year period.

Authority to Make Market Purchases of the Company’s Own
Shares

At the 2017 Annual General Meeting, shareholders gave the Company
and/or any of its subsidiaries authority to make market purchases of
up to 10 per cent of the Company's own shares. Shareholders are being
asked to renew this authority.

The Directors have no present intention to exercise rhis authority.
However, the Directors consider it appropriate to maintain the flexibility
that this authoerity provides. The Directors menitor the Company’s
share price and may from time to time exercise this power to make
market purchases of the Company’s own shares, at price levels which
they consider to be in the best interests of the shareholders generally,
after taking account of the Company's overall financial position. The
minimum price which may be paid for any market purchase of the
Company's own shares will be the nominal value of the shares and the
maximum price which may be paid will be 105 per cent of the then
average market price of the shares.

Authority to Re-issue Treasury Shares

Shareholders are being asked to sanetion the price range at which any
treasury share (that is a share of the Company redeemed or purchased
and held by the Company rather than being cancelled; may be re-issued
other than on the Stock Exchange. The maximum and minimum prices
at which such a share may be re-issued are 120 per cent and 95 per cent
respectively of the average market price of a share calculated over the
five business days immediately preceding the date of such re-issue.

The authorities which will be sought at the forthcoming AGM to
allot relevant securities, dis-apply pre-emption rights, purchase the
Company's Units and re-issue treasury shares will, if granted, expire
on the earlier of the date of the Annual General Meeting in 2019 or 15
months after the passing of these resolutions.
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Report of the Remuneration Committee on Directors’
Remuneration

In line with best practice, the Board is proposing to submit the
Chairman’s Annual Statement and the Annual Report ont Remuneration
of the Remuneratien Committee {other than the Remuneration Policy
Report which was approved at last year’s AGM), as set out on pages 79 to
80 and 87 to 95,10 a non-binding advisory vote.

Notice Period for Extraordinary General Meetings

This resolution will, if adopted, maintain the existing authority in
the Articles of Association which permits the Company to convene
an extraordinary general meeting on 14 days’ notice in writing where
the purpose of the meeting is to consider an ordinary resolution. As

a matter of policy, the 14 days’ notice will only be utilised where the
Directors believe that it is merited by the business of the meeting and
the circumstances surrounding the business of the Meeting.

Substantial Holdings

So far as the Company is aware, the following held shares representing
3 per cent or more of the ordinary share capital of the Company
{excluding treasury shares) at 31 December 2017 and 12 March 2018:

Mo e 1T PN [ I S
NI I

The Capital Group

Companies, Inc?

Investec Asset

30,491,000 12.85

30,491,000 12.84

Management Limited* 21,282,251  8.97

18,700,194 7.88

21,926,409 9,24 21,926,409 %24

Franklin Templeton
Institutional, LLC*

EdgePoint Investment

mr. Michael Chadwick™*

18,886,930 7.96

18,886,930 7.96

Management Inc.*

Kames Capital ple ***

10,073,498 4.25

10,073,498 4.24

7,193,797 3.03 - -

Blackrock, Tnc.*

7,121,919 3.00 7,121,919 3.00

Dimensional Fund
Advisors LP

7,112,538 3.00 7,112,538 3.00

“ The Company has been advised that these unirs are not beneficially owned.
“*Beneficial holding of 19,436,079 Grufton Units and non-beneficial holding of 2 490,330
Grafton Units.

*** The Company has been advised thar this holding has fallen below 3 per cent.

Apart from these holdings, the Company has not been notified at 12
March 2018 or at 31 December 2017 of any interest of 3 per cent or more
in its ordinary share capital.

birectors’ and Secretary's interests in the share capital of the Company
are set out in the Report of the Remuneration Committee on Directors’
Remuneration.

Accounting Records

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that adeguate accounting
records are maintained by the Company as required by Sectivns 281-

285 of the Companiies Act, 2014. The Directors believe that they have
complied with this requirement by providing adequate resources to
maintain proper books and accounting records throughout the Group
including the appointment of personnel with appropriate qualificarions,
experience and expertise. The books and accounting records of the
Company are maintained at Heron House, Corrig Road, Sandyford
Industrial Estate, Dublin 18, Treland.

Takeover Regulations 2006

The capital structure of the Company is detailed in Note 18 to the Group
Financial Statements. Details of employee share schemes are set out

in Note 33. In the event of a change of control, the vesting/conversion/
exercise of share entitlements/options may be accelerated. The Group's
borrowing facilities may require repayment in the event of a change of
control. The Company's Articles of Association provide that the business
of the Company shall be managed by the Directors, who may exercise
all such powers of the Company subject to the Companies Act and the
Articles of Association. Details of the poewers of the Directors in relation
to the issuing or buying back by the Company of its shares are set out
above. The Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association, which
are available on the Company’s website, wiwn graltonplyc oy, are

deemed to be incorporated in this part of the Report of the Directors.

Corporate Governance Regulations

As required by company law, the Directors have prepared a Report on
Corporate Governance which is set out on pages 66 to 72 and which, for
the purposes of Section 1373 of the Companies Act 2014, is decimed to be
incorporated in this part of the Report of the Directors. This includes
the Report of the Audit and Risk Committee. Details of the capital
structure and employee share schemes are included in Notes 18 and 33
respectively.

Directors Compliance Statement

It is the policy of the Company to comply with its relevant obligations
as defined in the Companies Act 2014, The Directors have drawn

up a compliance policy statement as defined in section 225(3%a) of

the Companies Act 2014. Arrangements and structures have been

put in place that are, in the directors’ opinion, designed to secure a
material compliance with the Company’s relevant abligations. These
arrangements and structures were reviewed by the Company during the
financial year, As required by section 225(2) of the Companies Act 2014,
the Directors acknowledge thut they are responsible for the Company’s
compliance with its relevant obligations. In discharging their
responsibilities under section 225, the Directors relied on the advice of
third parties who the Directors believe have the requisite knowledge
and experience to advise the Company on compliance with its relevant
obligations.



Principat Risks and Uncertainties

‘The Company is required under Irish company law te give a description
of the principal risks and uncertainties. These principal risks and
uncertainties are set out on pages 50 to 53 and are deemed to be
incorporated in this section of the Report of the Directors.

Transparency Regulations 2007 and applicabte provisions of
the European Union [Disclosure of Non-Financial and Diverssty
information by Certain Large Undertakings and Groups)
Regulations 2017

The report on Corporate Social Responsibility set out on pages 54 to 61,
is deemed to be incorporated in this part of the Report of the Directors
together with details of earnings per share in Note 11 to the Group
Financial Statements, employment details in Note 6 and details of
financial instruments in Note 21,

Subsidiaries
The Group's principal operating subsidiary undertakings are set out on
pages 186 10 187.

Political Cantributions
There were no political contributions which require disclosure under
the Electoral Act,1997.

Events after the Balance Sheet Date

On 16 February 2018, the Group completed the acquisition of LSDM
Limited {“Leyland SDM"). Leyland SDM is regarded as one of the

most recognisable and trusted decorating and DIy brands in Central
London selling paint, tools, ironmongery and accessories. The Leyland
SDM “small box” convenience trading format is a proven business model
in Central London that complements the Group’s larger Selco branches
located in Greater London. Leyland SDM trades from 21 branches. The
total consideration payable was £82.4 million on a debt-free, cash-free
basis and was funded from the Group’s cash and debe facilities.

There have been no other material events subsequent to 31 December
2017 that would require adjustment to or disclosure in this report.

Auditor

The statutery Auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers, have expressed their
willingness to continue in office in accordance with Section 382 (2) of
the Companies Act 2014 and a resolution authorising the Directors to fix

their remuneration will be submitted to the Annual General Meeting.

Disclosure of information to statutory Auditors

[n accordance with the provisions of section 330 of the Companies Act
2014, each of the persons who are Directors of the Company at the date of
approval of this report confirms that:

So far as the Director is aware, there is no relevant audit information
(as defined in the Companies Act 2014) of which the statutory Auditor is

unaware; and

The Director has taken all the steps that he/she ought to have taken
as a Director to make himself/herself aware of any relevant audit
information (as defined) and to ensure that the statutory Auditor is
aware of such information.

On behalf of the Board

David Arnold
Director

Gavin Slark
Director
12 March 2018
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

The Directors are respansible for preparing the Annual Report and the
Group and Company financial statements, in accordance with applicable
law and regulations.

Company law in the Republic of Ireland requires the Directors to
prepare Group and Company financial statements each year. Under that
law, the Directors are required to prepare the Group financial statements
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (JFRS)
as adopted by the European Unien (EU} and have elected to prepare the
Company financial statements in accordance with Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice in {reland {accounting standards issued by the
Financial Reporting Council of the UK, including Financial Reporting
Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework, and promulgated by the
Institute of Chartered Accountants in Ireland} and Itish law,

Under company law the Directors must not approve the financial
statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of
the assets, liabilities and financial pesition of the Group and Company
as at the end of the financial year and the profit or loss of the Group for
the financial year.

In preparing each of the Group and Company financial statements, the
Directors are required to:

» Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
+ Make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

+ State that the Group financial statements comply with IFRS as
adopted by the European Union, and as regards the Company, have
been prepared in accordance with Generally Accepted Accournting
Practice in Ireland {accounting standards issued by the Financial
Reporting Council of the UK, including Financial Reporting Standard
101 Reduced Disclosure Framework, and promulgated by the Institute
of Chartered Accountants in Ireland) and Ivish law; and

» Prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless
it is inappropriate to presume that the Group and the Company will
continue in business.

The Directors are also required by the Transparency (Directive 2004/109/
EC) Regulations 2007 and the Transparency Rules of the Central Bank
of treland to include a management report containing a fair review of
the business and a description of the principal risks and uncertainties
facing the Group.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records
which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the assets,
liabilities, and financial position, and which enable them to ensure that
the financial statements of the Company comply with the provisions

of the Companies Act 2014, and as regards to the Group financial
statements Article 4 of TAS Regulation. The Directors are also responsible

for taking all reasonable steps to ensure such records are kept by its
subsidiaries which enable them to ensure that the financial statements
of the Group comply with the provisions of the Companies Act 2014,
They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company
and the Group, and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention
and detection of fraud and other irvegularities.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of

the corporate and financial information included on the company’s
website (wivw grattonplecon), Legislation in the Republic of Ireland
concerning the preparation and dissemination of financial statements
may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Responsibility Statement as required by the Transparency

Directive and the UK Corporate Governance Code

Each of the Directors, whose names and functions are listed on pages

64 to 65 of this Annual Report, confirm that, to the best of each person’s

knowledge and belief:

« The Group financial statements, prepared in accordance with [FRS
as adopted by the European Union and the Company financial
statements prepared in accordance with Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice in Ireland {accounting standards issued by the
Financial Reporting Council of the UK, including Financial Reporting
Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework, and promulgated by
the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Ireland) and Irish law, as
applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2014,
give a true and fair view of the assels, lisbilities, financizl position of
the Group and Company at 31 December 2017 and of the profit of the
Group for the year then ended;

+ The Report of the Directors contained in the Annual Report includes
a fair review of the development and performance of the business and
the position of the Group and Company and that a fair description of
the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group and Company
is provided on pages 50 to 53; and

+ The Annual Report and financial statements, taken as a whole,
provides the information necessary to assess the Group’s performance,
business model and strategy and is fair, balanced and understanndable
and provides the information necessary fur sharehelders to assess the
company’s position and performance, business model and strategy.

0On behalf of the Board

Gavin Slark David Arnold
Director Director
12 March 2018



Independent auditors’ report to
the members of Grafton Group plc

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion

In our opinion

+ Grafton Group plc's Group financial statements and Company financial statements (the “Anancial statements”) give a true and fair view of the
Group’s and the Company's assets, liabilities and financial position as at 31 December 2017 and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year

then ended;

the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) as adepted

by the European Union;

= the Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with Generally Accepted Acceunting Practice in Ireland
(accounting standards issued by the Financial Reporting Council of the UK, including Financial Reporting Standard 101 “Reduced Disclosure
Framework” and promulgated by the Institute of Chartered Accountants in freland and Irish law); and

« the financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2014 and, as regards the Group
financial statements, Article 4 of the 1AS Regulation.

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Annual Repert, which comprise:
+ the Group Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2017,

= the Company Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2017;

+ the Group Income Statement and Group Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year then ended;

the Group Cash Flow Statement for the year then ended;
= the Group Statement of Changes in Equity for the year then ended;
» the Company Statement of Changes in Equity for the year then ended; and

» the notes to the financial statements, which include a description of the significant accounting policies.

Our opinion is consistent with our reporting to the Audit and Risk Committee.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (Ireland) (“ISAs (Ireland)”, and applicable law. Qur respensibilities
under I[SAs (Treland) are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. we believe

that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our gopinion.

Independence
We remained independent of the Group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements
in Treland, which includes TAASA’s Ethical Standard as applicable to listed public interest entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical

responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

To the best of our knowledge and belief, we declare that non-audit services prohibited by IAASA's Ethical Standard were not provided to the Group or

the Company.

Other than those disclosed in Note 3 to the financial statements, we have provided no non-audit services to the Group or the Company in the period

from 1 January 2017 to 31 Decernber 2017,



Independent Auditor’s Report
to the Members of Graften Group plc [continued)

Our audit approach

Context
Overview
Materiality 7
+ Overzll Group materiality: £7.3 million (2016: £6.3 million) based on approximately 5% of profit before tax.
» Overall Company materiality: €7.2 million (2016: €5.5 million) based on 1% of total assets.
Audit scope a
= we conducted an audit of the complete financial information of 14 of the Group's 18 reporting components across the
Audit Scape

United Kingdom, Ireland, Netherlands and Belgiurn. These accounted for 97% of revenue, 95% of profit before tax and 97%
of total assets.

Key audit matters
« valuation of goodwill

Key audit
matters

= Recognition of supplier rebates

= valuation of inventory

The scope of our audit

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the financial statements. fn particular,
we looked at where the directors made subjective judgements, for example in respect of significant accounting estimates that involved making
assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. As in all of our audits we also addressed the risk of management override

of internal controls, including evaluating whether there was evidence of bias by the directors that represented a risk of material misstatement due to
fraud.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in the auditors’ professional judgement, were of most significance in the audit of the financial staternents
of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) identified by the
auditors, including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy; the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts
of the engagement team. These matters,and any comments we make on the results of our procedures thereon, were addressed in the context of our
audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinicn thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. This is
not a complete list of all risks identified by our audit.
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Valuation of geodwill

Refer to page 76 (Audit and Risk Committee Report), Note 1 Summary of
significant accounting policies and Note 12, Goodwill.

Goodwill amounted to £591.7 million at 31 December 2017. Goodwill
is allocated to 7 groups of Cash Generating Units (“CGUs"} in order
to conduct impairment testing. These groups of CGUs represent the
lowest level within the Group at which goodwill is monitored for

internal management purposes.

Goodwill must be tested for impairment on at least an annual basis,
The Group tests goodwill for impairment using a value-in-use (“VIU"}
model. The cash flows included in this VIU model are these included
in the management approved forecasts for the period from 2018 to 2022
and long term growth rates are used to estimate cash flows beyond
that period. As set out in Note 12 to the financial statements, this
involves a number of areas of judgement and estimates, in particular
estimating the growth and gross margin in the period 2018 to 2022,
leng term growth rates used in calculating a terminal value and pre-
tax discount rates for each CGU.

We focused on this area due to the significance of this asset, which
accounts for 27% of total assets at 31 December 2017. The Directors’
agsessment of the carrying value of goodwill involves complex and
subjective judgements about the future results of the business.

We agreed the underlying cash flow forecast models for each of the
groups of CGUs to the management approved budgets and checked the
mathematical accuracy of the impairment models.

We critically assessed and challenged management on the key
assumptions inciuded in the model, in particular the revenue and gross
margin assumptions over the period 2018 - 2022, We compared the growth
rates to external data and considered them to be in reasonable ranges.
We censidered the reliability of management's forecasting process by
reviewing how actual results compared to forecasts for the years 2014 to
2017, which we considered to be reasonable.

We considered the appropriateness of the discount rate applied to each of
the groups of CGUs by comparing the elements of the weighted average
cost of capital calculation to external benchmarks. We also considered the
appropriateness of the long term growth rates included in the terminal
value calculation by reference to external market data.

We performed sensitivity analysis on key assumptions in the goodwill
impairment model. In particular,we focused on the Belgium Merchanting
group of CGUs which has lower headroom and consequently is most
sensitive to changes in key assumptions. We assessed the disclosure of
the sensitivities in the financial statements in respect of the Belgium
Merchanting group of CGUs and found them to be appropriate.

We assessed the appropriateness of the other related disclosures in Note 12
to the Group's financial statements.



Independent Auditor’s Report
to the Members of Grafton Group plc [continued)

L I I R

Recognition of supplier rebates

Refer to page 76 (Audit and Risk Committee Report) and Note 1,
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.

The Group has entered into rebate arrangements with a significant
number of its suppliers. Supplier rebates received and receivable in
respect of goods purchased are deducted from cost of sales in the
income staternent or the cost of inventery, to the extent that those
goods remain in inventory at vear end.

Due to the nature of the agreements in place, a significant portion of
the Group’s rebate income during the year is not finalised or received
until after the year end. Certain arrangements have volume targets
that span the year end. In addition, in certain businesses, the process
for calculating rebate income requires manua!l input and use of
spreadsheets.

We have focused on this area as the calculation of rebate income in the
year and the rebate receivable at 31 December 2017 involves the use of
estimates and judgements due to the complex rebate arrangements in
place.

Valuation of inventory
Refer ro page 76 (Audit and Risk Commirttee Report), Note 1, Summary
of significant accounting policies and Note 18, [nventories.

Inventory is carried at £328.5 million at 31 December 2017.The

Group holds a significant number of product lines across its branch
network in the UK, Ireland, Belgivm and the Netherlands. Significant
judgement is exercised by management in assessing the level of
inventory provision in respect of slow moving inventory.

Management assess the required level of provision based on a
model that reflects the age of inventory on hand at year end and
considerations in respect of specific inventery. In locations that
had stocktakes in advance of the year end, management estimates
a provision for stock losses (a “shrinkage provision”) in order to
accurately state inventory on hand at year end.

Where inventory on which rebates have been earned is held at the year
end,an appropriate rebate deduction is made from the gross carrying
value of that inventory.

We focused on this area due to the judgement involved in estimating
the inventory provisions and rebate deductions across multiple
product lines and locations.

we obtained an understanding of the significant rebate arrangements that
the Group has entered into by meeting procurement personnel and reading
a sample of contracts. We also inspected the related work performed by

Internal Audit to ensure there was no findings that would impact our audit.

We assessed the reasonableness of any significant estimates and
judgements made by management in the calculation of rebate income and
rebate receivables.

On a sample basis, we recalculated rebate income and receivables by
agreeing inputs to supplier agreements and purchases reports

For a sample of suppliers, we agreed the rebate receivable to third party
confirmation of rebate income and rebates due at 31 December 2017,
Where responses were net received we completed alternative procedures
including obtaining rebate agreements and re-computing rebate income
and rebates receivables.

We also considered the actual results of the collection of rebates during the
year including those relating to the prior year,which we compared to the
rebates receivable recognised at 31 Decermnber 2016 noting that there was no
significant variance from the amount estimated.

Fot each in scope compoenent we obtained an analysis of inventory an hand
by location.

We tested the accuracy of inventory ageing reports where they supported
the calculation of inventory provisions by selecting a sample of inventory
items on hand and testing the aged classification by reference to purchase
documentation,

We assessed the appropriateness of Group policy by reference to past
experience and the provisions were considered reasonable. Where
appropriate, we recomputed and agreed the provisions recorded in line
with the Group policy.

We also obtained an understanding from management of plans to liquidate
any slower moving inventory and we then considered the appropriateness
of any provisions made.

in locations where stocktaking occurred before the vear end we evaluated
the reasonableness of the shrinkage provisiens recorded by reference to the
historical shrinkage experience of the Group.

We recalculated a sample of allocations of rebate deductions to inventory
by reference to the volume and value of inventory sourced from specific
suppliers and the related rebate arrangements with those suppliers. The
rebate deducted from inventory was considered te be reasenable.



How we tailored the audit scope
We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed enough work to be able to give an opinion on the financial statements as a whole,
taking into account the structure of the Greup, the accounting processes and controls, and the industry in which the Group operates,

The Group financial statements are a consolidation of 18 reporting components across 4 geographical markets. The Group’s accounting process
is structured around a local finance function for each of the reporting components. These functions maintain their own accounting records and
centrols and report to the head office finance team in Dublin.

In establishing the scope of the Group audit, we identified 3 reporting compoenents, which in our view required an audit of their complete financial
information due to their size and financial significance to the Group. A further 11 reporting components had an audit of their complete financial
information based cur risk assessment, the materiality of the reporting component and statutory audit requirements.

This resulted in a total of 14 reporting components which were subject to an audit of their full financial information. Fer the remaining companents,
the Group audit team performed other procedures including analytics at a Group level to consider our assessment that there were no significant
risks of material misstatement within these components.

The Group audit team performed the work on 4 components. Where the work was performed by component auditors, we determined the level of
involvement we needed to have in the audit work at those reporting units to be able to conclude whether sufficient appropriate audit evidence

had been obtained as a basis for our opinion on the Group financial statements as a whele. The group audit team visits the component teams on

a rotational basis. During the year, senior members of the Group audit team visited 7 in scope locations. The Group audit team attended all of the
component team meetings with local management where the results of each component’s audit were finalised, either in person ot by conference
call. we obtained and censidered the detailed findings reports from all component teams. In addition, the Group audit team reviewed working papers
of the auditors for the significant comprments.

The full scope audits of reporting cornponents and Group functions accounted for 97% of revenue, 95% of profit before tax and 97% of total assets.
P P g p P P

Materiality

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. We set certain quantitative thresholds for materiality. These, together with
qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures on the individual
financial statement line items and disclosures and in evaluating the effect of misstatements, both individually and in aggregate on the financial
statemnents as a whole.

Based on our professicnal judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as follows:

PAREITH D

Overatl materiality £7.3 million (2016: £6.3 million} €7.2million (2016 €3.5 million)

How we determined it Circa 5% of profit before tax 1% of total assets
Rationale for benchmark applied We have applied this benchmark as profit we considered total assets to be the most relevant
before tax is a key accounting benchmark, benchmark as the Company is primarily an investment
which is also a key performance indicator for holding Company. The Company primarily holds
the Group. investments in subsidiaries and receivables from Group
companies.

For each compenent in the scope of our Group audit, we allocated a materiality that is less than our overall Group materiality. Certain components
were audited to a local statutory audit materiality that was also less than our overali Group materiality. The range of materiality allocared across
components was between £0.1 million and £6.2 million.

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them misstatements identified during cur audit above £350,000 (Group audit) (2016:
£250,000) and €360,000 (Company audit) (2016: €274,250) as well as misstatements below that amount that, in our view, warranted reporting for
qualitative reasons.



Independent Auditor’s Report
to the Members of Grafton Group ple [continued)

Going concern
Tn accordance with ISAs (Ireland) we report as follows:

fopretng Llyg o St

We are required to repott if we have anything material te add or draw attentien to in respect of We have nothing material to add or to draw
the directors’ statement in the financial staternents about whether the directors considered it attention to. Howevert, because not all future
appropriate to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the financial statements events or conditions can be predicted, this

and the ditectors’ identification of any material uncertainties to the Group’s or the Company’s statement is not a guarantee as to the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern over a period of at least twelve months from the date of or the Company’s ability to continue as a going
approval of the financial statements. concern.

We are required to report if the directors’ statement relating to going concern in accordance We have nothing to report.

with Rule 5.8.6R(3) of the Listing Rules of the UK Financial Conduct Authority is materially
inconsistent with our knowledge obtained in the audit.

Reporting on other information

The cther information comprises all of the information in the Annual Report other than the financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon.
The directors are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and,
accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, any form of assurance thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements,our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,consider whether

the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. 1f we identify an apparent material inconsistency or material misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to conclude
whether there js a material misstatement of the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstaternent of this other information, we are required to report that fact. we have nothing to
report based on these responsibilities.

with respect to the Report of the Directors, we also considered whether the disclosures required by the Companies Act 2014 have been included.
Based on the responsibilities described above and our work undertaken in the course of the audit, 1SAs (Ireland}, the Companies Act 2014 (CAl4) and

the Tisting Rules applicable to the Company (Listing Rules) require us to also report certain opinions and matters as described below (required by
[SAs (Ireland) unless otherwise stated).



Report of the Directors

= Inour opinion, based an the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Reportt of the Directors for the year ended
31 December 2017 is consistent with the inancial staternents and has been prepared in accordance with the applicable legal requirements.
(CA14)

* Based on our knowledge and understanding of the Group and Company and their environment cbtained in the course of the audit, we did not
identify any material misstatements in the Report of the Directors.{CA14)

Corporate governance statement
* Inour opinion, based un the work undertaken in the course of the audit of the financial statements,

- the description of the main features of the internal control and risk management systems in relation to the financial reporting process; and

the informartion required by Section 1373(2)(d) of the Companies Act 2014;
included in the Corporate Governance Statement, is consistent with the financial statements and has been prepared in accordance with
secrion 1373(2) of the Companies Act 2014.(CAl4)

+ Based on our knowledge and understanding of the Company and its environment obtained in the course of the audit of the financial
statements, we have not identified material misstatements in the description of the main features of the internal control and risk management
systems In relation to the financial reporting process and the informartion required by section 1373(2)(d) of the Companies Act 2014 included in
the Corporate Governance Statemment. (CA14)

« Inour opinion, based on the work undertaken during the course of the audit of the financial statements, the information required by section
1373(2)(a},(b),{e) and (f) is contained in the Corporate Governance Statement. (CA14)

N

The directors” assessment af the prospects of the Group and of the primdipal nisks inat woulid threaten the solvency or Liquidity of

the Group

We have nothing material to add or to draw attention to regarding:

+ The directers’ confirmation on page 48 of the Annual Report that they have carried out a robust assessment of the principal risks facing the
Group, including those that would threaten its business model, future perfermance, solvency or liquidity.

= The disclosures in the Annual Report that describe those risks and explain how they are being managed or mitigated.

+ The directors” explanation on page 71 of the Annual Report as to how they have assessed the prospects of the Group, over what period they have
done so and why they consider that period to be appropriate, and their statement as te whether they have a reasonable expectation that the
Group will be able to continue in operation and meet its liabilities as they fall due over the period of their assessment, including any related
disclosures drawing attention to any necessary qualifications or assumptions.

we have nothing to report having performed a review of the directors” staternent that they have carried out a robust assessment of the principal
risks facing the Group and the directors’ statement in relation to the longer-term viability of the Group. Our review was substantiaily less in scope
than an audit and only cansisted of making inquiries and considering the directors’ process supporting their statements; checking that the state-
ments are in alignment with the relevant provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code (the “Cede™); and considering whether the staterments
are consistent with the knowledge and understanding of the Group and the Company and their environment obtained in the course of the audit.
(Listing Rules)

Other code provisians

we have nothing to report in respect of our responsibility te report when:

+ The statement given by the directors on page 102 that they consider the Annual Report taken as a whole to be fair,balanced and understandable
and provides the information necessary for the members to assess the Group’s and Company’s position and performance, business medel and
strategy is materially inconsistent with our knowledge of the Group and Company obtained in the course of performing our audit.

+ The section of the Annual Report on pages 73 to 76 describing the work of the Audit and Risk Committee does not appropriately address matters
communicated by us to the Audit Committee.

+ The directors’ statement relating to the Company's compliance with the Code does not properly disclose a departure from a relevant provision
of the Code specified, under the Listing Rules, for review by the auditors.



Independent Auditor’s Report
to the Members of Grafton Group plc (continued]

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities set out on page 102, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the
financial statements in accordance with the applicable framework and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view.

The directors are also responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do sa.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstaterment, whether
due to fraud or ervor, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 18As (Ireland) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are censidered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the TAASA website at:
https:/fwww.iaasa.ie/getmedia/b2389013-1¢f6-458b-gbaf-aon202dcoc3a/Description_of_auditors_responsibilities_for audit.pdf
This description forms part of our auditors’ report.

Use of this report

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the Company's members as a body in accordance witl section 393 of the
Companies Act 2014 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or toany
other person to whom this report {s shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Other required reporting

Companies Act 2074 opinions on other matters
» We have obtained all the information and explanations which we consider necessary for the purposes of our audit.

« Inour epinion the accounting records of rhe Company were sufficient to permit the Company financial statements to be readily and properly
audited.

» The Company Balance Sheet is in agreerpent with the accounting records.

Companies Act 2014 exception reporting

Directors’ remuneration and transactions

Under the Companies Act 2014 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion, the disclosures of directors’ remuneration and transactions
specified by sections 305 to 312 of that Act have not been made. We have no exceptions to repert arising from this responsibility,

Appointment
We were appeinted by the directors on 4 July 2016 to audit the financial staternents for the year ended 31 December 2016 and subsequent financial
periods. The period of total uninterrupted engagement is 2 years, covering the years ended 31 Decernber 2016 to 31 December 2017,

Paul 0"Connor

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Audit Firm
Dublin

12 March 2018



Group Income Statement
For the year ended 31 December 2017

2017

£000
Revenue 2 2,715,830 2,507,276
Operating costs - before exceptional items 3 (2,557,654) (2,372,349}
Property profits B 2,722 4,923
Operating profit - before exceptional items 160,898 139,850
Exceptional items . B 4 - (19,713)
Operating profit 160,898 120,137
Finance expense 7 (7,122) (7,166)
Finance income 7 675 1,276
Profit before tax 154,451 114,247
Income tax charge o o 9 (26,622) (21,128)
Profit after tax for the financial year 127,829 93,119
Profit attributable to:
Owners of the Parent 127,719 93,347
Non-controlling interests - . - 110 {228}
Profit after tax for the financial year . _ 127,829 93,119
Earnings per ordinary share - hasic - i1 53.95p 39.56p
Earnings per ordinary share - diluted 1l 53.80p 39.44p

On behalf of the Board

Gavin Slark David Arnold
Director Director
12 March 2018



Group Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 December 2017

2017 .
forie £'300 qH

Profitafter tax for the financialyear . targam® 9319
Other comprehensive income
Items that are or may be reclassified subsequently to the income statement
Currency translation effects:
- on foreign currency net investments 4,146 20,374
- on foreign currency borrowings designated as net investment hedges - 1,221
Fair value movement on cash flow hedges:
- Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges (202) (461)
- Net change in fair value of cash flow hedges transferred from eguity 336 258
Deferred tax on cash flow hedges o % {30y 26
e azs0_ s
Items that will not be reclassified to the income statement
Remeasurement gain/(loss) on Group defined benefit pension schemes 32 7,438 (13,810)
Deferred tax on Group defined benefit pension schemes - ees) | 2102
T T T T T T e
Total other comprehensive income e U 9710
Total comprehensive income for the financial year 138,448 102,829
Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the Parent 138,338 103,057
Non-controlling interests . . . . ume (28
Total comprehensive income for the financial year 138,448 102,829

On behalf of the Board

Gavin Slark David Arnold
Director Director
12 March 2018



Group Balance Sheet
As at 31 December 2017

2017

£000 :
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Goodwill 12 591,746 566,237
Intangible assets 15 54,340 44,584
Property, plant and equipment 13 504,412 461,660
[nvestment properties 13 22,056 21,749
Deferred tax assets 26 11,867 15,718
Retirement benefit assets 32 1,527 796
Cther financial assets 14 126 125
Total non-current assets . ) _' ’ 1,186,074 1,110,869
Current assets
Properties held for sale 13 5,055 8,407
Inventories 15 328,525 292,681
Trade and other receivables 17 413,095 397,689
Cash and cash equivalents 20 253,659 205,857
Total current assets | —1,000,334 904,634
Total assets o B 2,186,408 2,015,503
EQUITY
Equity share capital 18 8,494 8,449
Share premium account 18 212,167 210,271
Capital redemption reserve 19 621 621
Revaluation reserve 19 13,327 13,507
shares to be issued reserve 19 8,744 8,446
Cash flow hedge reserve 19 {427) (531)
Foreign currency translation reserve 19 77,505 73,359
Retained earnings 858,053 751,842
Treasury shares held 18 _ (3,897) (3,897)
Equity attributable to owners of the Parent - 1,173,587 1,062,067
Nen-controlling interests 19 - 3,122
Total equity - 1,174,587 1,065,189
LIABILITIES
Non-current Liabilities
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 20 315,165 300,426
Provisions 23 21,888 22,385
Retirement benefit obligations 32 25,006 32,081
Derivative financial instruments 22 484 675
Defel_'}'r;g_i _ta:i_l__iahi_lities 26 37,986 36,429
Total non-current liabilities T - - 400,520 391,99
Current liabilities
Interest-bearing loans and burrowings 20 916 1,051
Trade and other payables 24 572,130 523,700
Current income tax liabilitieg 27,613 21,224
Provisions 23 10,633 12343
Total current tiabilities ~ - T 611,292 558,318
Total liabilities T B L,01L,821 950,314
Tatal equity and liabilities o 2,186,408 2,015,503

On behalf of the Board

Gavin Slark David Arnold
Director Director
12 March 2018



Group Cash Flow Statement

For the year ended 31 December 2017

N 2017 -
£'000 &
Profit before taxation 154,451 114,247
Finance income 7 (675) (1,276
Finance expense - L v 7,122 7,166
Operating profit - i ' 160,898 120,137
Depreciation 13 39,455 34,929
Amertisation of intangible assets 15 4,032 3,121
Share-based payments charge 33 4,908 3,232
Movement in provisions 23 (3,094} 5,802
Asset impairment and fair value {gains)/losses 329 4,383
(Profit)/loss on sale of property, plant and equipment (737) 19
Property profit (2,722) {4,923)
Loss on sale of Group businesses 3 392
Contributions to pension schemes in excess of IAS 19 charge {1,840) {1,516)
Decrease in working capital - 27 9,506 3,010
Cash generated from operations "~ 210,738 168,586
Interest paid (6,438) (6,936)
Income taxes paid - - (18,157} ] {16,259}
Cash flows from operating activities _ o _ 186,143 145,381
Investing activities
Inflows
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 3,100 1,740
Procecds from sale of properties held for sale 5,708 8,251
Proceeds from sale of Group businesses (net} 512 881
Interest received ) 7 7 675 1,276
o i - ~ _esos 12,148
Outflows - T B T h
Acquisition of subsidiary undertakings and businesses (net of cash acquired) 28 (37,732) (11,859)
Investment in intangible assets - computer software 15 (7,687) (10,343}
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 13 (73,729) {50,101}
= == -(119,1482 (72,3037}
Cash flows from investing activities T T (1e9a33) (e0,Iss,
Financing activities
Inflows
Proceeds from the issue of share capital 1,941 505
Proceeds from borrowings 34,355 77,842
i' T B B T - - 36,296 78,347
Outflows ’
Repayment of borrowings (31,439) (145,577)
Dividends paid 10 (33,708) {30,048)
Acquiisition of nen-contralling interest (2,630) -
Payment on finance lease liabilities B . . (439) (409)
- - - ' - - o (68,216) (176,034}
Cash flows from financing activities _ . (31,920} (97,687}
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 45,070 (12,461)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 205,857 211,565
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held . - 2,732 6753
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 253,659 205,857
Cash and cash equivalents are hroken down as follows:
Cash at bank and short-term deposits 253,659 205,857




Group Statement of Changes in Equity
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Group Statement of Changes in Equity [continued)
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Notes to the Group Financial Statements

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Statement of Compliance

The consolidated financial statements of Grafton Group pic have
been prepared in accordance with Internatienal Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union (EU).

The IFRSs applied in these financial statements were those effective for
accounting periods ending on 31 December 2017.

New Standards, Amendments and Interpretations

No new standards, amendments ot interpretations, effective for the first
time for the financial year beginning on or after 1 January 2017, have had
a material impact on the group or parent company.

New Standards, Amendments and Interpretations not yet adopted
A number of new standards and amendments to standards and
interpretations are effective for annual periods beginning after 1
January 2017,and have not been applied in preparing these financial
statements, None of these are expected to have a significant effect on
the financial statements of the Group or parent company, except for the
following:

IFRS 9, 'Financial instruments’, (effective date: Grafton Group financial
year beginning 1 January 2018). This standard addresses the
classification, measurement and recognition of financial assets and
financial labilities. Tt replaces the guidance in [AS 39 that relates to the

classification and measurement of financial instruments.

IFRS 9 refains but simplifies the mixed measurement model and
establishes three primary measurement categories for financial assets:
amortised cost; fair value through other comprehensive income;

and fair value through profit or loss. The basis of classification
depends on the entity’s business model and the contractual cash flow
characteristics of the financial assel. Investments in equity instruments
are required to be measured at¢ fair value through profit or loss with
the irrevocable option at inception to present changes in fair value

in other comprchensive income, not recycling. An expected credit
losses model replaces the incurred loss impairment model used in TAS
29. For financial liabilities, there are no changes to classification and
measurement, except for the recognition of changes in own credit risk
in other comprehensive incame, for liabilities designated at fair value
through profit or loss.

TFRS 9 relaxes the requirements for hedge effectiveness by replacing the
bright-line hedge effectiveness tests. Te qualify for hedge accounting,

it requires an econoemnic relationship between the hedged item and
hedging instrument,and for the ‘hedged ratio’ to be the same as the

one that management actually uses for risk management purposes.
Contemporaneous decumencation is still required, but it {s different
from that currently prepared under [AS 39. There is an accounting
policy choice to continue to account for all hedges under IAS 39.

The Group is working towards the implementation of IFRSgon 1
January 2018. 1t anticipates that the classification and measurement
basis for its financial assets and lizbilities will be largely unchanged

by adeption of TFRS 9,and expects to take the accounting policy choice
to continue to account for all hedges under 1AS 39. The main impact

of adopting IFRS 9 is likely to arise from the implementation of the
expected loss model. The Group's initial assessment is that there will be
no material impact on adeption of the standard.

IFRS 15, ‘Revenue from contracts with customers’ (effective date: Graften
Group financial year beginning 1 January 2018). This standard deals
with revenue recognition and establishes principles for reporting
useful information te users of financial statements about the nature,
amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from
an entity’s contracts with customers. Revenue is recognised when a
customer obtains control of a good or service and thus has the ability to
direct the use and obtain the benefits from the good or service. Variable
consideration is included in the transaction price if it is highly probable
that there will be no significant reversal of the cumulative revenue
recognized when the uncertainty is resolved.

The standard teplaces IAS 18 ‘Revenue’ and 1AS 11 ‘Construction
contracts’ and related interpretations, The Group is woiking towards
the implementation of IFRS 15 on 1 January 2018 and has carried out
a review of existing contractual arrangements as part of this process,
Additional disclosures will be required under IFRS 15. The Directors
anticipate there will be no material impact for the Group's revenue

streams.

IFRS 16, 'Leases {effective date: Graften Group financial year beginning
1 January 2019). This standard addresses the definition of a lease,
recognition and measurement of leases and establishes principles for
reporting useful information te users of financial statements about the
leasing activities of both lessees and lessors. A key change arising from
TFRS$ 16 is that most operating leases will be accounted for on balance
sheet for lessees. The standard replaces TAS 17 ‘Leases’, and related
interpretations.

The distinction between operating leases (off balance sheet} and finance
leases {en balance sheet) is removed for lease accounting. The principal
difference to lease accounting at present under 1A517 is the requirement
to bring almost all leases onto the balance sheet except for leases with

a term of less than 12 months and leases of low value assets. The Group
expects to adopt IFRS16 by applying the modified retrospective approach
and to recognise a lease liability and corresponding right of use asset.
The right of use asset is initially measured at cost and subsequently
measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses,
adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liability. The lease liability
is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are
not paid as of that date, Subsequently, the lease liability is adjusted for
interest and lease payments, as well as the impact of lease modifications,
arnongst others.,



Notes to the Group Financial Statements (continued)

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

The standard is expected to have a material impact on the Group with the
recognition of lease liabilities and right of use assets. As cutlined in note
31, the total operating lease commitments of the Group at 31 December
2017 is £700.5 million (2016: £649.2 million).

111 2017, the operating lease expense recognised in the income statement
was £68.7 million (2016: £59.6 million). In future periods,the operating
lease charge will be replaced by a depreciation charge on the right of use
asset recognised in operating expenses and an interest cost on the lease
liability recognised in finance costs.

The Group expects to adept IFRS 16 by applying the modified
retrospective application as permitted by the standard.

The directors are in the process of reviewing contracts to identify lease
arrangements that would need to be recognised under IFRS 16.

Basis of Preparation

The consolidated Financial Statements are presented in sterling, rounded
to the nearest thousand and are prepared on a going concern basis. The
Statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention,

as modified by the previous revaluation of fand and buildings, the
measurement at fait value of share-based payments at initial date of
award and the measurement at fair value of all derivative financial
instruments. The carrying values of recognised assets and liabilities that
are fair value hedged are adjusted to record changes in the fair values
attributable to the risks that are being hedged.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance
with IFRS as adopted by the EU requires management te make certain
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting
policies and the reported amount of assets, liabilities,income and
expense. Management belicves that the estimates and assumptions
made are reasonable based on the information available te it at the time
that those estimates and assumptions are made, The areas invelving a
high degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant in relation to the consolidated financial
statements are set out in Note 34 and relate primarily to provisions fer
[iabilities including onerous [ease provisions, valuation of inventory,
accounting for defined benefit pension schemes, goodwill impairment,
fair value of investment properties, rebate income and current taxation.

Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements
of the Company and all subsidiaries drawn up to 31 December each year
together with the Group's interest in joint ventures.

The financial year-end of the Group’s subsidiaries and joint venture are

coterminous.

Subsidiaries

The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated
financial statements from the date on which centrol is obtained and
they cease to be consolidated from the date on which the Group loses
control. The definition of control is when the Group is exposed to, or has
rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has
the ability to affect these returns through its power over the entity.

Transactions Eliminated on Consolidation

Intra-group balances and transactions,and any unrealised gains and
income and expenses arising from such transactions, are eliminated

in preparing the consolidated financial staternents. Transactions with
joint ventures and associates are simnilarly eliminated to the extent of
the Group’s interest in the equity. Unrealised losses are eliminated in
the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no
evidence of impairment.

Revenue Recagnition

Revenue comprises the fair value of consideration receivable for goods
and services supplied to external customers in the ordinary course of
the Group's activities and excludes inter-company revenue and value
added tax.

In general, revenue is recognised to the extent that it is subject to
reliable measuremnent, that it is probable that economic benefits

will flow to the Group and that the significant risks and rewards of
ownership have passed to the buyer. In the case of sales uf goods, this
generally arises when products have either been delivered to or collected
by a customer and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the
acceptance of the products. Revenues are recorded based on the price
specified in the sales invoices/contracts net of actual and estimated
returns and any discounts granted.

Segment Reporting

An operating segment is a compoenent of the Group that engages in
business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses
for which discrete financial information is available, including revenues
and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group’s other
components. All operating segments’ operating results are reviewed
regularly by the Group's Chief Operating Decision Maker, being the
Board, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance.

Foreign Currency Translation

Functional and Presentation Currency

The consolidated financial statements are presented in sterling. Items
included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities
are measured using its functional currency, being the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates which
is primarily euro and sterling. The functional currency of the parent
COMPANY 1§ eUro.



1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
lcontinued]

Transactiens and Balances

Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rate of exchange
ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated to the relevant
functional currency at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet
date. All currency translatien differences on monetary assets and
liabilities are taken to the income statement except for the effective
portion designated as a hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation
which is recognised in other comprehensive income.

Foreign Operations

The assets and liabilities of foreign cperations, including geodwill
arising on consolidation, are translated to sterling at the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date. Results and cash flows
of subsidiaries which do not have sterling as their functional currency
are translated into sterling at average exchange rates for the year and
the related balance sheets are translated at the rates of exchange ruling
at the balance sheet date. Foreign exchange movements arising on
translation of the net investinent in a foreign operation, including
those arising on long term intra-Group loans deemed to be quasi
equity in nature, are recognised directly in other comprehensive
income, in the currency translation reserve. The portion of exchange
gains or losses on foreign currency borrowings or derivatives used to
provide a hedge against a net investment in a foreign operation that

is designated as a hedge of those investments is recognised directly in
other comprehensive income to the extent that they are determined to
be effective. The ineflective portion is recognised immediately in the
income statement,

Movements since 1 January 2004, the date of transition to [FRS, are
recognised in the currency translation reserve and are reclassified to the

income statement on disposal of the related business.

Share Capital and Share Premium
The company's share capital and share premium has been translated
from eure into sterling at historic rates of exchange at the dates of

transactions.

Exceptional ltems and Non-Recurring ftems

The Group has adopted a policy in relation to its income statement
which seeks to highlight significant items within the Group’s results.
Such items may include significant restructuring and onerous lease
provisions, profit or loss on disposal or termination of operations,
litigation costs and settlements and impairment of assets, Judgement is
used by the Group in assessing the particular items which, by virtue of
their scale and nature, should be disclosed in the income statement o
related notes. Where exceptional items are not significant for separate
presentation, they are disclosed as non-recurring items.

Property profit is disclosed as a separate line item on the face of the
Income Statement. Property profit arises when the proceeds, less costs
to sell, exceed the carrying value of the disposed property.

Rebate Arrangements

Rebate arrangements are a common component of supplier agreements
in the merchanting industry. As part of its on-going business activitles,
Grafton Group ple has entered inte such arrangements with a
significant number of its suppliers.

Supplier rebates received and receivable in respect of goods which have
been sold to the Group’s customers are deducted from cost of sales in
the income statement. Where goods on which rebate has been earned
remain in inventory at the year-end, an appropriate rebate deduction

is made from the gross balance sheet carrying value of that inventory.
The rebate deduction is only released to the income statement when the
gouods are ultimately sold.

At the year-end the balance sheet includes a balance representing
unpaid amounts receivable from suppliers.

Finance Expense

Finance expense cornprises interest payable on borrowings caleulated
using the effective interest rate method, net foreign exchange losses on
moenetary items and gains and losses on hedging instruments that are
recognised in the income statement. The net finance cost of pension
scheme obligations is recognised as a finance expense in the income
statement. The interest expense component of finance lease payments
is recognised in the income statement using the effective interest rate
method. Where appropriate the fair value adjustment to hedged items
that are the subject of a fair value hedge is included as a finance expense
or finance income. Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are
recognised in the income statement as incurred using the effective
interest rate method.

finance income

Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested {including
available-for-sale financial assets), dividend income, gains on the
disposal of available-for-sale inancial assets, and gains on hedging
instruments that are recognised in profit or loss. The net expected
return on defined benefit pension scheme plan assets is recognised as
finance income in the income statement. Interest income is recognised
in the income statement as it accrues using the effective interest rate
method.



Notes to the Group Financial Statements (continued]

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

Business Combinations

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method as at the acquisition date, which is the date on which control
is transferred to the Group. Control is defined as when the Group is
exposed to, or has rights 1o, variable returns from irs involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect these returns through its power
over the entity.

The Group measures goodwill at the acquisition date as:
» the fair value of the consideration transferred; plus

- the recognised amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree; plus

« if the business combination is achieved in stages, the fair value of the
existing equity interest in the acquiree; less

« the net recognised amount (generzally fair value) of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

Wwhen the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognised
immediately in the income statement.

The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to
the settlement of the pre-existing relationships. Such amounts are
generally recognised in the income statement.

Costs related to the acquisition, other than those associated with the
issue of debt or equity securities, that the Group incurs in connection
with a business combination are expensed as incurred.

Any contingent consideration payable is recognised at fair value ar the
acquisition date. If the contingent consideration is classified as equity,
it is not re-measured and settlement is accounted for within equity.
Otherwise, subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent
consideration are recognised in the income statement.

Goodwill

Goodwill is the excess of the consideration paid over the fair value of
the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities in a business
combination and relates to assets which are not capable of being
individually identified and separately recognised.

Goodwill acquired is allocated, at acquisition date, to the groups of Cash
Generating Units (CGU's) expected to benefit from synergies related

to the acquisition. Where management reassesses its groups of CGU's,
goadwill is reallocated on a relative value basis.

Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. The
CGU’s represent the lowest level within the Group at which goodwill is
monitored for internal management purposes. These units are no larger
than the operating segments determined in accordance with [FRS 8;
Operating Segments.

Goodwill is subject to impairment testing on an annual basis and at any
time during the year if an indicator of impairment exists.

where the recoverable amount of a cash generating unit is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. Impairment losses
arising in respect of goodwill are not reversed once recognised.

where a subsidiary is seld, any goodwill arising on acquisition, net of
any impairments, is included in determining the profit or loss arising on
disposal.

Intangible Assets ([Computer Software)

Acquired computer software, including computer software which is not
an integrated part of an item of computer hardware, is stated at cost less
any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Cost comptises of purchase price and any other directly attributable
costs.

Computer software is recognised if it meets the following criteria:
« An asset can be separately identified;

» 1t is probable that the asset created will generate future economic
benefits;

= The development cost of the asset can be measured reliably;

e The completion and implementation of the asset is technically
feasible;

1t is probable that the expected [uture eeonumnic benefits that arc
attributable to the asset will flow to the entity; and

The cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

Costs relating to the development of computer software for internal
use are capitalised once the recognition criteria outlined above are met.
Computer software is amortised over its expected useful life, which
ranges from 4 to 10 years, by charging equal instalments to the income
statement from the date the assets are ready for use.

Intangible Assets [Gther than Goodwill and Computer Software)
An intangible asset, other than goodwill and computer software, is
recagnised to the extent that it is probable that the expected future
economic benefits attributable to the asset will flow to the Group
and that its fair value can be measured. The asset is deemed to be
identifiable when it is separable {i.e.capable of being divided from
the entity and sold, transferred, licensed, rented or exchanged, either
individualiy or together with a related contract, asset or liability) or
when it arises from contractual or other legal rights, regardless of
whether those rights are transferable or separable from the Group or
from other rights and obligations.

Intangible assets acquired as part of a business combination are
capitalised separately from goodwill at fair value on the date of
acquisition if the intangible asset meets the definition of an asset and
the fair value can be reliably measured.



1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

Intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. The carrying value of
intangible assets is reviewed for impairment at each reporting date

and is also subject to impairment testing when events or changes in
cireumstances indicate that the carrying values may not be recoverable.

Intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis. [n general, finite
life intangible assets are amottised over perieds ranging from one to
twenty years, depending on the nature of the intangible asset.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost or deemed cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. The Group's freehold
properties in Ireland were revalued to fair value in 1998 and are
measured on the basis of deemed cost being the revalued amount at the
date of that revaluation less accumulated depreciation. The valuations
were deemed to be cost for the purposes of transition to [FRS as adopted
by the EU.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated over their useful
economic life en a straight line basis at the following rates:

Freehold buildings

Freehold land
Leasehold huildings

_ 50-100 years L
Naot depreciated

Lease te_rrn or Pgtg 100 years

Plant and machinery 5-20 years
Motor vehicles 5-10 years —
Plant hire equipment 4-10years o

The residual value and useful lives of property, plant and equipment are
reviewed and adjusted if appropriate at each balance sheet date.

On disposal of property, plant and equipment, the cost and related
accumulated depreciation and impairments are removed from the
balance sheet and the net amount, less any proceeds, is taken to the

income statement.

The carrying amounts of the Group's property, plant and equipment are
reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine whether there is any
indication of impairment. An impajrment loss is recognised whenever
the carrying amount of an asset or its cash generation unit exceeds its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the income
statement unless the asset is recorded at a revalued amount in which
case it ig firstly dealt with through the revaluation reserve relating to
that asset with any residual amount being transferred to the income
statement.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition
of the asset. Subsequent costs are included in an asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when

it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of replacing the item can be reliably
measured. All other repair and maintenance costs are charged to

the income statement during the financial period in which they are

incurred.

Investment Praoperties
Investment property is initially measured at cost and subsequently at
fair value with any change therein recognised in profit or loss.

Any gain or loss on disposal of investment property (calculated as the
difference between the net proceeds from disposal and the carrying
amount of the item) is recognised in profit or loss. When investment
property that was previously classified as property, plant and equipment
is sold, any related amount inciuded in the revaluation reserve is
transferred to retained earnings.

when the use of a property changes from owner occupied or held for
sale to investment property, the property is remeasured to fair value and
reclassified accordingly. Any gain on this remeasurement is recognised
in profit or loss to the extent that it reverses a previous impairment loss
on the specific property, with any remaining gain recognised in Other
Comprehensive Income and presented in the revaluation reserve. Any

loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Assets Held for Sale

Non-current assets that are expected to be recovered principally
through sale rather than continuing use and meet the IFRS 5 criteria are
classified as held for sale. These assets are shown in the balance sheet

at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less any costs to sell.
Impairment losses on initial classification as non-current assets held for
sale and subsequent gains or losses on re-measurement are recognised

in the income statement.

Investments

Investments, cther than investments in joint ventures and associates,
are stated in the balance sheet at fair value. All other investments are
classified as available for sale with changes in fair value recognised
directly in other comprehensive income until the investment is
disposed of or is determined to be impaired, at which time the
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is brought into the income staterment for the pericd. All items
recognised in the income statement relating to investments, other
than investments in juint ventures and associates, are reported as non-

operating items.



Notes to the Group Financial Statements (continued)

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

Where investments are actively traded in organised financial markets,
fair value is determined by reference to Stock Exchange quoted market
bid prices at the close of business on the balance sheet date. Where it
is impracticable to determine fair value in accordance with IFRS 13,
unguoted equity investments are recorded at historical cost and are
included within financial assets on this basis in the Group balance
sheet. They are assessed for impairment annually.

Leases

Assets held under finance leases, which are leases where substantially
zll the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset have transferred te
the Group and hire purchase contracts are capitalised in the balance
sheet and are depreciated over the shorter of useful life and lease term
with any impairment being recognised in accumulated depreciation.
Leased assets are recorded at an amount equal to the lower of its fair
value and the present value of the minimurmn lease payments at the
inception of finance leases. The capital elements of future obligations
under leases and hire purchase contracts are included in liabilities

in the balance sheet and analysed between current and non-current
amounts. The interest elements of the obligations are charged to the
income statement over the periods of the leases and hire purchase
contracts so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability.

Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership are classified as operating leases. Operating lease rentals are
charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease
term. Lease incentives are recognised over the lease term on a straight
line basis as a reduction of the lease expense.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
is based on the first-in, first-out principle and includes all expenditure
incurred in acquiring the inventories and bringing them to their
present location and condition. Raw materials are valued on the basis of
purchase cost on a first-in, (irst-out basis. In the case of finished goods
and work-in-progress, cost includes direct materials, direct labour and
atiributable overheads based on normal operating capacity and excludes
borrowing costs. Net realisable value is the estimated proceeds of sale
less all further costs to completion and less all costs to be incurred in
marketing, selling and distribution.

Trade and Other Receivables and Payables

Trade and other receivables and payables are stated at amortised cost
(less any impairment losses), which approximates to fair value given the
short-term nature of these assets and liabilities.

Trade receivables are carried at original invoice amount tess an
allowance for potentially uncollectable debts. Provision is made when
there is objective evidence that the Group will not be in a position to

collect all of its receivables when they fall due. Bad debts are written-off
in the income statement on identification.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances held for the
purposes of meeting short-term cash commitments and money market
instruments which are readily convertible to a known amount of cash.
where money market instruments are categorised as cash equivalents,
the related balances have an original maturity of three months or less.
In addition, for the purposes of the Group cash flow statement, bank
overdrafts are netted against cash and cash equivalents where the
overdrafts are repayable on demand and form an integral part of cash
management. Bank overdrafts are included within current interest-
bearing loans and borrowings in the Group balance sheet.

Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedging Activities
Derivative financial instruments, principally interest rate and currency
swaps, are used in certain circumstances to hedge the Group's exposure
to foreign exchange and interest rate risks arising from its financing
activities.

Derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value
and thereafter are subsequently re-measured at their fair value. Fair
value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability
settled, between knowledgeable willing parties in an arm’s length
transaction. The fair value of interest rate and currency swaps is the
estimared amount Lhal e Group would receive or pay to terminate the
swap at the balance sheet date, taking into account current interest and
currency exchange rates and the current creditworthiness of the swap
counterparties.

The method of recognising the resuiting gain or {oss on re-measurement
to fair value depends on whether the derivative is designated as a
hedging instrument. Wherte derivatives are not designated or do not
fulfil the criteria for hedge accounting, changes in fair values are
reported in the income statement. Where derivatives qualify for hedge
accounting, recognition of the resulting gains or losses depends on

the nature of the item being hedged. The Group designates certain
derivatives for varicus purposes in hedge relarionships in one or more of
the follewing types of relationships:

(i) Fair value hedge: Hedges of the fair value of recognised liabilities;

(ii) Cash flow hedge: Hedges of a particular risk associated with a highly
probable forecast transaction; or

{iii) Net investment hedge: Hedges of a net investment in a foreign
operation.



1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(continued]

The Group documents at the inception of the transaction the
relationship between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well
as its risk management objectives and strategy for undertaking various
hedging transactions. The Group also documents its assessment, both
at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives
that are used in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting
changes in fair values or cash flows of hedged items.

{i] Fair Yalue Hedge

Any gain or loss stemming from the re-measurement of the hedging
instrument to fair value is reported in the income statement. In
addition, any gain or loss on the hedged item which is attributable to the
falr value movement in the hedged risk is adjusted against the carrying
amount of the hedged item and reflected in the income statement.

Where a derivative financial instrument is used to economically hedge
the foreign exchange exposure of a recognised monetary asset or
liability, hedge accounting is not applied and any gain or loss accruing
on the hedging instrument is recognised as finance income or expense
in the income statement,

If the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, hedge
accounting ceases and the adjustment to the carrying amount of a
hedged item for which the effective interest methed is used is amortised
to profit or loss aver the period to maturity.

{ii) Cash Flow Hedges

The effective part of any gain or loss on the derivative financial
instrument is recognised in other comprehensive income and presented
in the cash flow hedge reserve in equity with the ineffective portion
being reported as finance expense or income in the income statement.
If a hedge of a forecasted transaction subsequently results in the
recognition of a financial asset or a financial liability, the associated
gains and losses that were recognised in other comprehensive income
are reclassified into profit or loss in the same peried or periods during
which the asset acquired or Hability assumed affects profit or loss.

For cash flow hedges, other than those covered by the preceding
statements, the associated cumulative gain or loss is removed from other
comprehensive income and recognised in the income statermnent in the
same period or periods during which the hedged forecast transaction
affects profit or loss. The inetfective part of any gain or loss is recognised

immediately in the income statement.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when a hedging instrument
expires ot is sold, terminated or exercised, or no longer qualifies for
hedge accounting. The cumulative gain o1 loss at that point remains
in equity and is recognised in accordance with the above policy
when the transaction occurs. If a hedged transaction is no Jonger
expected to occur, the net cumulative gain or loss recognised in other

comprehensive income is transferred to the inconie statement in the

period.

[iii) Hedge of Net Investment in Fereign Operation

Any gain or foss on the hedging instrument relating to the effective
portion of the hedge is recognised in other comprehensive income and
presented in the foreign currency translation reserve in equity. The

gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately
in the income statement within finance income or finance expense.
Cumulative gains and losses remain in equity until disposal or partial
disposal of the net investment in the foreign operation at which point
the related differences are reclassified to the income statement as part of
the overall gain or loss on sale.

Interest-Bearing Loans and Borrowings

All loans and borrowings are initially recorded at fair value, net

of related transaction costs. After initial recognition, current and
non-current interest-bearing loans and borrowings are measured at
amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds {net of transaction
costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the income statement
over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest rate
method. Amortised cost includes any issue costs and any discount or
premium on settlement. Borrowings are classified as current liabiliries
urless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least twelve months after the balance sheet date.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as
transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that some
or all of the facility will be drawn dewn. In this case, the fee is deferred
until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it
is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is
capitalised as a pre-payment for liquidity services and amortised over
the period of the facility to which it relates.

Provisions

A provision is recognised on a discounted basis when the Group hasa
present (either legal or constructive) ebligation as a result of a past event
and it is probable that a transfer of economic benefits will be required

to settle the obligations and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount required to settle the obligation. A provision for restructuring

is recognised when the Group has approved a restructuring plan and

the restructuring has commenced. A provision for onerous contracts is
recognised when the expected benefits to be derived by the Group frem a
contract are lower than the unavoidzble costs of meeting its obligations
under the contract. The provision is measured at the lower of the
present value of the expected cost of terminating the contract and the
present value of the expected net cost of continuing with the contract.
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1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
{continued]

Retirement Benefit Obligations

Obligations to the defined contribution pension plans are recognised
as an expense in the income statement as service is received from the
relevant employees. The Group has no legal or constructive obligation
to pay further contributions in the event that these plans do not hold
sufficient assets to provide retirement benefits.

The Group operates a number of defined benefit pension schemes which
require contributions to be made to separately administered funds. The
Group's net obligation in respect of defined benefit pension schemes is
calculated separately for each plan by estimating the amount of future
benefits that employees have earned in return for their service in the
current and prior periods. That benefit is discounted to determine

its present value, and the fair value of any plan asset is deducted.

The discount rate employed in determining the present value of the
schemes’ liabilities is determined by reference to market yields at the
balance sheet date on high quality corporate bonds for a term consistent
with the currency and term of the associated post-employment benefit
obligations.

The net surplus or deficit arising in the Group’s defined benefit pension
schemes are shown within either non-current assets or liabilities on
the face of the Group Balance Sheet. The deferred tax impact of pension
scheme surpluses and deficits is disclosed separately within deferred tax
assets or liabilities as appropriate. The Group recognises actuarial gains
and losses immediately in other comprehensive income.

Any increase in the present value of the plans’ liabilities expected to
arise from employee service during the period is charged to operating
profit. The Group determines net interest expense/{income) on the net
defined benefit liability/asset) for the period by applying the discount
rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation at the beginning

of the pericd. Differences between the income recognised based on

the discount rate and the actual return on plan assets, together with

the effect of changes in the current or prior assumptions underlying
the liabilities are recognised in other comprehensive income. When
the benefits of a defined benefit plan are improved, the portion of the
increased benefit relating to past setvice by employees is recognised asa
past service cost in the income statement at the earlier of the date when
the plan amendment occurs and when the related restructuring costs
are recognised. To the exterut that the benefits vest immediately, the
expense 1s recognised immediately in the income statement.

Share-Based Payment Transactions

The 2011 Long-Term Incentive Plan {LTIP), the 1999 Grafton Group
Share Scheme for Senior Executives and the SAYE Scheme for UK
employees should enable employees to acquire shares in the Company
subject to the conditions of these schemes. New units are issted to
satisfy obligations under the 1999 Grafton Group Share Scheme and
the SAYE scheme. Entitlements under the LTIP may be satisfied by the

issue of units or by a market purchase of units. The fair value of share
entitlements at the grant date is recognised as an employee expense
in the income statement over the vesting period with a correspending
increase in equity. The fair value is determined by an external valuer
using a binomial medel. Share entitlements granted by the Company
are subject to certain non-market based vesting conditions. Non-market
vesting conditions are not taken into account when estimating the
fair value of entitlements as at the grant date. The expense for share
entitlements shown in the income statement is adjusted to reflect the
number of awards for which the related non-market based vesting
conditions are expected to be met, such that the amount ultimately
recognised as an expense is based on the number of awards that meet
the related non-market based vesting conditions at the vesting date.

The proceeds received by the Company on the vesting of share
entitlements are credited to share capital and share premium when the
share entitlements are converted or issued.

Income Tax
Income tax in the income statement represents the sum of current tax
and deferred tax.

Income tax is recognised in the income statement except to the extent
that it relates to items recognised directly in other comprehensive
income.

Ccurrent tax is based v taxable profit and represents the expected tax
payable for the year. Taxable profit differs frem net prefit as reported

in the income statement because it excludes items of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further
excludes certain items that are not tax deductible including property
depreciation. The Group's liability for curvent rax is calculated using
rates that have been enacted or substantially enacted at the balance
sheet date. The Group's income tax charge reflects various allowances
and reliefs and planning opportunities available in the tax jurisdictions
in which the Group operates. The determination of the Group’s charge
for income tax in the income statement requires estimates to be made,
on the basis of professional advice, in relation to certain matters where
the ultimate outcome may not be certain and where an extended period
may be required before such marters are determined. The estimates

for income tax included in the financial statements are considered
appropriate bur no assurance £an be given that rhe final determination
of these matters will ot be materially different to the estimates
included in the financial statements.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences berween the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation
purposes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates thar are expected to apply in the year when the asset is realised
or the liability is settled based on rates that have been enacted or
substantially enacted at the balance sheet date.



1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised for the following
temporary differences:
+ Geodwill that is not deductible for tax purposes;

.

Temporary differences arising from the initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at
the time of the transaction,affects neither the accounting profit or
taxable profit or loss; and

« Temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries
in which case deferred tax is only recognised to the extent that it is
probable thar the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance
sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profit would be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be utilised,

Share Capital

Ordinary Shares

Otdinary shares arc classified as equity. Incremental costs directly
attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are recognised as a deduction
from equity, net of any tax effects.

Repurchase of Share Capital
when share capital recognised as equity is purchased, the amount of the
consideration paid, including directly attributable costs, is recognised as

a change in equity.

Dividends

Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised as a liability in the Group's
financial statements in the period in which they are declared by the
Company. In the case of interim dividends, these are considered to be
declared when they are paid. In the case of final dividends these arc
declared when authorised by the shareholders in General Meeting.

Earnings per Share

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for
its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit or loss
attributable to ordinary sharehelders of the Company by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares cutstanding during the period,
adjusted for treasury shares held. Diluted EPS is calculated by dividing
the profit or luss attributable o ordinary shareholders by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding adjusted for treasury
shares held and for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares
related to employee share schemes.

2. Segment Information

IFRS 8 Operating Segments requires operating segments to be identified
on the basis of internal reports that are regularly reviewed by the

Chief Operating Decision Maker, being the Board, in order to allocate
resources to the segments and to assess their performance. Three
reportable segments have been identified, Merchanting, Retailing and
Manufacturing.

The Merchanting segment is engaged in the distribution of building
and plumbing materials primarily to professional trades people engaged
in residential repair, maintenance and improvement projects and also
in residentia! and other new build construetion from a network of 649
branches in Britain, Ireland, the Netherlands and Belgium.

The aggregation of operating segments into the Merchanting segment
reflects, in the opinicn of management, the similar econemic
characteristics within each of these segments as well as the similar
products and services offered and supplied and the classes of customers.
This is assessed by reference to gross margins and long-term growth
rates of the segments.

The Retailing segment operates treland's largest DIY and home
improvement business from a network of 35 stores that supply mainly
retail customers with a wide range of products for DIY and for the home
and garden.

The Manufacturing segment comprises the largest manufacturer of dry
mortar in Britain operating from 10 plants and a plastics manufacturing

business in freland.

Information regarding the results of each operating segment is included
in this note. Performance is measured based on segment operating
profit/{loss) as included in the internal management reports that are
reviewed by the Group’s Chief Operating Decision Maker. Segment
operating profit is used to measure performance as such information is

the most relevant in evaluating the results of the Group's segments.

Segment results, assets and liabilities include all items directly
attributable tv a segment.

Segment capital expenditure is the total amount incurred during the
period to acquire segment assets that are expected to be used for more
than one accounting period.
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2. Segment Information (continued]

Group Income Statement

Continuing operations - Year Ended 31 December

Merchanting Retailing Manutacturing Group

2017 2017 s 2017 2017 St

£7000 S £000 N £:600 (% £000 [N
Segment revenue 2,469,350 2,290,568 180,391 157,090 78,009 74,358 2,727,750 2,522,016
Less: Inter-segment revenue - - - - (11,920) (14,740) (11,920) {14,740)

B 2,469,350 2,290,568 180,391 157,090 66,089 59,618 2,715,830 2,507,276
Segment operating profit 148,877 130,264 11,179 7,304 15,125 12,149 175,181 149,717
Property profits 2,722 4,923 - - - - 2,722 4,923
Amortisation of intangible assets arising on
acquisitions (2,756) (2,198) - - - - {2,756) (2,198)
Exceptional items (Note 4) o - (16,933} - {2,020} - - - (18,953}
Segment operating profit after exceptional
and non-recurring items 148,843 116,056 11,179 5,284 15,125 12,149 175,147 133,489
Group
2017
E 0G0

Reconciliation to consolidated operating profit
Segment operating profit after non-recurring items 175,147 123,489
Central activities (14,249} {12,592)
Central activities - exceptional items (Note 4) - (7602)
Operating profit ' 160,898 120,137
Finance expense (7,122) (7,166}
Finance income o 675 1,276
Profit before tax , 154,451 114,247
Income tax (26,622) (21,128)

Profit after tax for the financial year

127,829 93,115




2. Segment Information (continued)

Group Balance Sheet

Cantinuing aperations - as at 31 December

Merchanting Retailing Manufacturing Group

2017 B 2017 . 2017 . 2017

£ 000 £000 Co £000 0 €000 L
Segment assets 1,816,532 1,695,668 59,348 55570 43,349 41,769 1,919,229 1,793,007
Reconciliation of total assets
Deferred tax assets 11,867 15,718
Retirement benefit assets 1,527 796
Other financial assets 126 125
Cash and cash equivalents . 253,659 205857
Total assets in the Group balance sheet 2,186,408 2,015,503

Centinuing operations ~ as at 31 December
Merchanting Retaiting Manufacturing Group

2017 p 2017 (. 2017 .o 2017 ‘

£000 st £°000 (I £000 [ £000 :
Segment liabilities 545,941 502,871 43,657 41,451 15,053 14,106 604,651 558,428
Reconciliation of total liabilities
Interest bearing leans and borrowings {current
and non-current) 316,081 301,477
Retirement benefit obligations 25,006 32,081
Deferred tax tiabilities 37,986 36,429
Current tax liabilities 27,613 21,224
Derivative financial instruments _ . 484 = 675
Total liabilities in the Group balance sheet 1,011,521 950,314
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2, Segment Information [continued)

Other Segment Information

Contrnuing eperations - Year Ended 31 December

Merchanting Retailing Manufacturing Group

2017 2017 e 2017 Ll 2017 15

£000 £ 000 B £000 b €000 i
Capital expenditure 67,087 44,937 3,491 2,790 3,151 2,374 73,729 50,101
Lnvestment in intangible assets 7,628 10,343 - - 59 - 7,687 10,343
Intangible assets acquired ) "~ 5,508 2,815 - - - - 5,508 2,815
Depreciation 34,462 29,931 2,635 2,661 2,358 2,337 39,455 34,929
Amortisation of intangible assets 4,030 3,121 B - 2 - 4,032 “3,121

Geographic Analysis

The following is a geographic analysis of the information presented above. The analysis of geographic revenue below is the same whether it is based

on location of assets or customers.

Belgium Ireland* Netheriands UK Group
2017 A 2017 2017 2017 2017 :
£'eoo - €000 £'000 B £'000 » £7600 ..
Segment revenue {continuing operations) _ 89,613 83,462 588,030 509,074 131,028 87,712 1,907,159 1,827,028 2,715,830 2,507,276
Capital expenditure L 2,156 1,108 13,061 6,868 1,223 700 57,289 41,425 73,729 50,101
Investment in intangible asscts - - - - - 7,687 10,343 7,687 10,343
Intangible assets acquired - - - - 5,508 - - 2,815 5,508 2,815
Segment non-current assets ) 25,066 23,264 298,556 182,046 79,830 49,649 769,002 735,271 1,172,554 1,094,230
Properties held for sale 5,055 8,407
Inventories 328,525 292,681
Trade and other receivables B 413,095 397,689
Total segment assets 1,919,229 1,793,007
Segment liabilities 15,728 13,384 180,919 167,905 15,580 7,809 392,424 369,330 604,651 558,428

“Includes Poland which is immaterial



3. Operating Costs and Income

The following have been charged/{credited) in arriving at operating profit:

2017
£000
{Increase) in inventories (24,481} (2,160)
Purchases and consumables 1,850,037 1,712,918
Staff costs before non-recurring items (Note 6) 395,358 362,905
Auditor's remuneration - Group and subsidiaries 986 208
Depreciation 39,455 34,929
Lease rentals and other hire charges 68,733 59,619
Amortisation of intangible assets 4,032 3,121
(Profit)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (737) 19
Loss on disposal of Group businesses 3 392
Selling, distribution and administrative expenses o 224,258 199,798
2,557,654 2,372,349
The following services were provided by the Greup’s Auditor:
2017
£000 Lo
Audit services (i}
- Group Auditor - PwC Ireland 374 344
- Other network firm - PwC ﬁﬁ 601 443
o - 975 787
Other assurance services (ii)
- Group Auditor - Pwc Ireland ] 13
- Other network firm - PwC 12 8
T o ] N 21 21
Auditor’s remuneration - Group and subsidiaries (1) & (ii) ) o o L T 996 - 808
Other non-audit services
- Group Auditor - PwC Ireland - -
- Other network firm - PwC L L - 32

Tax advisory services
- Group Auditor - PWC [retand . -
- Cther network firm - PwC o - -

Total {including expenses]

- Group Auditor - PwC Ireland 383 357

- Other network firm - Pw( ) ) - ) 613 483
- 996 840
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4. Exceptional Items, Non-Recurring Operating Income and Qperating Costs

2017 EITRN
£°000 IV

Exceptional items
Exceptional items presented separately in the income statement - (19,713}

Exceplional items

There were no exceptional items in 2017, Fxceptional items of £19.7 million in 2016 relate to branch closures in the traditional UK Merchanting
business (£16.1 million}, an increase in the onerous lease provision of £3.2 million and other rationalisation costs of £0.4 million. The branch closure
costs in the UK primarily relates to fixed asset and goodwill impairments, redundancy costs, dilapidations provisions and the write off of inventory
balances.

5. Directors’ Remuneration, Pension Entitlements and Interests

2017

£000 S

Emoluments 2,909 2,357

Benefits under Long-Term Incentive Plan (LTIP)* ) ,, . 335 . 834

Total emmoluments 3,244 3,191
Emeoluments above include the following pension payments/contributions

- Defined contribution ** F o 207 206

207 206

= ror the year ended 31 December 2017, this is the value of LTTP awards that will vest in May 201R. The value of the awards is based on the average share price of £7.90 fur the three
months to 31 December 2017 The vesting of these awards was subject to performance conditions over the period from 1.January 2015 to 31 December 2017, For the year ended 31
Decernber 2016, this is the value of TTIP awards that vested in May 2017, The value of this award has been updated from that disclosed last year ro reflect the share price of £7.92 on
the date ot vesting.

= This i the amount of contributivn payable in respect of the financial year by way of & company contribution 1o a pension scheme or a paytnent in lieu of pension made throtgh
the payroll. This amount is accruing to two directors at 31 December 2017 {20161 twu',

Further infermation on Directors’ remuneration, pension entitlements and interests in shares and share entitlements is presented in the Report of
the Remuneration Committee on Directors’ Remuneration on pages 79 to 95.



6. Employment

The average number of persons employed during the year by segment was as follows:

2017 -
Merchanting 10,903 10,492
Retailing 1,077 1,080
Manufacturing 214 208
Holding company N 28 29

] 12,222 11,809
The aggregate remuneration costs of employees were:

£ 000 o

Wages and salaries 345,439 318,804
Social welfare costs 36,466 33,316
Share based payments charge 4,908 3,232
Defined benefit pension (Note 32} 2,353 2,263
Defined contribution pension and related costs o 6,192 5,290
Staff costs charged to operating profit 395,358 362,905
Net finance cost on pension scheme obligations (Note 32) 721 510
Charged to income statement 396,079 363,415
Remeasurement (gain)/loss on pension schemes (Note 32) - (7,438) 13,810
Total employee benefit cost 388,641 377,225

The share-based payments charge was derived on the basis of the Group’s expectation of the number of shares likely to vest having regard to the

service and non-market performance vesting conditions, the historic performance of the Group over the period since the share entitlements were

granted and the forecast performance over the remaining life of share awards.
Total capitalised costs in the year amounted to £2.7 million (2016: £2.5 million).

Key Management
The cost of key management including Directors is set out in the table below:

2017 .
Number of Individuals - - B 10 11
2017 P
£°000 b
Short-term employee benefits 3,255 2,581
Share-based payment charge 1,223 895
Retirement benefits expense L - _ . 268 263
Charged to operating profit 4,746 3,735
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7. Finance Expense and Finance income

2017 i
£'000 NIE
Finance expense:
Interest on bank loans and overdrafts 4,902 * 5,975 *
Net change in fair value of cash flow hedges transferred from equity 336 258
Interest on finance leases 188 208
Net finance cost on pension scheme obligations 721 510
Foreign exchange loss 975 215
- )} N ' 7,122 7,166
Finance income:
Interest income on bank deposits - ) {675)" Qs
_ ) ) ] (675)  (Le)
Net finance expense recognised in income statement 6,447 5,890
*Net bank/loan note interest of £4.2 millien (2016: £4.7 million)
Amounts relating to items not at fair value through income statement
- Total finance expense on financial liabilities 6,786 6,908
- Total finance income on financial assets ) B - (675) B (1,276}
Recognised directly in other comprehensive income
Currency translation effects on foreign currency net investmenzs 4,146 20,374
Currency translation effects on foreign currency borrowings designated
as net investment hedges - 1,221
Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges (202) (461}
Net change in fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to income statement B B 336 258
) - 4,280 21,352

8. Foreign Currencies

The results and cash flows of the subsidiaries with euro functional currencies have been translated into sterling using the average exchange rate for
the year, The balance sheets of subsidiaries with euro functional currencies have been translated into sterling at the rate of exchange ruling at the
balance sheet date.

The average sterling/euro rate of exchange for the year ended 31 December 2017 was Stg87.67 pence (Year ended 31 December 2016: $tg81.95 pence).
The sterling/euro exchange rate at 31 December 2017 was Stg88.72 pence (31 December 2016: Stg83.62 pence).



9. Income Tax

2017 ,
(a) Income tax recognised in income statement £000 s
Current tax expense
Irish corporation tax 1,005 84
UK and other corperation tax L L 23,134 16,212
S - 24,139 16,301

Deferred tax expense
Irish deferred tax expense relating to the origination and reversal of temporary differences 1,765 1,902
Deferred tax credit resulting from change in tax rates (415) (820)
UK and other deferred tax expense relating to the origination and reversal of temporary differences 1,133 3,745

o o 2,483 4,827
Total income tax expense in income statement 26,622 21,128

Taxation

The income tax expense of £26.6 million (2016: £21.1 million) is equivalent to an effective tax rate of 17.2 per cent (2016: 18.5 per cent). The underlying
rate for the year was 18.5 per cent {2016: 19.0 per cent). Non-recurring tax deductions accounted for the difference between the effective and
underlying rate of 18.5 per cent. The underlying rate is based on the prevailing rates of corporation tax and the mix of profits between the UK,
Ireland, the Netherlands and Belgium. The underlying tax rate is impacted by the disallowance of a tax deduction for certain overheads including
depreciation on property. The underlying tax rate for the Group is most sensitive to changes in the UK rate of corperation tax which declined by one
per cent to 19 per cent with effect from 1 April 2017, A further two percentage peint reduction to 17 per cent will take effect on 1 April 2020,

Taxaticn paid in 2017 of £18.2 million (2016: £16.3 million) reflected the availability of tax allowances and various reliefs carried forward from prier
years.

The amount shown for current taxation reflects tax uncertainties and is based on the Directors’ single best estimate of the probable cutflow of
economic resources that will be required. As with all estimaltes, the actual outcome may be different to the current estimate.
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9. Income Tax [continued)

2017
[b) Reconciliation of effective tax rate £000
Profit before tax ) ) -~ 154,451 114,247
Profit before tax multiplied by the standard rate of tax of 12.5% (2016: 12.5%) 19,306 14,281
Effects of:
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 3,652 5,670
Differences in effective tax rates on overseas earnings 6,094 5,353
Effect of change in tax rates (415) {820)
[tems not previously recognised for deferred tax (2,999) (2,917)
Other differences . ) B - —_ - 984 (439)
Total income tax expense in income statement 26,622 21,128
2017 s
([c] Deferred tax recognised directly in equity/other comprehensive income £°000 L
Actuarial movement on pension schemes 1,069 (2,102) !
Employee share schemes (439) 349
Financing - cash flow hedge o N ) 30 (26)
660 (1,779}

At 31 Decemnber 2017 the Group recognised deferred tax assets on tax losses of £4.2 million (2016: £6.2 million). The tax losses arose in the Irish and
Belgian tax jurisdictions and their utilisation is dependent on future profits. The Directors have concluded that a forecast period of up to four years
is the appropriate timescale over which to consider whether it is more likely than not that the Irish and Belgian sub-groups will earn sufficient
future profits to utilise losses carried forward.

Deferred income tax liabilities have not been recognised for any taxes that would be payable on the unremitted earnings of certain subsidiaries as it
is probable that any temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

10. Dividends

2017 L
£000 .
Group
Interim dividend of 9.0p per Graften Unit - paid 13 April 2017 21,267 -
Interim dividend of 5.25p per Grafton Unit - paid 6 October 2017 12,441 -
Interim dividend of 8.0p per Grafton Unit - paid 15 April 2016 - 18,825
interim dividend of 4.75p per Grafton Unit - paid 7 October 2016 ) 7 - 11,223
) - 33,708 30,048

The payment in 2017 of a second interim dividend for 2016 of 9.0 pence on the ‘C’ Ordinary shares in Grafton Group (UK} ple from UK-sourced income
arnounted to £21.3 milllon. An interim dividend for 2017 of 5.25 pence per share was paid on 6 October 2017 on the ‘¢’ Ordinary shares in Grafton
Group {(UK) plc from UK-sourced income and amounted to £12.4 million.



10. Dividends (continued)
The Board has agreed to pay a second interim dividend of 10.25 pence on the ‘C’ Ordinary shares in Grafton Group (UK) plc from UX-sourced income
to all holders of Grafton Units on the Company's Register of Members at the close of business on 9 March 2018 (the 'Record Date’) and the cash

consideration will be paid on 6 April 2018, A liability in respect of this second interim dividend has not been recognised at 31 December 2017, as there
was no present obligation to pay the dividend at the year-end.The dividend payable on 6 April 2018 of £24.3 million will be recognised in 2018.

11. Earnings per Share - Group

The computation of basic, diluted and adjusted earnings per share is set cut below:

2017
£000
Numerator for basic, adjusted and diluted earnings per share:
Profit after tax for the financial year 127,829 93,119
Non-controlling interest o o (110) 228
Numerator for basic and diluted earnings per share 127,719 93,347
Exceptional items (Note 4) - 19,713
Tax relating to exceptional items - (2,231)
Amortisation of intangible assets arising on acquisitions 2,756 2,198
Tax relating to amortisation of intangible assets arising on acquisitions S . (618y (564)
Numerator for adjusted earnings per share 129,857 112,463
Denominator for basic and adjusted earnings per share:
Number of N
Grafton Units L
Weighted average number of Grafton Units in issue 236,746,881 235,942,078
Dilutive effect of options and awards - L o o 662,760 726,245
Denominator for diluted earnings per share 237,409,641 236,668,323
Earnings per share [pence)
- Basic 53.95 39.56
- Diluted 53.80 39.44
Adjusted earnings per share [pence)
- Basic 54.85 47.67
- Diluted 54.70 47.52

The weighted average potential employee share entitlements over 707,588 Grafton Units (2016: 593,675 which are currently anti-dilutive are not
included in the above calculation for diluted earnings per share and adjusted diluted earnings per share,
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12. Goodwill

2017 it

£°000 R Tvn|
Cost
At 1 January 566,237 521,521
Arising on acquisitiens (Note 28} 17,671 5,380
Measurement period adjustment - (500}
Disposal of Group businesses (89) (549}
Translation adjustment 7 ) 7,927 40,385
At 31 December 591,746 566,237

Goodwill Acquired

Goodwill acquired during the year in the amount of £17.7 million (2016: £5.4 million) was allocated to the merchanting segment. Goodwill on these
acquisitions reflects the anticipated purchasing and operational synergies to be realised as part of the enlarged Group. Intangible assets which
formed part of the acquisition consideration are detailed in Note 15.

Measurement Period Adjustment
There was no measurement period adjustment in the curtent year. In 2016, a measurement period adjustment on finalisation of the IFRS 3 Business
Combination accounting for the Parkes Services Limited acquisition, completed in 2015, resulred in a reduction in goodwill of £0.5m.

Disposal of Group Businesses
The branch clesures in the traditional UK merchanting business in 2016 resulted in a write off of goodwill amounting to £0.5 million.

Goodwill Impaired
There were no impairments during the year (2016: £Nil}, Total accumulated impairment losses at 31 Decermnber 2017 amounted to eNil (2016: £Nil).

Cash Generating Units

Goodwill arising as part of a business combination is allocated to groups of cash generating units (‘CGUs") for the purpose of impairment testing
based on the Group’s existing business segments or,where appropriate, recognition of a new CGU. The CGUs represent the lowest level at which
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes and are not larger that the operating segments determined in accordance with IFRS g,
Operating Segments. A total of seven CGUs (2016: seven) have been identified and these are analysed between the three reportable segments as

follows:

Cash-generating units Goodwill

2017 ' 2617

Number RITEE £°000 Lein
Merchanting 4 4 589,582 564,073
Retailing 1 1 - -
Manufacturing B e - o _ 2 2 2,164 2,164
7 7 591,746 566,237




12. Goodwill [continued)

Impairment Testing

Goodwill is subject to impairment testing on an annual basis at 31 December and additionally during the year if an indicator of impairment is
considered ta exist. The recoverable amount of each cash generating unit is determined based on value-in-use calculations. The carrying value of
each cash generating unit was compared to its estimated value-in-use. There were no impairments during the year (2016: £Nil},

Value-in-use Catculations

The value-in-use is calculated on the basis of estimated future cash flows discounted to present value. Estimated future cash flows were determined
by reference to the budget for 2018 and management forecasts for each of the following years from 2019 to 2022 inclusive. The terminal value was
calculated using a long-term growth rate in respect of the years after 2022, The estimates of future cash flows were based on consideration of

past experience together with an assessment of the future prospects for each of the businesses within the CGUs. The assumptions used are also

referenced against external industry data.

The key assumptions used in the value-in-use calculations are the revenue growth rate, gross margin, the discount rate and the long term growth
rate. The pre-tax discount rates used were based on the Group's estimated weighted average cost of capital, adjusted to reflect risks associated with
each CGU. The discount rates range from 9.1 per cent to 10.2 per cent (2016: 8.6 per cent to 10.9 per cent). In determining the terminal value of the
value-in-use, it was assumed that cash flows after the first five years will increase at a long term growth rate of 2 per cent (2016: 2 per cent}. The rate
assumed was based on an assessment of the likely long term growth prospects of the individuat CGUs.

Significant Goodwill Amounts
Only the UK merchanting and Irish merchanting CGUs have significant amounts of goodwill. A summary of the allecated goodwill and the

assumptions relating to the recoverable amounts of these CGUs is shown below:

UK Merchanting frish Merchanting
2017 - 3017 e
Goodwill (£'000) 7 363,878 263,957 161,283 155,648
Recoverable amount basis T Value-in-use Valﬂé:—:i-r—l—use value-in-use  Value-in-use
Revenue growth rate average - z.8%  24% 7.3% 5.1%
Long term growth rate o B T - 2.0% 2.0% o '2'..0"_!9 _‘_ R
Discount rate (pre-tax) T ea% 8.9% Cea% 8.6%

The remaining goodwill balance of £66.6 million (2016: £46.6 million) is allocated across three CGUs and the goodwill amounts of these CGUs ate not

significant either individually or in aggregate.

Sensitivity Analysis

The value-in-use calculations are sensitive to changes in the key assumptions of the revenue growth rate, gross margin, the discount rate and the
long term growth rate. While management believes that the value-in-use assumptions are prudent, sensitivity analysis was performed based on
reasonable changes in each of the four key assumptions in the significant CGUs. No reasonably possible change in any of the key assumptions would

cause the carrying amount to exceed the recoverable amount in significant CGUs.

Of the CGUs which are not significant, the value-in-use of the Belgium merchanting CGU is the most sensitive to changes in key assumptions.
However, the underlying assumptions used in compiling the cash flow forecasts for Belgium are deemed by management to be appropriate. In
addition, should the recoverable amount of the Belgium Merchanting CGU reduce in the future to the extent that the recoverable amount would be

lower than its carrying ameunt, any impairment charge is not likely to be significant.
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13. Property, Plant and Equipment, Properties Held for Sale and Investment Properties

13. [a) Property, Plant and Equipment

Freshold Leasehold  Plant machinery

land and  mprevements / and motar

buildings puiltdings vehicles Total

€000 £'000 £000 £'000

Cost
At 1 January 2016 306,805 85,333 305,020 697,158
Additions 854 10,610 38,637 50,101
Acquisitions 4,404 - 1,396 5,800
Disposals (800) (335) (14,848) (15,983)
Reclassifications {1,085) 1,085 - -
Reclassification to properties held for sale (2,179) - - (2,179)
Reclassification to investment properties (1,152} - - (1,152}
Exchange adjustment ) 7 o 16,956 5,593 20,957 7 43,506
At 1 January 2017 323,803 102,286 351,162 777,251
Additions 6,400 13,862 53,467 73,729
Acquisitions (Note 28} 4,699 148 738 5,585
Disposals {443) (362) {22,942) (23,747)
Reclassifications (4,699) 4,323 376 -
Reclassification to properties held for sale (223) - - (223)
Reclassification from properties held for sale 497 - - 497
Reclassification from investment properties 757 - - 757
Exchange adjustment - o B 4,528 . L449 B 5,715 11,692
At 31 December 2017 - ) 335,319 121,706 388,516 845,541
Depreciation and impairment
At 1 January 2016 33,482 38,148 195,411 267,042
Charge for year 3,453 3.835 27,641 34,929
Disposals (771} (82) (13,105) (13,958)
Reclassifications to preperties held for sale (478) - - {478)
Reclassification to investment properties (535) - - (535)
Impairment ~ 1,091 264 1,967 3,322
Exchange _adjustment o ) . 3,340 3,449 18,480 25,269
At 1 January 2017 39,583 45,614 230,394 315,591
Charge for year 4,747 4,591 30,117 39,455
Disposals (199} (336) {20,848} {21,383)
Reclassifications (783) 783 - -
Reclassification to properties held for sale (9) - - (9)
Reclassification from investment properties 371 - - 371
Impairment 300 - - 300
Exchange adjustment B ) 926 962 __491e . 6,804
At 31 December 2017 44,936 51,614 244,579 341,129
Net book amount
At 31 December 2017 290,383 70,092 143,937 504,412
At 31 Decernber 2016 284,220 56,672 120,768 461,660

*The impairment charge in 2016 arose as a result of the branch closures in the traditional UK merchanting business



13. Property, Plant and Equipment, Properties Held for Sale and Investment Properties [continued)

13. {a) Preperty, Plant and Equipment [continued)

The Group’s freehold and long leasehold properties located in the Republic of Ireland were professionally valued as at December 1998 by professional
valuers in accordance with the Appraisal and Valuation Manual of the Society of Chartered Surveyors. Property acquired/purchased after Decernber
1598 is stated at fair value or cost. The valuations, which were made on an open market for existing use basis, were deemed to be cost for the purpose
of the transitien to IFRS as adopted by the EU. The remaining properties, which are located in the United Kingdom, the Netherlands and Belgium,
are included at cost less depreciation.

Property, plant and equipment included leased assets as follows:

Plant, machinery

and motor vehicles Leasehold properties
2017 ' 2017
£°000 s £'000
Cost - 198 6,718 6,510
Accumulated depreciation - f98) {3,922) (3,544}
Net bookamount T . - 2,796 3,066
Depreciation charge for vear ' . 30 273 266

The Group repaid Ainance leases amounting to £0.4 millivn (2016: £0.4 million) and entered new leases during the year of £Nil (2016: ENil).

13. {b) Properties Held for Sate

Carrurme Am
Carryrmo A

£'000

At 1 January 2016 10,805
Transfers from property, plant and equipment 1,701
Transfers from investment properties {530}
Impairment during the year (314}
Disposals (3,328)
Translation adjustment o S o 473
At 31 December 2016 ) 8,407
Transfers from property, plant and equipment 214
Transfers to investment properties (157)
Transfers to property, plant & equipment (497)
Dispesals (2,986)
Translation adjustment L S I .
At 31 December 2017 5,055

During the year one Irish and 10 UK held for sale properties were sold. One property was transferred from property, plant and equipment. One
property was transferred to investment properties. The total number of properties held for sale at 31 December 2017 was 11 (2016: 22}, of which 10
(2016: 19) are located in the UK and one (2016: two) in Treland, Tn 2016 onc property was located in Belgium. These properties are shown in the
balance sheet at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less any disposal costs. Three properties are included at a fair value of £2.8 million

(2018: six properties at £4.5 million).

Properties held for sale are not used in the course of business and are available for immediate sale in their present condition subject to terms that
are usual and customary for properties of this nature. The individual properties were being actively marketed at the year end and the Group is

committed to its plan to sell these properties in an erderly manner.
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13. Property, Plant and Equipment, Properties Held for Sale and Investment Properties [continued)

13. [¢) Investment Properties

Fair Value
£'000
At 1 January 2016 17,797
Transfers from properties held for sale 930
Transfers from property, plant & equipment 617
Fair value gain 302
Translation adjustment _ B ~ ~ - 2,103
At 31 December 2016 ) 21,749
Transfers from properties held for sale 157
Transfers to property, plant & equipment (386)
Fair value gains/{losses) (29}
Translation adjustment i - 7 ) _ 565
At 31 December 2017 22,056

Following completion of a review of the Group’s estate in 2017 a reduction in the fair value was recerded on a number of Irish properties, as a result
of an increase in the rate of stamp duty giving rise to a fair value loss of £0.4m. One Irish investment property was revalued with a fair value gain
of £0.4 million. One property in Belgium was transferred to investment property from properties held for sale. The total number of investment
properties at 3t December 2017 was 23 (2016: 22) of which six (2016: six) are located in the UK, 16 (2016: 16) in Treland and one (2016: Nil} in Belgium.
These properties are being held pending a recovery in the property market or with a view to enhancing their development potential by securing
alternative use planning.

Investment properties of £22.1 million,which are separately classified in non-current assets, are carried at fair value in the financial statements. An
internal review undertaken by the Group Property Director was used to determine fair values, The valuation techniques used were the market value
of comparable transactions that were recently completed or on the market. In cases where there are no recent precedent transactions, valuations

were based on estimated rental yields, consideration of residual value and consultations with external agents who have knowledge of local property

markets.

13. (d] Fair Value Hierarchy - Properties Held for Sale Carried at Fair Value and Investment Properties

As noted in the Group's accounting policies on page 121, properties held for sale are held at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs
to sell. Investment properties are carried at fair value. Fair value is defined as the price that would be received if the asset was sold in an orderly
transaction between market participants based on the asset’s highest and best use. Valuations are reviewed each year by the Directors with
movements in fair value recognised in the income statement.

The Group reviewed its property portfolio during the year. Properties held for sale comprise land and buildings in a number of locations across the
UK and Ireland. Investment properties, comprising land and buildings located in the UK, ireland and Belgium, are held for capital appreciation and
or rental income and are not occupied for trading purpeses by the Group. This also includes parts of properties which are sublet to third parties.
Properties held for sale comprise properties thar are held at a carrying amount of £2.2 million {2016: £3.8 million) and properties held at a fair value of
£2.8 million (2016: £4.5 million}. Investment properties are held at a fair value of £22.1 million (2016: £21.7 million'.

In general, valuations have been undertaken having regard to comparable market transactions between informed market participants. Due to very
limited transactions for properties of a similar nature in the UK and Ireland, the valuations of a number of properties were determined internally
with reference to local knowledge, valuation techniques and the exercise of judgement follewing consultation with property advisers with recent
experience of the location and nature of the properties being valued.

Property valuations are derived from data which is not publicly available and involves a degree of judgement. For these reasens, the valuations of the
Group’s property portfolio is classified as level 3 as defined by IFRS 13.



13. Property, Plant and Equipment, Properties Held for Sale and Investment Properties [continued)

The following is a summary of valuation metheds used in relation to the Group’s held for sale and investment properties which are carried at fair

value:

At 31 December 2017

Comparable Offers
market trom third Total
transactions parties 2017
£000 £'000 £ 000
Properties Held for Sale
Merchanting segment 2,595 248 2,843
Comparable
market Other Tatal
transactions methods 2017
£000 £000 £'006
Investment Properties
Merchanting segment 17,978 - 17,978
Manufacturing segment - 2,871 1,207 4,078
Total 20,849 1,207 22,056
A0t Decemiber 2004
i
" el
ol
|
Properties Held for Sale
Merchanting segment 3,707 745 4,452
.
. : . ™
L
Investment Properties
Merchanting segmont 17,665 - 17,665
Manufacturing segment L 890 LIS A0
Total 20,555 1,194 21,749
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13. Property, Plant and Equipment, Properties Held for Sale and Investment Properties [continued)

The following table shows a reconciliation from the opening balance to the closing 2017 balance for level 3 fair values:

Properties investment

held for sale properties

2017 2017

£000 €000

Balance at beginning of year 8,407 23,749

Transfers from property, plant and equipment 214 -
Transfers to property, plant and equipment (497) (386)
Transfers to investment properties (157) 157
Disposals (2,986) -
Fair value gains/{losses) - {29}
Foreign exchange movement .4 565
Balance at end of year 5,055 22,056
Recorded at fair value 2,843 22,056
Recorded at cost 2,212 -
Total 75,055 22,056

During 2017 one Itish invesrment property was revalued with a fair value gain of £0.4 million. A fair value movement of £0.4m was recognised on a

number of Irish properties as a result of an increase in the rate of stamp duty.

The following table shows a reconciliation from the opening balance to the closing 2016 balance for level 3 fair values:

Balance at beginning of year 10,805 17,797
Transfers from property, plant and equipment 1,701 617
Transfers to investment properties (930) Q30
Disposals {3,328} -
[mpairment (314) -
Fair value gain - 302
Foreign exchange movement N 473 2,103
Balance at end of year 8,407 21,749
Recorded at fair value 4,452 21,749
Recorded at cost 3,855 -
Total - 8,407 21,749

During 2016, one Irish investment property was revalued with a fair value gain of £0.3 million. During 2016 five UK held for sale properties were

impaired giving rise to an impairment charge of £0.3 million.

Valuation Technigques and Significant Unobservabie Inputs

The following tables show the valuation technigues used in measuring the fair value of properties held for sale and investment properties and the

significant unebservable inputs used. Where market transactions are present, the comparable market transaction method is used for land and

buildings held for sale or capital appreciation.




13. Property, Plant and Equipment, Properties Held for Sale and Investment Properties (continued)

Properties Held far Sale

Valuation technigue

Comparable market transactions -
price per square metre:

The value is based on comparable market
transactions after discussion with
independent agents and/or with reference to
other information sources.

Offers from third parties:

This valuation is used for properties that
have formal offer documentation received
by the Group from third parties intending to
purchase with a reasonable possibility of a
sale being concluded.

Residual Valuation:

" Ireland - Urban

Significant unobservable inputs

UK - Regional [excluding major cities)

« Comparable warehouse market prices of
£130 - £456 per square metre.

» Comparable industrial development land
prices of £200,000 - £1,000,000 per acre.

Inter-relationship between key uncbservable inputs and

fair value measurement

The estimated fair value would increase/
[decrease) if:

+ Comparable market prices per square metre
were higher/{lower;.

UK - Regional [excluding major cities)

« Two offers for warehouse property at £130 -
£411 per square metre.

« One offer for industrial land at £198,000
per acre

UK - Urban [major cities)

« One retail property under offer at £3,125 per

square metre

« Redevelopment site residual valuation of
£1.901m per acre

The estimated fair value woutd increase/
(decrease] if:

« Final offer price increased/(decreased).

" The estimated fair value would increase/

ldecrease] if:

» Comparable market prices per square metre
were higher/(lower).
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13. Property, Plant and Equipment, Properties Held for Sale and Investment Properties {continued)

tnvestment Properties

Valuation techhique

Comparable market transactions -
price per sguare metre:

The value is based ot comparable market
transactions after discussion with
independent registered property appraisers
and/or with reference to other infermation

SOUrces,

Sigmficant unobservable Inputs

Ireland - Urhan

Comparable minimum office market prices
of £477 per square metre.

Comparable minimum warehouse market
prices of £231 per square meire.
Comparable agricultural land market prices
of £13,308 per acre.

Comparable industrial or development land
prices of £88,720 - £295,733 per acTe.

Ireland - Regienal

Comparable warehouse market prices of
£29 - £434 per square mefre.

Comparable market prices of development
land £44,360 - £443,600 per acre.

UK - Regional [excluding major cities)

Comparable warehouse market price of
£228 - £350 per square metre.

Comparable market prices for development
sites of between £150,000 and £1,500,000
per acre,

Inter-retationship between key unobservable inputs and

fairr value measurement

The estimated fair value would increase/
ldecrease] if:

» Comparable market prices per square metre
were higher/{lower).

14. Other Financial Assets

At 1 January 2016
Translation adjustment

At 31 December 2016
Translation adjustment

Dther
Investments
£°000

At 31 December 2017

Other investments represent sundry equity investments at cost less provision for impairment.



15. Intangible Assets

Computer Trade Customer
Software Names Retfationships Total
£°000 £ 00c £°000 €000

Cost
At 1 January 20156 15,869 2,343 15,468 33,680
Additions 10,343 - - 10,343
Acquisitions - 225 2,590 2,815
Translation adjustment 13 255 1,719 1,987
At 1 January 2017 - 26,225 2,823 18,777 48,825
Additions 7,687 - 7,687
Acquisitions (Note 28) 91 534 4,883 5,508
Translation adjustment B () 83 591 671
At 31 December 2017 B 34,000 3,440 25,251 62,691
Amortisation
At 1 January 2016 570 66 404 1,040
Charge for the year 923 274 1,924 3,121
Translation adjustment (3 12 71 _ 80
At 1 January 2017 T 1,490 352 2,399 4,241
Charge for the year 1,276 336 2,420 4,032
Translation adjustment ) S 9 68 78
At 31 December 2017 T 2,767 697 4,887 8,351
Net book amount
At 31 December 2017 34,233 2,743 20,364 54,340
At 31 December 2016 24,735 2,471 17,378 44,584

Computer software of £31.2 million at 31 December 2017 (2016: £24.7 million) reflects the cost of the Group’s investment to upgrade the TT systems

and infrastructure that supports a number of UK businesses as part of a multi-year programme of investment. A number of these systems are not yet
available for use in the business and are therefore not amortised.

Customer relationships and trade names arise from business combinations (Note 28) and are amortised over their estimated useful lives. The average

remaining amortisation period is 8 yeavs (2016: 9 years).

The amortisation expense of £4.0 million (2016: £3.1 millien) has been charged in operating costs in the income statement. Amorttisation on acquired
intangibles amounted to £2.8 million {2016: £2.2 million).
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16. Inventories

2017 Tl
£000 Con
Raw materials 1,325 1,117
Finished goods 1,350 1,307
Goods purchased forresale o 325850 290,357
328,525 292,681
The inventory provision at 31 December 2017 was £36.4 million (31 December 2016: £31.7 million).
17. Trade and Other Receivables
2017
£'000 fa
Amounts falling due within one year:
Trade receivables 290,045 282,551
Otherreceivables 123050 1ISA3E
413,095 397,689

The carrving amount of trade and other receivables represents the maximum credit exposure. Other receivables primarily includes prepayments
and rebates receivable.

The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade debtors and other receivables at the reporting date by geographic region was as follows:

Carrying Amaount

2017 .
€000 Lo
United Kingdom 298,676 302,459
Ireland 75,558 66,072
Netherlands 23,914 15,529
Belgium 14,947 13,629
- ] ] B ) B ) T 413,005 397,689

Credit risk is well diversified over a broad customer base with only a small number of accounts with balances in excess of £100,000 that collectively
acceunt for a small proportion of total trade receivables. A number of businesses also have credit insurance policies in place which provide cover for
the most significant amounts reccivable from customers in the UK and Ireland.



17, Trade and Other Receivables [continued)

The ageing of trade and other receivables at 31 December was:

Carrying
Gross Value Impairment Armount B
2017 2017 2017
£006 £ 000 £ G0G i
Not Past Due o 283,471 - 293,471 280,715 - 280,715
Past Due
0-30 days 96,823 (1,411) 95,412 89,592 (734} 88,858
30-50 days 17,737 (1,418) 16,319 17,991 (2,117) 15,874
+60 days 15,200 (7,307) 7,893 18,373 (6,131} 12,242
i B 129,760 {10,136) 19,624 12505 (8,982) 116,974
423,231 {10,136) 413,095 406,671 (8,982) 397,689
Movement in Impairment Provision
2017 B
£ 000 e
At 1 January 8,582 7,943
written-off during year* (4,829) {4,189)
Additional provision 5,843 4,688
Translation adjustment o 140 540
At 31 December 10,136 8,982
“Includes an amount of £0.1 million in 2016 wiitten off as a result of the branch closures in the traditwnal UK merchanting business.
18. Share Capital and Share Premium
Group and Company 2017
€000 .
Authorised:
Equity shares
300 million ordinary shares of 5c each 15,000 15,000
30 billion ‘A’ ordinary shares of 0.001¢ each i 300 300
15,300 15,300
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18. Share Capital and Share Premium {continued]

Year ended 31 December 2017

2017
Neminal Value
lssue Price Number eof Shares €000
Issued and fully paid:
Ordinary shares
At 1 January 236,795,887 8,427
Issued under UK SAYE scheme* 322,165 12
2011 Long Term Incentive Plan
Date awards granted
April 2014 LTIP B Nil 667,497 33
At 31 December 237,785,549 8,472
‘A" ordinary shares
At 1 January 4,025,530,079 22
‘A’ ordinary shares issued in year ) 16,824,254 -
At 31 December B 4,042,354,333 22
Total nominal share capital issued 8,494
* Refer to Note 33 which outlines the issue price of both the 2017 and 2014 SAYE Schemes.
Year caded 31 D omiber 2075
:
' I3 I
Issued and fully paid:
Ordinary shares
At 1January 235,721,435 8,383
Issued under UK $SAYE scheme* 193,060 8
2011 Long Term Incentive Plan
Date awards granted
April 2013 ITIP L Nil 881,392 36
At 31 December ) B 236,795,887 8,47
‘A ordinary shares
At 1 January 4,007,264,295 et
‘A ordinary shares issued in year o 18,265,684 -
At 31 December 4,025 530,079 22
Total neminal share capital issued 8,449




18. Share Capital and Share Premium [continued]

Share Premium

2017
Group £ 000 -
At 1January 210,271 209,810
Premium on issue of shares under UK $AYE scheme .~~~ o 1,896 461
At 31 December 212,167 210,271

Grafton Units Issued During 2017
The number of Grafton Units issued during the year under the Group’s Executive Share Schemes and the UK SAYE scheme was 989,662 (2016:
1,074,452} and the total consideration received amounted to £1,941,000 (2018; £505,000). Costs relating to the issues were £Nil (2016: £Nil).

Grafton Units
At 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016, a Grafton Unit comprised one erdinary share of Euro five cent and seventeen ‘A’ ordinary shares of 0.001
cent each in Grafton Group ple and one ‘C’ ordinary share of $tg0.0001p in Grafton Group (UK) ple.

Ordinary Shares
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to attend, speak and vote at all General Meetings of the Company.

‘A" Ordinary Shares
At 31 December 2017, there were seventeen ‘A’ Ordinary shares per Grafton Unit.

All'A’ ordinary shares purchased between 2004 to 2009 were cancelled.

The '’ ordinary shares rank pari passu with ordinary shares regarding any dividends declared. On & return of capital on a winding up or otherwise
{other than on conversion, redemption or purchase of shares), the holders of ‘A’ ordinary shares arc entitled, pari passu with the holders of the
ordinary shares, to the repayment of their nominal value of 0.001 cent per share, with no right to participate any further. The holders of the ‘A"
ordinary shares are not entitled to receive notice of any general meeting of Grafton or to attend, speak or vote at any such general meeting, unless the
business of the meeting includes a reselution varying or abrogating any of the special rights attaching to such shares.

‘C’ Ordinary Shares [in Grafton Group (UK] plc)

The ‘C" ordinary shares do not entitle their holders to receive notice of, attend or vote at any general meeting of Graften Group (UK) ple unless the
business of the meeting includes a resolution varying or abrogating any of the special rights attaching to such shares. If dividends are declared on
‘C’ ardinary shares, the holder of a Grafton Unit shall be entitled to be paid dividends in respect of the ‘C" ordinary shares comprised in such Grafton
Unit.On a return of capital on a winding up or otherwise {other than on conversion, redemption or purchase of shares) the holders of ‘C’ ordinary
shares are entitled, pari passu with the helders of the ‘A’ ordinary shares and ‘B’ ordinary shares in Grafton Group (UK) ple, to the repayment of
their nominal value of 51g0.0001p per share, with no right to participate any further. Any holder of a ‘C” ordinary share, vwith the prior approval of
an extraordinary reselution of the holders of the ‘C ordinary shares or with the prior consent in writing of the holders of at least three quarters in
nominal value of the issued *C’ ordinary shares, is entitled to call for all the holders of the ‘A’ ordinary shares and/or ‘B’ ordinary shares to acquire all
the 'C" ordinary shares at their nominal value.

Treasury Shares
The Group holds 560,000 (2016: 500,000; Grafton Units at a cost of £3,897,000 (2016: £3,897,000) as treasury shares.
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19. Group Statement of Changes in Equity

The capital redemption reserve is a legal reserve which arose from the purchase of ‘A’ ordinary shares, the redemption of redeemable shares in prior
years and the buy-back and cancellation of shares.

The revaiuation reserve was created as a result of a revaluation of Irish properties in 1998.

The shares to be issued reserve comprises amounts expensed in the income statement in connection with share-based payments, net of transfers to
retained earnings on the exercise of share entitlements and the lapsing of such entitlements.

The cash flow hedge reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of cash flow hedging instruments related
to hedged rransactions that have not yet occurred.

The foreign currency translation reserve arises from the currency effect on translation of the investment in subsidiaries with euro functional
currencies as adjusted for foreign currency borrowings and derivatives designated as net investment hedges.

Non-Controlling interests

In Decemnber 2017, the Group acquired the non-controlling interest of YouBuild NV (formerly BMC Groep NV),a Belgian builders Merchanting
business. This i$ now accounted for as a 100% subsidiary undertaking.

20. Interest-Bearing Loans and Borrowings

2017 R
£'000 B
Non-current liabilities
Eure bank loans 312,980 297,870
Finance leases o B o 2,185 2,556
o 315,165 300,426
Current Liabilities
Euro bank loans 478 442
Sterling bank loans - 203
Finance leases o ~ 438 o 406
i 916 1,051

The increase in non-current interest bearing loans and borrowings largely reflects net borrowings drawn during the year and the foreign exchange
muovemnent on translation of the Group's eure denominated bank loans into sterling at the year end.



20. Interest-Bearing Loans and Berrowings [continued)

Maturity of Financial Liabitities

The maturity profile of the Group's interest bearing financial liabilities {(bank debt, loan notes and finance leases) can be summarised as follows:

Bank toans Finance teases Tatal P i
2017 2017 2017 .
£ 000 £ 000 £'000 v B Lot
Due within one year 478 438 916 645 406 1,051
Between one and two years 254 438 692 343 406 749
Between two and three years 207 438 645 136 408 542
Between three and four years 51,071 438 51,509 89 406 495
Between four and five years 261,428 438 261,866 297,302 406 297,708
After five years .20 433 453 - 93 932
313,458 2,623 316,081 298,515 2,962 "301,477
Derivatives o 484 i 675
Gross debt 316,565 302,152
Cash and short term deposits (253,659) - (205,857)
Net debt 62,906 96,295
Shareholders’ equity 1,174,587 1,062,067
Gearing 5% Q%

The following table indicates the effective interest rates at 31 December 2017 in respect of interest bearing financial assets and financial liabilities

and the periods during which they re-price. The effective interest rate and timing of re-pricing were adjusted for the effect of derivatives.

Effective 6 months bto 12 More than
Interest Rate Total or less months 1-2 years 2-5 years Syears
£'000 £'000 £000 £000 £ 000 €000
Euro deposits 0.00% 9,771 9,771 - - - -
Sterling deposits 0.37% 59,273 59,273 - - - -
Cash at bank (0.40%) - 0.45% 184,615 184,615 - ) - - -
Total cash and cash equivalents i 253,659 B 253,659 i - L - - -
Floating rate debt:
Euro loans 0.84% (251,354)  (251,354) - - - -
Total floating rate debr " (251,354) (251,354) - - - -
Fixed rate debt:
Euro loans 1.41% (62,104) (62,104) - - - -
Finance leases 6.00% (2,623) {219) (219) {438) {(1,314) (433)
Total fixed rate debt o - (64,727) (62,323) (z19)  (438) {1,314) (433)
Derivatives B “' (484) (484) I - -
Totat Net Debt {62,906) {60,502) (219) (438) (1,314) (433)
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20. interest-Bearing Loans and Borrowings [continued}

Borrowing Facilities

The Group had an undrawn committed borrowing facility ar 31 December 2017 of £213.1 million (2016: £217.6 million) in respect of which all
conditions precedent were met. The Group had bilateral loan facilities of £528.3 million with six relationship banks at the year end. In March 2017,
an option was exercised to extend facilities of £430.7 million with five banks for a further year to March 2022, The average maturity of committed
facilities of £528.3 million, including a facility of £97.6 million maturing in March 2021, was 4.0 years at 3t December 2017, A further one-year
extension option was exercised in February 2018 for facilities of £430.7 million with five of the Group's six relatienship banks.

The following table indicates the eflective interest rates at 31 December 2016 in respect of interest bearing financial assets and financial liabilities
and the periods in which they re-price. The effective interest rate and timing of re-pricing were adjusted for the effect of derivatives.

e hega T X e Lo

Euro deposits 0.00% 8,239 8,239 - - - -
Sterling deposits 0.25% 9,598 9,598 - - - -
Cash at bank 0-0.2% 188,020 188,020 - - - -
Total cash and cash equivalents T 05,887 205,857 - B -

Fleating rate debt:

Euro loans 0.84% (238,378) (238,378) - - - -
Sterling leans o 2.00% (203 . (203) R - - -
Total floating rate debt ] (238,581) (238,581) - . - - -

Fixed rate debt:

Eurs loans 1.41% (59,934) {59,934} - - - -
Finance leases 6.00% (2,962) (203) (203) (406) (1,218) {932)
Total fixed rate debt ’ (62,896) (60,137) ] {203) ) {932)
Derivatives o ] {675} {675) _ - - 7 - -
Total Net Debt ] {96,265) (93,536) {203} (406) {1,218) (932]

21. Financial Instruments and Financial Risk

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities together with the carrying amounts shown in the balance sheet are as follows:

Fair value Total
Available Cashflow through profit Loans and Liabilities at carrying
At 31 December 2017 for sale hedge and loss recewables amortised cost vaiue Fair value
£000 £'000 £000 £'000 £000 £°000 €000
Other financial assets* 126 - - - - 126 -
Trade and other receivables- - - - 413,095 - 413,095 -
Cash and cash equivalents~ - - - 253,659 - 253,659 ) -
126 - ) - 666,754 ) . 666,880 -
Interest rate swaps - {484) - - - (a84) {484)
Euro bank loans - - - - (313,458) (313,458) (316,495}
Finance leases - - - - (2,623) (2,623) (2,623)
Trade and other payables' - - - - (572,130) (572,130)

- (a84) I - (888, 211) (888,695) (319,602)




21. Financial Instruments and Financial Risk [continued)

At 31 December 2016 ' ol . . I R . . S

Other financial assets™ 125 - - - - 125 -
Trade and other receivables* - - - 397,689 - 397,689 -
Cash and cash equivalents® - - 7 - 205,857 - 205,857 -
o 125 - ] - 603,546 I 603,671 B
[nterest rate swaps - (675) - - - {675) (675)
Euro bank loans - - - - {298,312} (298,312) (298,312)
Sterling bank leans - - - - (203) {203) (203)
Finance leases - - - - (2,962) (2,962) (2,962)
Trade and other payables* - ) - - - (523,700) (523,700) -
o o - (675) - - (825,177 (825,852) {302,152)

“The Group has not disclosed the fair values of financial instruments such as short term receivables and payables because their carrying value closely approximates fair value.

Fair Value

A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for both financial and non-financial assets
and liabilities. Set out below is an analysis of financial instruments carried at fair value, by valuation method. The different levels in the fair value
hierarchy have been defined as follows:

Tevel 1: quoated {unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or lizbilities.
Level 2: inputs other than quated prices included within level 1 that are observable, either directly or indirectly.
Level 3: inputs that are not based on observable market data.

Fair values have been determined for measurement and/or disclosure purposes based on the following methods.

+ Trade and other receivables/trade and other payables
For receivables and payables with a remaining life of less than six months or demand balances, fair value is the amount that is payable contractually
less an impairment provision where appropriate.

« Cash and cash equivalents, including short-term bank deposits
For shott term bank deposits and cash and cash equivatents, all of which have a remaining maturity of less than three months, the carrying amount

is a reasonable approximation of fair value.

= Other financial assets
Certain of the Group’s financial assets are comprised of investments that do not have a quuted market price in an active market and whose fair value
cannot be reliably measured. Such investments are measured at cost less provision for impairment where appropriate and applicable.

= Derivative instruments [Interest rate swaps)

The fair values of interest tate swaps are calculated as the present value of the estimated furure cash flows based on the terms and maturity of each
contract and using forward currency rates and market interest rates as applicable for a siniilar instrument at the measurement date. Fair values
reflect the credit risk of the instrument and include adjustments to take account of the credit risk of the Group entity and counterparty where
appropriate.
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21, Financial Instruments and Financial Risk [continued)

Fair Value (continued)

+ Interest bearing loans and borrowings

For floating rate interest bearing loans and borrowings with a contractual repricing date of less than six months, the nominal amount is deemed to
reflect fair value. For loans with repricing dates of greater than six months, the fair value is calculated based on the present value of the expected
future principal and interest cash flows discounted at interest rates effective at the balance sheet date and adjusted for credit spread.

* Finance lease liabilities
Fair value is based on the present value of future cash flows discounted at market rates and credit spread.

The following table shows the fair values of financial assets and liabilities including their level in the fair value hierarchy. It does not inciude fair
value information for financial assets and financial liabilities not measured at fair value if the carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of fair

value.

2017 2017 2017 2017
Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
£000 £000 £000 €080
Liabilities measured at fair value
Designated as hedging instruments
Interest rate swaps (484) - (484) -
Liabilities not measured at fair value
Liabilities at amortised cost
Euro bank loans (316,495) - (316,493) -
Finance leases (2,623) - (2,623) -
T (319,11%) - Tmaenig) -
T | .
.
Liabilities measured at fair vatue
Designated as hedging instruments
Interest rate swaps {675) - {673, -
Liabilities not measured at fair value
Liabilities at amortised cost
Euro bank loans (298,312} - (298,312) -
Sterling bank loans {203 - {203) -
Finance leases L B ) (2,962) - (2,962) -

(301,477) - {301,477) -




21. Financial Instruments and Financial Risk [continued)

Fair Value [continued)
Level 2 Fair values

Inter-relationship between Key

Significant unobservable inputs and far value
Type Valuation technique uncbservable inputs measurement
Financial assets and tiabilities measured at fairvalue ) L
Interest rate swaps The fair value of interest rate swaps Not applicable Not applicable

is calculated as the present value of
the estimarted future cashflows based
on observable yield curves

Financial assets and liabilities not held at fair value

Other financial liabilities* Discounted cash flows Not applicable 7" Notapplicable

'other financial liabilities include Euro bank loans, Sterling bank loans and Anance leases.

Risk Exposures and Group Treasury Policy

The Group's operations expose it to various financial risks that include credit risk, liquidity risk, currency risk and interest rate risk. The Group’s
treasury policies, which are regularly reviewed, are designed to reduce financial risk in a cost efficient way. A limited number of foreign exchange
swaps, spot foreign currency contracts and interest rate swaps are undertaken periodically to hedge underlying interest rate, fair value and currency

exposures and it is Board policy te manage these risks in a non-speculative manner.

The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:
= Credit risk

= Liquidity risk

» Currency risk

« Interest rate risk

The manner in which the Group is exposed to each of these risks and the risk management policies applied are discussed below.

The Board of Directors has the overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk management framework. The Board is
responsible for developing and monitoring the Group's risk management policies.

The Board and the Audit and Risk Committee have reviewed the pracess for identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks affecting the

business.

Credit Risk
Credit risk arises from credit granted to customers. Credit risk alse arises on cash and cash equivalents, derivative financial instruments and cash
and depesits with banks and financial institutions.

Exposure to credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis. The Group's exposure to customer credit risk is diversified over a large customer base and
the incidence of default by customers is tightly managed by Business Unit credit control teams. Credit insurance is in place to cover major exposures
in the UK and Irish merchanting businesses. Credit evaluations are performed regularly. New customers are subject to initial credit checks that
include trade and bank references and are generally subject to restricted credit limits prior to develeping a credit history. Due to the established
nature of the businesses, a high proportion of customers have long-standing trading refationships with Group companies. These established
customers are reviewed regularly for financial strength and the appropriateness of their credit limit.



Notes to the Group Financial Statements (continued)

21. Financial Instruments and Financiat Risk [continued)

The Group establishes a provision for impairment that represents its estimate of losses in respect of trade and other receivables. The main
components of this provision are a specific loss component that relates te individually significant exposures and a collective loss component
established for groups of similar assets in respect of losses that have been incurred but not yet identified.

Cash and shert term bank deposits are invested with a range of banks, all with eriginal maturities of less than 3 months at 31 December 2017.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset, including derivative financial instruments,in
the balance sheet.

The maximuin exposure to credit risk at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 was:

2017
000
Trade and other receivables 413,095 397,689
Cash and cash equivalents 253,659 205,857
666,754 603,546

Additional disclosures in relation to the Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from trade and othert receivables is set out in Note 17.
The maximum exposure to credit risk for cash and cash equivalents, based on the domicile of the parent bani, at the reporting date was:

Carrying Amount

2017
£000

United Kingdom banks 208,926 168,428

Republic of Ireland banks 41,220 34,900

Netherlands banks 2,617 1,005

Belgian banks o 896 1,524

"' - 7 253859 205,857

The cash on deposit and cash balances are primarily held with Bank of reland, HSBC, Ulster Bank, Barclays, ABN AMRO and Lloyds Bank. all of the
Group’s cash is held with financial institutiens which have an investment grade credit rating.

2017
£000 [
Gross amounts of cash and cash equivalents 280,845 245,742
Amounts set off in the balance sheet * (27,186) (39,883)
Net amounts of cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet 253,659 205,857

‘The Group has netting arrangements in place with Bank ot Ireland, HSBC and Lioyds Bank wwith cash balances and overdrawn positions being netted, as a legal right uf set-off exists
with each banlk.



21. Financial Instruments and Financial Risk {continued]

Foreign Currency Risk Management

Transactional foreign exchange risk arises from foreign currency transactions, assets and liabilities. Group operations manage foreign exchange
trading risks against their functional currencies. The majority of trade conducted by the Group’s Irish, Belgian and Dutch businesses is in euro.
Sterling is the principal currency for the Group's UX businesses. Currency risks are regularly monitored and managed by utilising spot and forward
foreign currency contracts as appropriate for settling liabilities arising from rhe purchase of goods for resale in non-functional currencies. The
majority of transactions entered into by Group entities are denominated in functional currencies and no significant level of hedging is required.

A proportion of the Group’s net worth is denominated in euro. This is reflected in profit after tax reserves retained in euro denominated trading and
finance companies which gives rise to translation differences on conversion to sterling.

Borrowings made in a non-functional currency are swapped into a functional currency.

Sensitivity Analysis

A ten per cent strengthening of the sterling exchange rate against the euro exchange rate at the balance sheer date would have decreased equity and
profit after tax by the amount shown below. This assumes that all variables, in particular the results and financial position of each euro functional
currency entity and interest rates, remained constant. A ten per cent weakening of the sterling exchange rate against the euro exchange rate would
have an equal and opposite effect on the amounts shown below en the basis that all variables remain constant.

Equity Profit after tax

£000 L'o0c
31 December 2017
10% strengthening of sterling currency against the euro {23,784) (3,436)
31 December 2016
10% strengthening of sterling currency against the euro (19,045) (1,851)
Hedging

The Group has exposure to changes in interest rates on certain debt instruments and has hedged an element of this risk by entering into interest
rate swaps. The nominal value of contracts outstanding is £62,104,000 (2016: £59,934,000) and the pericd hedged s from December 2014 to May 2019
{2016: December 2014 to May 2019).

The Group classified interest rate swaps as cash flow hedges and stated them at their fair value. The fair value of these swaps at 31 December 2017 was
a liability of £0.5 million {31 December 2016: a liability of £0.7 million). A net credit of £134,000 (31 December 2016: chatge of £203,000) was recorded in
the cash flow hedge reserve in other comprehensive income and a balance of £Nil (31 December 2016: £Nil), being the ineffective portion of the hedge,
was taken to the Group Income Statement (Note 7).
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21. Financial Instruments and Financial Risk (continued]

Interest Rate Risk

The majoriry of the Group’s ongoing operations are financed from a mixture of cash generated from operations and borrowings. Borrowings are
initially secured at floating interest rates and interest rate risk is monitored on an engeing basis. Interest rate swaps are used to manage interest
rate risk when considered appropriate having regard to the interest rate environment.

Cash Flow Sensitivity Analysis for Variable Rate Instruments

Areduction of 50 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased profit before tax and equity by £1.6 million (2016 £1.5
million) on the basis of the Group's gross debt of £316.6 million. An increase of 50 basis points, on the same basis, would have an equal and opposite
effect.

Capital Management
The capital structure of the Group comprises share capital, reserves and net debt.

The overall approach is to optimise shareholder value by leveraging the balance sheet to an appropriate level having regard to econamic and trading
conditions in the Group's markets, the level of internal cash generation, credit conditions generally and interest rates payable.

The Group’s capital structure is kept under ongoing review and the debt component is actively managed with a view to maintaining diversified
sources of funding, significant undrawn facilities and cash deposits.

The Directors monitor the Company’s share price and may from time to time exercise their powers to make market purchases of the Company's
own shares, at price levels which they consider to be in the best interests of the shareholders generally, after taking account of the Company's overall

financial position.

The principal bank covenants are a net debt ta equity ratio limit of 85 per cent, EBITDA interest cover of 4 times and a minimum shareholders’ equity
of £0.8 billion at 31 December 2017.

At 31 December 2017 the net debt to equity ratio was 5 per cent and shareholders’ equity was £1.2 billion. EBITDA for the year was £204.4 million and
underlying EBTTDA interest cover for 2017 was 48.4 times.



21. Financial Instruments and Financial Risk (continued)

Funding and Liquidity

The Group has cash resources at its disposal through the holding at the year-end of deposits and cash balances of £253.7 million (31 December 2016:
£205.9 million; which together with undrawn bank facilities of £213.1 million (2016: £217.6 million) and cash-flow from operations provides flexibility
in finanecing its operations.

The [ollowing are the undiscounted contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including interest payments.

Carrying Contractual Within 1 Between 1and Between 2 and Greater Than &
31 December 2017 Amount Cash Flow* Year 2 Years 5 Years Years
£000 £000 €000 £'000 £'800 £000
Non-Derivative Financial Liabilities
Bank loans 313,458 328,404 3,476 3,244 321,664 20
Finance lease liabilities 2,623 10,103 755 755 2,264 6,329
‘frade and other payables 572,130 572,130 572,130 - - -
Derivative Financial Instruments
Interest rate swaps used for hedging 484 o 43 333 110 - -
] $88,695 911,080 576,694 4,109 323,928 6,349
“Includes interest based un the rates in place at 31 December 2017,
s ' [ " ' ) " . I
[ I P LI [ M ' 1 ' T
Non-Derivative Financial Liabilities
Bank loans 298,515 313,986 3,504 3,194 307,288 -
Finance lease liabilities 2,962 10,496 673 673 2,019 7131
Trade and other payables 523,700 523,700 523,700 - - -
Derivative Financial Instruments
Interest rate swaps used for hedging 675 644 313 237 94 -
) "7 825852 848,826 528,190 4,104 309,401 AR

“Inciudes interest based on the rates in place at 31 December 2016.
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21. Financiat Instruments and Financial Risk (continued)

The following table indicates the periods in which cash flows associated with derivatives that are cash flow hedges are expected to occur.

Carrying Expected Cash 6 Months b6to 12 1te2 2t0 3 s 4105
31 December 2017 Amount Flew or Less Months Years Years Years Years
£000 £000 €000 €000 €000 £°000 €000 cooe
Interest rate
swaps (484) (443} (170) (163) (110) - - -
1 Fapas lentlLach = =t [ Wt
’ oy Ve - " . ' LRI B W
ar b fon | o Lo
Interest rate
swaps (675) (644) (160} {153) (237) {94} - -
22. Derivatives
2017 T
£ ooe i
Included in non-current liabilities:
Fair value of interest rate swaps {484) {675)
The decrease in derivatives (non-current) at 31 December 2017 is due to movernents in the fair values of the interest rate swaps.
Nature of derivative instruments as at 31 December 2017
Notional
Notionat payable receivable
amaunt of amount ot Fair vatue Fair value
contracts contracts asset tability
Hedge Period Nature of hedging instrumaont outstanding cutstanding £600 £'000
Floating interest rate to
Interest Rate Swap Dec 2014 to May 2019 fixed interest rate €70,000,000 €70,000,000 - (484)
Natora of deriwal ve meste e nts a5 at 37 Decamber 2000
[
.\ I
' T | i
' b
' [x) v 1, .1 i P oy
Floating interest rate to fixed
interest rate €70,000,000  €70,000,000 - _(675)

Interest Rate Swap

Dec 2014 to May 2019




23. Provisions

2017
£000
Non-current Liabilities
Insurance provision 9,453 9,110
Onercus lease provision 7,111 9,144
Dilapidations provision 5,324 4,131
T 21,888 22385
Current liabilities
Insurance provision 3,791 3,951
Onerous lease provision 2,738 3,519
Dilapidations provision 1,663 3,415
Other provisions 2,441 1,458
T 10,633 12,343
Insurance Cnerous Leases Ditapidations
2017 2017 2017 K
Provisions £'000 [ £'000 £ 000 i
At 1 January 13,061 11,942 12,663 7,980 7,546 4,350
Charge in year 6,437 4,496 577 5,007 1,439 3,225
Utilised/released (3,601} (2,805) {3,737) (1,599) {2,053) (219)
Paid during the year (3,120) (2,525} - - - -
Foreign exchange 467 1,953 346 127k 55 190
At 31 December 13,244 13,061 9,849 12,663 6,987 7,546
Non-current 9,453 9,110 7,111 8144 5,324 4,131
Current 3,791 3,951 2,738 3,519 1,663 3,415
Restructuring Other Provisions Total
2017 2017 2017
Provisians £'000 i £000 £ 0o '
At 1 January - - 1,458 1,160 34,728 25,462
Charge in year - 4,180 564 1,244 9,417 18,152
Utilised/released - (4,180) - (1,022) (9,391) (9,825)
Paid during the year - - - - (3,120) {2,525)
Foreign exchange - - 19 46 887 3,464
At 31 December - - z,40 1,438 32,521 34,728
Non-current - - - - 21,888 22385
Current ) . - 2,441 1,458 10,633 12,343
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23. Provisions [continued)

Insurance Provision

The insurance provision relates to actual obligations under the self-insurance elements of the Group’s overall insurance arrangements which are
subject toe limits in respect of both individual and aggregare claims. This provision was based on an independent actuarial valuation. The provision
principally covers the combined public and emplover liability claims for the Group’s businesses. The Group has third party insurance cover above
specific iimits for individual claims and has an overall maximum aggregate payable for all claims for any one year. Given the nature of employer
and public liability claims, the timing of cash outflows can vary significantly. The outflow arising from the payment of claims in 2018 is expected
to be at a similar level to 2017. Based on historical experience, it is the Directors best estimate that the balance of claims which are provided for at 31

December 2017 will be paid over a two to six year period.

The incurred but not reported (IBNR) element of the insurance provision is classified as non-current as the normal cycle for settlement of such
claims is likely to be rnore that 12 months from the year end.

Claims no longer being challenged by the Group are classified as current liabilities at year end. The Group no longer has an unconditional right to
defer payment and it is only rhe timing of the payment that is uncertain.

Claims in legal process are classified as non-current liabilities at year end as the Group still has an unconditional right to defer settlement since it
can not generally determine the extent and duration of the legal process unless it expects to settle claims within 12 months.

Onerous Lease Provision

The onerous lease provision covers the expected cost to the Group of onerous property leases based on the present value of the unavoidable costs of
meeting obligations under lease contracts where the unavoidable costs exceed the economic benefits expected to be received under the contract. The
timing of cash outflows is over the remaining life of the relevant lease. Changes in trading patterns from year to year may impact forecast cashflows

and alter the amount and timing of outflows.
Expected reimbursements in the form of sub-lease rental income are taken into account in respect of certain properties which can be sublet.
The increased charge in 2016 primarily related to the exceptional items recognised during the year (Note 4).

Dilapidations Provisian

The dilapidations provision covers the cost of reinstating certain Group properties at the end of the lease term. This is based on the terms of the
individual leases which set cut the conditions relating to the return of property. The timing of the outflows will match the ending of the relevant
leases which ranges from 2 to 20 years. The increased charge in 2016 primarily related to the branch closures in the traditional UK merchanting

business.

Restructuring Provision
The restructuring provisien recognised in 2016 primarily related to the branch closures in the traditional UK merchanting business and includes

severance payments,
Other Provisions

Other provisions relate to pension contributions, legal provisions, deferred consideration and WEEE provisions. None of these are individually

material to require separate disclosure in the financial statements.



24. Trade and Other Payables

2017
£000 T
Trade payables 440,616 409,020
Accruals 91,888 78,610
Social welfare 4,384 3,936
Employee income tax 6,748 6,079
value added tax . 28,494 26,055
572,130 523,700
25. Obligations under Finance Leases
2017
Minimum lease B el
payments Interest Principal [P [ T = P!
Leasehold Property £ 000 £000 £'000 - N i
Committed finance lease obligations:
within one year 755 317 438 673 267 405
Between one and five years 3,019 1,267 1,752 2,692 1,068 1,624
Later than five years 6,329 5896 433 7,131 8,198 o932
10,103 7,480 2,623 10,496 7,534 2,962
Under the terms of the leases, ne contingent rents are payable.
26. Deferred Taxation
Net {assets)/ fod
Assets Liabilities Liabilities S e [INESTRRNTENN
2017 2017 2017 S . 1
Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities £000 £'000 €000 [ P o
Property, plant and equipment (2,501) 31,177 28,676 (3,175) 31,244 28,069
Employee share schemes (667) - (667) (528) - (528)
Finarwing (55) - (55) (85) - (85)
Other items (901) 953 52 {1,000) 827 (173}
Intangibles - 5,856 5,856 - 4,358 4,358
Tax value of losses carried forward (4,162) - {4,162) (6,231) - (6,231)
Pension (3,581 - {3,581) (4,699) . - (4,699}
(Assets)/liabilities {11,867) 37,986 26,119 (15,718) 36,420 20,711

The decrease in the deferred tax asset reflects the utilisation of tax allowances and reliefs for which deferred tax assets were previously recognised,
the movement on deferred tax assets in respect of emplovee share schemes and a decrease in the deferred tax asset on the pension schemes deficit.

At 21 December 2017, there were unrecegnised deferred tax assets in relation to capital losses of £0.6 million {31 Decernber 2016: £1.2 million), trading
losses of £3.4 million (31 December 2016: £3.2 million) and deductible temporary differences of £nil (31 December 2016: £2.6 million). Deferred tax
assels were not recognised in respect of certain capital losses as they can only be recovered against certain classes of taxable profits and the Directors
cannot foresee such profits arising in the foreseeable future with reasonable certainty. The trading losses and deductible temporary differences
arose in entities that have incurred losses in recent years and the Directors have no certainty as to when there will be sufficient taxable profits in the
relevant entities against which they can be utilised.
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26. Deferred Taxation {continued)

Recogmised
n other Foreign
Balance Recognisedin comprehensive exchange Arising on Balance
1Jan 17 profit or loss meame retranslation acquisitions 31 Dec 17
Analysis of Net Deferred Tax [asset)/liability £080 £000 £000 £'000 £000 £660
Property, plant and equipment 28,069 (77) - 684 - 28,676
Employee share schemes {528) 300 (439) - - (667)
Financing (85) - 30 - - (55)
Other items (173) 408 - 38 (221) 52
Intangibles 4,358 {616) - 144 1,970 5,856
Tax value of losses carried forward (6,231) 2,268 - (199} - {4,162)
Pension (4,699) 200 1,069 {101) (50} {3,581)
B 20,711 2,483 660 566 1,699 26,119
0 L i o [P i ot
Yy oo - | 1 . | i
Aralysis of Net Deterrad Tax (aseat)fhab b i : 0 fo v
Property, plant and equipment 22,149 2,334 - 2,823 763 28,069
Employee share schemes (1,192} 315 349 - - (528}
Financing (50} - (26) (9) - (83}
Other items 665 {628) - (210) - (173}
Intangibles 3,942 (564) - 473 507 4,358
Tax value of losses carried forward {8,150} 3,139 - {1,220} - 16,231}
Pension (2,599) 231 {2,102} (229) - {4,699}
14,765 4,827 (1,779} 1,628 1,270 20,711
27. Movement in Working Capital
Trade and other Trade and other
inventory recervables payables Total
£006 £000 £:000 £000
At 1 January 2014 276,228 355,752, (465,914} 166,067
Translation adjustment 13,980 13,084 (21,923} 5,141
Acquisitions 872 1,852 (3,300) (575)
Disposal of Group businesses (560, {1,433) 1,040 (933)
Movement in 2016 ) L 2,160 28,432 . {33803) (3,010
At 1 January 2017 292,681 397,689 (523,700) 166,670
Translation adjustment 4,008 3,631 {5,752) 1,887
Disposal of Group businesses (342) {245) 161 (426)
Acquisitions {Note 28) 7,697 6,667 (3,499) 10,865
Movement in 2017 ) 24,481 5,353 (39,340) (9,506)
At 31 December 2017 328,525 413,095 (572,130) 169,490




28. Acquisition of Subsidiary Undertakings and Businesses

On 5January 2017, the Group completed the acquisition of 100 per cent of the issued share capital of Gunters en Meuser BV.(“G&M"}, the market
leader in the distribution of ironmongery, tools and fixings in the Greater Amsterdam Area. G&M trades from 14 branches. In April 2017, a small
single branch business was acquired in Wijchen, Eastern Netherlands which provides a good platform to develop a strong market position in the
toewn. On 21 November 2017, 100% of the issued share capital of Scholte & de Vries - Estoppey BV.(“SV-E”) was also acquired. SV-E is a third generation
family business that distributes irenmengery, tools and fixings from four branches located primarily in the Greater Amsterdam Area.

Geodwill on these acquisitions reflects the anticipated purchasing and operational synergies that sheould be realised as part of the enlarged Group.
The acquisitions completed during the year are not considered individually material to require separate disclosure.

The provisional fair values of assets and liabilities acquired in 2017 are set out below:

Total

£°000
Property, plant and equipment {(Note 13) 5,585
[ntangible assets - customer relationships {Note 15} 4,883
Intangible assets - trade names (Note 15) 534
Intangible assets - computer software (Note 15} a1
Inventories (Note 27} 7,697
Trade and other receivables (Nete 27) 6,667
Trade and other payables (Note 27) {3,499)
Retirement benefit liabilities (198)
Deferred tax liability (Note 26) (1,970)
Delered tax assel {Nole 26) 271
Cash acquired B 2
Net assets acquired T 20,112
Gouodwill (Note 12) o 17,671
Consideration 37,783
Satisfied by:
Cashpaid ) o 37,783
Net cash outflow - arising on acquisitions
Cash consideration 37,783
Less: cash and cash equivalents acquired o _ {51)
7" T " 37,732

Acquisitions would have contributed revenue of £45.5 million and operating profit of £3.1 millien in the year ended 31 December 2017 on the
assumption that they had been acquired on 1 January. Acquisitions completed in 2017 contributed revenues of £32.3 million and operating profit of
£3.0 millien for the period from the date of acquisition until the year end.

In 2017, the Group incurred acquisition costs of £0.7m {2016: £0.7m). These have been included in operating costs in the Group Income Statemnent.
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28. Acquisition of Subsidiary Undertakings and Businesses (continued)

The fair value of identifiable net assets acquired in 2017 was £20.1 million.

Fair Value Cansideration Goodwill
£080 £000 £°G00
Total acquisitions 20,112 37,783 17,671

Any adjustments to these provisional fair values within the twelve month timeframe from the date of acquisition will be disclosed in the 2018
Annual Report as stipulated by IFRS3 Business Combinations.

There were no adjustments processed during the year to the fair value of business combinations completed during the year ended 31 December 2015,

29. Reconciliation of Net Cash Flow to Movement in Net Debt

2017 Ll

£000 ]
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 45,070 {12,461)
Net movement in derivative financial instruments 264 (203)
Cash flow from movement in debt and lease financing ) ) o _ 2,47 68,144
Change in net debt resulting from cash flows 42,857 55,480
Translation adjustment o N ‘ (9,468} (38,217;
Movement in net debt in the year 33,389 17,263
Net debt at 1 January B L o {96,295} (113,558)
Net deht at 31 December (2, AOR) (9R,795)
30. Capital Expenditure Commitments
At the year end the following commitments authorised by the Board had not been provided for in the financial staternents:

2017 2

£000
Contracted for 7,935 5,773
Not centracted for o o - 71,180 67,505

79,115 73,278

Capital expenditure commitments are analysed by geography in the table below:

7017 .

£000 A
UK 73,436 67,678
Ireland 2,944 2,873
Netherlands 547 421
Belgium - - . %188 00 2,306

79,115 73,278

Amounts relating to intangibles included above 2,450 3,025




31. Operating Leases

Total commitments payable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

iand and
butldings Other Total
2017 2017 2007
£ 008 £000 £0080 - £
Operating lease payments due:
within one year 64,521 6,722 71,243 56,042 5,940 £1,982
Between two and five years 234,579 9,489 244,068 208,219 10,136 218,355
Qver five years 385,199 - 385,199 368,875 - 368,875
684,299 16,211 700,510 633,136 16,076 649,212

The Group leases a number of properties under operating leases. The leases typically run for a period of 15 to 25 years. Rents are generally reviewed
every five years.

During the year ended 31 December 2017 £68.7 million {2016: £59.6 million) was recognised as an expense in the income staternent in respect of
operating leases.

32. Pension Commitments

Anumber of defined benefit and defined contribution pension schames are operated by the Group and the assets of the schemes are held in separate

trustee administered funds.
The actuarial reports are not available for public inspection.

1AS 19 - Employee Benefits

The Group operates four defined benefit schemes in Ireland, two defined benefit schemes in the UK, one scheme in the Netherlands and three
schemes in Belgium for qualifying employees (the “DB Schemes”;. All schemes except one are closed to new entrants. The DB Schemes are
administered by trusts that are legally separated from the Group. The trustees of the DB Schemes are required by law to act in the interest of the
members of the DB Schemes. The trustees of the DB Schemes are responsible for the investment policy of the schemes.

Under the DB Schemes, the employees are entitled to receive an annual payment on attainment of nermal retirement age which in Ireland, is in line
with the State pension age (i.e. age 66,67 or 68 depending on year of birth} and in the UK 13 age 65 for the majority of benefits. The level of benefit
payable depends on length of service. It also depends, in the case of Ireland, on a member’s final pensionable salary near retirement (excluding
salary inereases up to and including 1st January 201%) and in the case of the UK, on a member's 2013 pensionable salary. Salary for pension purposes
is integrated with the State Pension. The DB Schemes provide post retirement pension increases in the UK only and spouse’s death in retirement
pensions in both Treland and the UK. No other post-retirement benefits are previded to employees.
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32. Pension Commitments (continued)

Defined Benefit Pension Schemes - Principal Risks
Through its defined benefit pension schemes the Group is exposed to a number of risks the most significant of which are detailed below:

Asset volatility: Under IFRS the assets of the Group's defined benefit pension schemes are reported at fair value. The majority of the schermes’
assets comprise of equities, bonds and property all of which may fluctuate significantly from one reporting period to the next.

Discount rates: the discount rates used in calculating the present value of scheme liabilities are determined by reference to market yields at the
balance sheet date of high quality corporate bonds consistent with the currency and term of the retirement benefit obligations. Changes to the
discount rates can have a very significant impact on the amount of defined benefit scheme liabitities.

Salary and price inflation: Some of the Group’s pension obligations are salary and inflation linked. Higher salary and price inflation will lead to
higher liabilities. In 2013 the Group agreed new arrangements on pensionable salary increases which reduced this risk as noted in the financial
assumptions. The exposure to inflation risk relates to the granting of inflation linked pension increases in the UK and also to revaluacion of deferred
benefits in both the UK and Ireland.

Longevity risk: Tn the majority of cases the Group’s defined benefit pension schemes provide benefits for life. Increases in life expectancy will
therefore give rise to higher liabilities.

The nature of these risks is not materially different across all schermes with the exception of salary and price inflation risks which differ between the
UK and Ireland.

Financial Assumptions

The financial assurnptions used to calculate the retirement benefit liabilities under TAS 19 were as follows:

At at -
31 Dec 2017 31 Dec 2017 IR L
Irish schemes UK schemes . v il e

valuation method - Projected Unit Projected Unit Projected Unit Projected Unit
Rate of increase in salaries . B - 2.65%"* _0.00%*" 2.50%" 0.00%*~
Rate of increase of pensions in payment - _ 3.10% - ) __3'_._'10”;@
Discount rate _ 1.85% 2.60% 1.80% 2.90%
Inflation rate increase )  1.45% 220%™ L.30% 2.20%" "

2.65% applies from 2 January 2019 {31 Deceniber 2016: 2.50% frum 2 January 2019).
"7 Pensinnable salaries are not adjusted tor inflacion.

“*The intlution assumption shown for the UK is based on the Consumer Price Index (¢CPI .,

The future life expectancy at age 65 for males and females (currently aged 55 and 65), inherent in the mortality tables used for the 2017 and 2016 year
end TAS 19 disclosures are as follows:

2017 Mortality (years) Ireland UK Lt L PRy

Future Pensioner aged 65: Male 22,5 22.2 ) Future Pensioner aged 65: o Male 22.4 25
_____ Female 24.8 243 . Female 247 248

Current Pensioner aged 65: Male 21.2 21.6 ~ Current Pensioner aged 65: ~ Male 2L.1 21.7

Female 23.7 23.5 ) Female 23.6 23.8




32. Pension Commitments [continued)

Scheme Assets
The assets in these schemes are analysed below:

2017
£'000 |
UK equities 3 7,424 23 50,271
Overseas (non- UK} equities 43 104,374 42 92,264
Government bonds 15 34,890 10 23,258
Corporate bonds 3 6,734 4 9,595
Property 3 8,195 4 10,129
Diversified growth funds n 74,877 9 20,313
Other 1 1,616 5 10,158
Cash 1 1,253 3 5978
100 239,363 100 221,966
Actuarial value of liabilities (262,842) {253,251)
Deficit in the schemes (23,479) (31,285)
Represented by:
Retirement benefit assets 1,527 756
Retirement benefit obligations {25,006) - {32,081)
(23,479) (31,285)

Some of the investment funds in which the schemes invest, held shares in Grafton Group plc. The total amount held in Graften Group ple shares was

£Nil at 31 December 2017 {31 December 2016 £Nil).

The net pension scheme deficit of £23,479,000 is shown in the Group balance sheet as {i) retirement benefit obligations (non-current liabilities) of
£25,006,000 of which £13,038,000 relates to the Eure schemes and £11,968,000 relates to a UK scheme and (ii) retirement benefit assets (non-current
assets) of £1,527,000 relating to another UK scheme {£1,040,000) and a Euro scheme {£487,000).

Ir: 2016, the net pension scheme deficit of £31,285,000 is shown in the Group balance sheet as (i) retirement benefit obligations (non-current
liabilities) of £32,081,000 of which £17,282,000 relates to the Euro schemes and £14,799,000 relates to a UK scheme and (ii) retirement benefit assets

{non-current assets) of £796,000 relating to another UK scheme {£449,000) and a Euro scheme {£347,000).

The actual return on plan assets is set out below:

2017 e

£00a r--r

Actual return on plan assets 16,867 22,535

Plan assets are comprised as follows:
2017 2017 2017 .
Quoted Unguoted Total Y LNLER T I

£ 600 £000 £000 H Lo

Equity - UK 7,114 310 7,424 49,870 401 50,271

Equity - Other 103,846 528 104,374 91,877 387 92,264

Bonds - Government 34,559 331 34,850 23,100 158 23258

Bonds - Corporate 6,201 533 6,734 9,029 566 9,555

Property 8,089 106 8,195 10,000 129 10,129

Cash 1,237 i6 1,253 5,925 53 5,578

Diversified growth funds 74,877 - 74,877 20,313 - 20,313

Other o _ } ) o - 1,616 1,616 8,65%____ 1,506 10,158

Totat 235,923 3,440 239,363 218,766 3,200 221,966
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32. Pension Commitments [continued)

Sensitivity of Pension Liability to Judgemental /Assumptions

Assumption

Discount rate

Change in Assumptions

_Increase by 0.25%

Impact on Scheme Liabilities

Reduce by 4.5%

Rate of salary growth

Increase by 0.25%

Increase by 0.7%

Rate of inflation*

Increase by 0.25%

Increase by 2.7%

Life expectancy

Increase by 1 year

Increase by 3.7%

~Assurned that an increase of 0.25% in the inflation assumption would also give rise to an increase in the salary increase assumption of 0.25%.

The above sensitivity analysis is derived through changing an individual assumption while holding all other assumptions constant.

The following table provides a reconciliation of the scheme assets (at bid value) and the actuarial value of scheme liabilities:

Year Ended 31 December

Assets Liahilities Net asset/[deticit)
2017 I 2017 e 2017
£°000 ! £'000 €000 sl

At 1 January 221,966 186,807 {25%3,251) (203,430) {31,285} (16,623}
Acquired in year - - (198) - (198} -
[nterest income on plan assets 5,296 6,235 - - 5,296 6,235
Contributions by employer 4,193 3,610 - - 4,193 3,610
Contributions by members 688 731 (688) (731} - -
Benefit payments (8,179) (6,992) 8,179 6,542 - -
Transfer in of assets/(liabilities) - 1,162 - {1,162) - -
currend service cost - - (2,677) (2,411) (2,677) {2,411)
Past service credit - - 282 - 282 -
Settlement gain - - 98 - 98 -
Other long term benefit (expense)/gain - - (56) 148 (56) 148
Curtailment gain - - - 169 - 169
Interest cost on scheme liabilities - - (6,017) (6,745) (6,017) (6,745)
Remeasurements
Actuarial gain/(loss) arising from:
- experience variations - - 183 (2,186 183 (2,196)
- financial assumptions - - (6,216} (29,364) (6,216) (29,364)
- demographic assumptions - - 1,900 1,450 1,500 1,450
Return on plan assets excluding interest income 11,571 16,300 - - 11,571 16,300
Transiation adjustment 3,828 14,063 (4,381} - (15,921} (553) (1,858)
At 31 December 239,363 221,966 (262,842) (253,251} (23,479) (31,285)
Related deferred tax asset (net) i 3,581 4,699
Net pension liability {19,898) (26,586)
Expense Recegnised in Income Statement

2017 T

€000 A
Current service cost 2,677 2,411
Other long term benefit expense/{gain) 56 {148}
Settlement gain (98) -
Past service credit (282) -
Total operating charge 2,353 o 2,263
Net finance costs on pension scherne obligations 721 510
Total expense recognised in income statement 3,074 2,773




32. Pension Commitments [continued)

Recognised Directly in Other Comprehensive Income

2017
£000
Remeasurement gain/ (loss) en pensions 7,438 (13,810)
Deferred tax on pensions (1,069) 2,02
6,369 (11,708)

Actuarial Valuations - Funding Requirements
Employees pay contributions equal to a percentage of pensionable salary. The percentage payable varies by scheme. Triennial actuarial valuations
are carried out to determine the Group's contribution rate required under the schemes.

In Ireland, the DB Schemes are also assessed annually against the Funding Standard {the statutory minimum funding requirement). As most of the
DB Schemes did not satisfy the Funding Standard, funding propesals are in place to address Funding Standard deficits. The funding proposals are
agreed between the Group and the trustees of the relevant schemes and are designed to restore the Funding Standard positions by 2023.

In the UK, the DB Schemes are subject to the Statutery Funding Objective under the Pensions Act 2004. Valuations of the DB Schemes are carried
out at least once every three years to determine whether or not the Statutory Funding Objectives are met. As part of the process, the Group must
agree with the Trustees of the DB Schemes the contributions to be paid to address any shortfalls against the Statutory Funding Objectives and
contributions to pay for future accrual of benefits.

No explicit external contracts have been entered into to provide liability matching such as longevity swaps or annuity purchase. Following a recent
strategy review the scheme’s investments are being more closely aligned to the liabilities by term and nature in order to minimise volatility and
target full funding on the local statutory funding measures.

The contributions expected to be paid to the Group’s defined benefit schemes in 2018 total appreximately £4.0 million.

Average duration and scheme compositicn

ireland UK
2017 v 2017

Average duration of defined benefit obligation (years) 19.00 19.00 18.96 18.90
Allocation of total defined benefit obligation by participant

2017 QL
Active plan participants 36% 36%
Deferred plan participants 29% 29%
Retirees 35% 35%

100% T T 100%
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33. Share Based Payments

The Group's employee share schemes are equity settled share based payments as defined in IFRS 2 Share Based Payments. The total share based
payments expense for the year charged to the income statement was £4,908,000 (2016: £3,232,000}, analysed as follows;

LTIP
UK SAYE Scheme

2017
€000

4,574
334
4,908

3,046
186

3232

Details of the schemes operated by the Group are set out below:

Long Term Incentive Plan {LTIP)

A Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) was introduced in 2011. Details of the plan are set out in the Report of the Remuneration Committee on Directors’

Remuneration on pages 79 to 95. Awards over 876,455 Grafton Units were granted under the plan on 12 April 2017 and awards over 68,733 Grafton Units

were granted under the plan on 10 May 2017 (2016: 837,007 on 14 April 2016).

A sumimary of the awards granted on 12 April 2017 and 10 May 2017 is set out below:

Grant date

Exercise price

Grafton Group

Grafton Group

Vesting period

Award life
Expected life

Risk free rate

LTIP LTIP
2017 2017
10 May 2017 12 Aprit 2017 ¢
Share price at dare of award o - o £7-74 £7.15 B £7.25
i - o - NAa N/A N/A
Number of employees o 3 211 215
Number of share awarpls B B - B 68,733 o 876,4§5 837,007
_ - - 3 years 3 years 3 years
Expected volatilicy } ) 28.1% 27.9% 23.7%
A ' - } 3 years 3years 3years
) ) . B 3 years 3 years 3 years
- B o _0.38% 0.429% 045%
Expected dividends expressed as dividend yield ) L74% 1.91% 175%
Valuation medel - EPS Binomiat model  Bmomiat model K 3
Black Scholes/ Black Scholes/ -
valuatien model - TSR Monte-Carlo Monte-Carla N
Fair value of share award - EPS component £7.34 £6.75 £6.88
Fair value of share award - TSR component £5.79 £4.98 £3.94

The expected volatility, referred to above, is based on volatility over the last 3 years. The expected life is equal to the vesting period. The risk free rate

of return is the yield on bonds from the Bank of England for a term consistent with the life of the award at the grant date. The fair values of share

awards granted under the 2011 plan were determined taking account of peer group total share return volatility rogether with the above assumptions.



33, Share Based Payments [continued)

A reconciliation of all share awards granted under the LTIP is as follows:

2017

Number
Outstanding at 1 January 2,343,298 2,563,157
Granted in year 945,188 837,007
Forfeited# {121,609) {144,797;
Expited unvested (116,190) (30,677}
Exercised o (667,497) (881,392}
Qutstanding at 31 December 2,383,190 2,343,298

#Share entitlements furfeited by employees who have left the Group and have no furcher entitlements under the scheme.
At 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 none of the LTIPs were exercisable as the conditions for exercise were not fulfilled before the year-end.

Share Schemes

Up to April 2009 key executives could acquire shares in the Group se as to provide an incentive te perforim strongly over an extended period and to
align their interests with those of shareholders. Under the terms of the 1999 Grafton Group Share Scheme, two types of share were available subject
to the conditions set out below:

(i) Basic shares which cannot be converted before the expiration of five years, unless the Remuneration Committee agrees to a shorter period which
shall not be less than three years, and may be converted any time after that to the end of their contractual life provided the Company’s earnings
per share has grown at not less than the rate of growth in the Consumer Price Index plus 5 per cent compounded during that period. Basic shares
granted after 8 May 2008 cannot be converted before the expiration of three years.

(ii} $econd tier shares which cannot be converted before the expiration of five years and at any time thereafter up to the end of their contractual life,
only if over a period of at least five years the growth in the Group's earnings per share would place it in the top 25 per cent of the companies listed
on the Trish Stock Exchange Index over the same period and provided that such shares shall be acquired enly if the Company’s earnings per share
growth over the relevant period is greater, by not less than 10 per cent on an annualised basis, than the increase in the Consumer Price Index over
that period.

The share scheme had a ten year life for the award of entitlements and this period expired in 2009. The percentage of share capital which may be
issued under the scheme and individual grant limits complied with Institutional Guidelines,

The number of Grafton Units issued during the year under the Company’s Executive Share Schemes was Nil (2016: Nil). Entitlements outstanding
al 31 December 2017 amounted te 1,505,001 {2016: 2,440,001). Grafton Units may be acquired, in accordance with the rules of the scheme, at a price of
€1.66 during the period te 2019,

A reconciliation of share entitlements under the Grafton Group Share Option Scheme and the 1998 Grafton Group Share Scheme is as follows:

2017
Weighted average Love

EXErcise price s '

Rumber € LI O
Outstanding at T January 2,440,001 4.27 3,524,501 5.94
Forfeited# - - (257,000) 3.86
Expired* ) o ‘ (935,000) 8.48 (827,500) 11.50
Outstanding at 31 December 1,505,001 1.66 2,440,001 4.27

#share entitlements forfeited by employees who have left the Greup and have no further entitlements under the scheme.
*perfurmance conditions not met,



Notes to the Group Financial Statements (continued)

33. Share Based Payments {continued)

Share entitlements are exercisable within six months upon a change of control of the Company. The weighted average remaining life of the share

entitlements is 1.2 years (2016: 1.6 years).

At 31 December 2017 none of the share entitlements were exercisable as the conditions for exercise were not fulfilled before the year-end.

UK SAYE Scheme

Options over 1,395,276 (2016: 593,675) Grafton Units were outstanding at 31 December 2017, pursuant to a new 2017 and existing 2014 three year saving

contract under the Grafton Group (UK) plc 2011 Approved SAYE Plan at a price of £6.77 and £5.97 respectively. These options are normally exercisable
within a period of six moenths after the third anniversary of the savings contract, being Decermnber 2020 for the 2017 SAYE scheme and December 2017

for the 2014 SAYE schemae.

The number of Grafton Units issued during the year under the 2014 SAYE Scheme was 322,165 (2016: 4,925 and the total consideration received
amounted to £1,923,000 {2016: £30,000). Options forfeited in the year were 43,878 (2016 127,375},

A reconciliation of options granted under the 2014 Grafton Group {UK) ple 2011 Approved SAYE Plan is as follows:

2017 -
Ogption price Nl r
Numbar [ Forbns
Qutstanding at 1 January 593,675 5.97 725,975 5.97
Forfeited (43,878) 5.97 (127,375} 5.97
Exercised L {322,165) . 597 (4,825) 5.97
Qutstanding at 31 December 227,632 593,675
A reconciliation of opticns granted under the 2037 SAYE is as follows:
2017
Option price
Number £
Outstanding at 1 January - -
Granted 1,175,426 6.77
Forfeited B {7,782) 6.77
Outstanding at 31 December 1,167,644

The weighted average share price for the period was £7.31.

At 31 December 2017 none of the 2017 UK SAYE shares were exercisable. The weighted average remaining life is 2.8 years.




34. Accounting Estimates and Judgements

The Group’s main accounting policies affecting its results and financial condition are set out on pages 117 to 125. Judgements and assumptions have
been made by management by applying the Group’s accounting policies in certain areas. Actual results may differ from estimates calculated using
these judgements and assumptions. Key sources of estimation uncertainty and critical accounting judgements are as follows:

Goodwill

The Group has capitalised goedwill of £591.7 million at 31 December 2017 {2016: £566.2 million) as detailed in Note 12. Goodwill is required to be
tested for impairment at least annually or more frequently if changes in circumstances or the occurrence of events indicate potential impairment
exists. The Group uses value in use calculations to determine the recoverable amount of cash generating units containing goodwill. Value in use

is calculated as the present value of future cash flows. In calculating value in use, management judgement is required in forecasting cash flows of
the segments and in selecting an appropriate discount rate and the nomina! growth rate in perpetuity. A measurement period adjustment of £0.5
million was recognised by the Group in 2016. In addition, the branch closures in the traditional UK merchanting business in 2016 resulted in a write
off of goodwill amounting to £0.5 million. There were no such adjustments in 2017.

Retirement Benefit Obligations

The Group operates a number of defined benefit retirernent plans which are as set out in Note 32. The Group's total obligation in respect of defined
benefit plans is calculated by independent, qualified actuaries and updated at least annually and totals £262,8 million at 31 December 2017 (2016:
£253.3 million). Plan assets at 31 December 2017 amounted to £239.4 million (2016: £222.0 million) giving a net scheme deficit of £23.4 miliion (2016:
£31.3 million;. The size of the obligation is sensitive to acruarial assumptions. The key assurmptions are the discount rate, the rate of inflation, life
expectancy, pension benefits and rate of salary increases,

Insurance Provisions
Insurance provisions of £13.2 million (2016: £13.1 million} shown in Note 23 were based on a review of self-insured claims undestaken by an
independent firm of actuaries and consultants. Claims in excess of specified limits are covered by external insurers.

Onerous Lease Provisions

Onerous lease provisions of £8.8 million (2016: £12.7 million) shown in Note 23 relate to the expected cost to the Group of enerous preperty leases
and are based on the present value of unavoidable costs of meeting the cbligations under lease contracts where the unavoidable costs exceed the
economic benefits expected to be received under these contracts. Changes in trading patterns from year ro year may impact forecast cashflows and
alter the amount and timing of outflows.

Taxation

Management is required to make judgements and estimates in relation to taxation provisions and exposures. In the ordinary course of business,
the Group is party to transactions for which the ultimate tax determination may be uncertain. As the Group is subject to taxation in a number of
jurisdictions, an open dialogue is maintained with Revenue Authorities with a view to the timely agreement of tax returns. The amounts provided/
recognised for tax are based on management’s estiinale having taken appropriate professional advice. If the final determination of these matters
is different from the amounts that were initially recorded such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions and assets in the
period in which the determination was made.

The amount shown for current taxation reflects tax uncertainties and is based on the Directors’ single best estimate of the probable outflow of
economic resources that will be required. As with all estimates, the actual outcome may be different to the current estimate,

investment Properties and Properties Held for Sale
The Group helds investment properties of £22.1 million {2016: £21.7 million) and properties held for sale of £5.1 million {2016: £8.4 million}. Details of
the fair value of investment properties and properties heid for sale are set put in Note 13

Rebate Income

Rebates from suppliers represent a significant source of income for the Group each year. The nature of the arrangements in place means that a large
proportion of the rebates due to the Group are not cellected until after the year end. The calculation of rebate income in the year and the rebate
receivable at year end is based on the agreements in place with suppliers. Rebate income is accrued in the year as it is earned. Due to the supplier
specific nature of each arrangement the calculations can be complex and requires management to make estimates in the absence of supplier
confirmations.
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34. Accounting Estimates and Judgements [continued)

Valuation of Inventory

[nventory comprises raw materials, inished goeds and goods purchased for resale. Provisions are made against slow moving, obsclete and damaged
inventories for which the net realisable value is estimated to be less than cost. Determining the net realisable value of the wide range of products
held in many locations requires judgement to be applied to determine the likely saleability of products and the potential prices that can be achieved,
In arriving at any provisions for net realisable value, the Directors take into account the age, conditien, quality of the products in stock and recent
sales trends. The actual realisable value of inventory may differ from the estimated value on which the provision is based. The Group held provisions
in respect of inventory balances at 31 December 2017 amounting to £36.4 millien (2016 £31.7 million}.

35. Related Party Transactions

The principal related party transactions that require disclosure under 1AS 24: Related Party Disclosures relate to subsidiaries, key management
personnel and post-employment benefit plans.

Subsidiaries
Sales to and purchases from, together with outstanding payables and receivables to and from, subsidiaries are eliminated in the preparation of the
consolidated financial information in accordance with IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Staternents.

Key Management Personnel

The term key management personnel for 2017 is the Board of Grafton Group ple and the Company Secretary/Group Financial Controller. The cast
of key management personnel is analysed in Note 6 to the Group Financial Staternents. The Repert of the Remuneration Committee on Directors’
Remuneration en pages 79 to 95 provides detailed disclosure for 2017 and 2016 of salaries, fees, performance-related pay, pensivon allowance, other
benefits and entitlements to acquire Grafton Units in accordance with the rules of the 1999 Grafton Group Share Scheme and awards granted under
the LTIP.

During the year, two Directors resigned from the Board of Grafton Group plc.
Past-Employment Benefit Plans

Pension commitments to existing and former employees under defined benefit pension scheme arrangements arc disclosed in Note 32 to the Group
Financial Statements.

36. Events after the Balance Sheet Date

On 16 February 2018, the Group completed the acquisition of LSDM Limired (“Leyland SDM"). Leyiand SDM is regarded zs one of the most recognisable
and trusted decorating and DIY brands in Central London selling paint, tools, ironmongery and accessories. The Leyland SDM "small box” convenience
trading format is a proven business model in Central London that complements the Group's larger Selco branches located in Greater London. Leyland
SDM trades from 21 branches. The total consideration paid was £82.4 million on a debt-free, cash-free basis and was funded from the Group's cash and
debt facilities. Due to the short time frame between completion date and the date of issuance of this report, it was not possible to reliably estimate the
fair value of assets and liabilities or the goodwill amount associated with this acquisition.

There have been no other material events subsequent to 31 December 2017 that would require adjustment to or disclosure in this report.

37. Approval of Financial Statements

The Board of Directors approved the Group Finaneial Staternents on pages 111 to 176 an 12 March 2018.



Company Balance Sheet
As at 31 December 2017

2017

€000
Fixed assets
Intangible assets 4 126 130
Tangible assets 4 421 578
Financial assets 5 535,130 531,186
Total fixed assets _ ) 535,677 - 531,854
Current assets
Debtors (including €12.7m (2016: €14.0m) due after more than one year) 6 1,159,400 1,103,336
Cash at bank and in hand 6,091 5,372
Total current assets - 1,165,491 1,108,708
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 7 (453,723) (391,364)
Net current assets B - o ) 711,768 717,344_
Total assets less current liabilities 1,247,445m 1,249,238
Net assets 1,247,445 1,249,238
Capital and reserves
Cailed-up share capital 11 11,930 11,880
Share premium account 11 302,508 300,345
Capital redemption reserve 905 905
Shares to be issued reserve 10,433 10,617
Profit and loss account 927,415 931,237
Treasury shares held (5,746} (5,746
Shareholders’ équity . - 1,247,445 1,249,238

There was a loss after tax of €9.6 million {2016: profit of €577.0 million) attributable to the parent undertaking for the financial year.

On behalf of the Board

Gavin Slark David Arnold
Director Director
12 March 2018



Company Statement of Changes in Equity

Share Capital Shares to
Equity share premium  redemption be issued Profit and Treasury
capital account reserve reserve lossaccount shares  Total equity
€600 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 € 090
Year to 31 December 2017
At 1 January 2017 11,880 300,345 805 10,617 931,237 (5,746) 1,249,238
Loss after tax for the financial year - - - - (9,604) - (9,604)
Total other comprehensive income
Remeasurement loss on pensions (net of tax) - - - - - - -
T;tal comprehensive income - - - - - (5;;04) - (9,604)
Transactions with ewners of the Company recognised o '
directly in equity
Issue of Grafton Units 50 2,163 - - - - 2,213
Share based payments charge - - - 5,598 - - 5,598
Transfer from shares to be issued reserve - - - (5,782) 5,782 - -
T 50 2,163 - (184) 5,782 - 7,811
At 31 December 2017 11,936 302,5(_}8 905 10,433 927,41;““ (5,745)1,24;,;;;
Year to 31 December 2016
AY 1 January 2016 11,826 299,782 905 10,964 349,954 (5,746) 667,685
Profit after tax for the financial year - - - - 576,985 - 576,985
Total ether comprehensive income
Remeasurement loss on pensions (net of tax) - - - - - - -
Total comprehensive income o T - - L : 6,985 - 576,985
Transactions with owners of the Company recognised o o o
directly in equity
Tssue of Grafton Units 54 563 - - - - 617
Share based payments charge - - - 3,951 - - 3,951
Transfer from shares to be issued reserve - - - (4,298) 4,298 - -
o s 563 B (347) 4208 - 4,568
At 31 Decemb’ér”ZVOM o o ) -11,88i) 300,345 905 10,617 931,237 ' 7(5,374';) - 7[,;1;)7,5375; '




Notes to the Company Financial Statements

1. Basis of Preparation

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis under the historical cest convention in accordance with the Companies
Act 2014 and Generally Accepted Accounting Practice in the Republic of Ireland {Financial Reperting Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework
(FRS101)). Note 2 describes the principle accounting policies under FRS$101, which have been applied consistently.

Tor the financial year ended 31 December 2017, the Company transitioned from IFRS to FRS101. In the transition to FRS101, the Company has applied
TFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reperting Standards, whilst ensuring that its assets and liabilities are measured in compliance
with FRS 101.

The Company's date of transition was 1 January 2016. There were no adjustments to the total equity of the Company on transition or to the profit for
the financial years ending 31 Decemnber 2016 and 31 December 2017 between IFRS as previously reported and FRS 101.

In these financial statements, the company has applied the exemptions available under FRS 101 in respect of the following disclosures:
« (Cash Flow Statement and related notes;

- Comparative period reconciliations for tangible fixed assets and intangible assets;
= The option to take tangible and intangible assets at deemed cost;

« Disclosures in respect of transactions with wholly-owned subsidiaries;

« Disclosures in respect of financial risk management;

« Disclosure of key management compensation;

+ An opening Statement of Financial Position at the date of transition;

+ Certain requirements of [AS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements;

« Disclosures required by 1FRS 7 Financial instrument Disclosures;

« Disclosures required by IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement: and

+ The effects of new but not yet effective IFRSs.

As the consolidated financial statements of Grafton Group plc include the equivalent disclosures, the Company has also taken the exemptions under
FRS 101 available in respect of the following disclosure;
+ IFRS 2 Share Based Payments in respect of group settled share based payments.

In accerdance with Section 304(2) of the Companies Act 2014, the income statement and related notes of the parent undertaking have not been
presented separately In these financial statements.

2. Accounting Peolicies

Key accounting policies which involve estimates, assumptions and judgements
Preparation of the finaneial statements requires management to make significant judgements and estimates. The items in the financial statements

where these judgements and estimates have been made include:

Financial assets
[nvestments in subsidiaries, are stated at cost less any accumulated impairment and are reviewed for impairment if there are any indicators that the
carrying value may not be recoverable. Impairment assessment is censidered as part of the Group’s overall impairment assessment.



Notes to the Company Financial Statements [continued)

2. Accounting Policies [continued)

Loans receivable and payable
Intercornpany loans receivable and payable are initially recognised at fair value. These are subsequently measured at amortised cost, less any

provision for impairment.

Other significant accounting policies
Operating income and expense
Operating income and expense arises from the Company's principal activities as a holding company for the Group and are accounted for on an

accruals basis,

Foreign currencies

The functional and presentation curréncy of the Company is euro. Transactiens in foreign currencies are translated at the rates of exchange ruling
at the transaction date. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into euto at the rates of exchange ruling at
the balance sheet date, with a corresponding charge or credit to the profit and loss account.

Share issue expenses and share premium account
Costs of share issues are written off against the premium arising on issues of share capiral.

Share-based payments
The Company has applied the requirements of Section 8 of FRS 101. The accounting policy applicable to share-based payments is addressed in detail
on page 124 of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Treasury Shares
Own equity instruments {(i.e, Ordinary Shares) acquired by the Company are deducted from eguity and presented on the face of the Company Balance
Sheet. No gain or loss is recognised in prefit or {oss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s Ordinary Shares.

Dividends
Dividends on Ordinary Shares are recognised as a liability in the Company’s Financial Statements in the period in which they are declared by the

Company.

Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Property, plant and equipment are
depreciated over their useful economic life on a straight line basis in line with Group policy as noted in Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial

Statements.




2. Accounting Policies (continued)

Intangible assets [computer software]

Acquired computer software is stated at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulate impairment losses. Cest comprises of purchase
price and any other directly attributable costs. Computer software is recognised in line with the criteria as outline in Note 1 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances held for the purpese of meeting short-term cash cornmitments and investments which are
readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. Bank overdrafts are included within
creditors falling due within one year in the Company Balance Sheet.

3. Statutory and Other Information

The following items have been charged to the company income statement:

2017
€006 o
Statutory audit {refer to Note 3 of Group Financial Statements) 60 60
Depreciation 207 205
Intangible asset amortisation 33 28
Operating lease costs 114 134
Directors’ remuneration 4,589 3,866

The Directors’ remuneration is set out in detail in the Report of the Remuneration Committee on Directors’ Remuneration on pages 79 to 95.

The average number of persons employed by the Company during the year was 28 (2016: 28},

2017

£ 000 TR
The aggregate remuneration costs of employees were:
Wages and salaries 5,478 5,009
Social welfare costs 297 313
Share-based payments charge 1,654 1,292
Detined contribution and pension related costs o o ) 563 439
Charged to operating profit 7,992 7,143
Net finance cost on pension scheme obligations R ) - o -
Charged to income statement 7,992 7,143

Actuarial less on pension scheme o - -
Total employee benefit cost 7,992 7,143




Notes to the Company Financial Statements (continued]

4, Tangible & Intangible Assets

Pilant and intangible
Equipment Assets®
2017 2017
€000 €°000
Company
Cost
Al 1 January 3,019 158
Additions - B B 50 . 29
At 31 December 3,069 187
Depreciation
At 1 January 2,441 28
Charge for year L . 207 33
At 31 December 2,648 61
Net book amount
At 31 December o o N o o 421 126
At 1January 578 130
*The computer sofltware additions reflects the cost of the Company’s investment on upgrading the IT systems and infrastructure.
5. Financial Assets
Investments
Other in subsidiary
nvestments undertakings Total
€000 £000 €000
At 1 January 2016 13 373,768 373,781
Capital contribution - share-based payments - 2,660 2,660
Additions in the year * - 169,750 169,750
Impairments during the years* ) - - (15,005) (15,005)
At 31 December 2014 13 531,173 531,186
Capital contribution - share-based payments - o - 3544 3,944
At 31 December 2017 13 535,117 535,130

* During 2016 the Company acquired shares in a number of subsidiary companies whick were satisfied by the assignment of intercompany receivables
*“The impailment charge during 2016 largely relates to subsidiaries which were liquidated.

Other investments represent sundry equity investments at cost less provision for impairment.



6. Debtors

2017
€000 v
Amounts falling due within one year:
Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings 1,141,848 1,081,436
Deferred tax 214 362
Other receivables _ i i 4,606 7,547
1,146,668 1,089,345
Amounts falling due after one year:
Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings 12,732 13,991
7. Creditors
2017 oa
€009 .
Amounts falling due within one year:
Accruals 7,096 6,749
Deferred tax - 26
Amounts owed to subsidiary undentakings L 446,627 384,589
453,723 391,364
8. Deferred Taxation
Net [assets]/ t 1
Recogntsed deferred tax lassets] and Liabilities Assets Liabitities irabilities "
2017 2017 2017 - - -
€ 000 €000 € 000 P v i
Other items (214) - (214} (362) 26 (336)
Recognised
n other Foreign
Batance Recegnised in comprehensive exchange Arising on Balance
1 Jan 17 Income income retranslation acguisitions 31 Dec 17
€000 € 000 €000 € 000 € 000 €600
Other items (336} 122 - - - (214)
P . R o ) e
! L o ' I 1 i L I-“ [
Other items (440) 104 - - - (336}
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9. Operating Leases

Total commitments payable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

tand and lxeeta

Buitdings / Other £ a1 N
2017 AR

€000 L

Operating lease payments due:

within one year 142 114
Between two and five years 660 217
Over five years o R ) - o 141 -
943 331

10. Pension Commitments

A defined benefit scheme and defined contribution pension schemes are operated by the Company and the assets of the schemes are held in separate
trustee administered funds.

The actuarial reports are not available for public inspection.

1AS 19 - Employee Benefits
An actuarial valuation was updated to 31 December 2017 by a qualified independent actuary.

Financial Assumptions
The financial assumptions used to calculate the retirement benefit liabilities under IAS 19 were as [ullows:

At 31 Dec 2017 oo

Company scheme c

valuation Method Projected Unit  Projected Unit
Rate of increase of pensions in payment - -
Discount rate 1.85% 1.80%
Inflation rate increase 1.45% 1.30%

The Company’s ebligations to the scheme at the end of 2017 and 2016 were limited to providing a pension to an executive who retired in 2009 on a
fixed pension.



10. Pension Commitments [continued)

Year ended 31 December

Assels Liabitities Net asset/{deheit)
2017 2017 2617
€000 €000 € 000
At 1 January 1,356 1,306 (1,356) (1,306) - -
Interest income on plan assets 24 30 - - 24 30
Benefit payments (76) (76) 76 76 - -
Interest cost on scheme liabilities - - (24) (30) {24) (30}
Remeasurement gains/(losses) B - 5 96 (5) {6y - -
At 31 December . 1,309 _ 1,356 (1,309) (1,356) - -
Related deferred tax asset (net) L o ~ - -
Net pension liability - -
No contributions are expected to be paid to the Company’s defined benefit scheme in 2018 (2017: €Nil).
11. Share Capital and Share Premium
Details of equity share capital and share premium are set out below and in Note 18 to the Group Financial Statements.
2017
Nominal Value
Issue Price Number of Shares € 000 o
Issued and fully paid:
Ordinary shares
At 1 January 236,795,887 11,841 11,787
Tssued under UK SAYT scheme™ 322,165 16 10
2011 Long Term Incentive Plan
Date awards granted
April 2014 LTTP Nil 667,497 33 -
Aprii 2013 LTIP L Nil o - 44
At 31 December - o 237,785,549 11,890 11,841
‘A" ordinary shares
At 1 January 4,025,530,079 39 39
‘A’ ordinary shares issued in year B 16,824,254 1 -
At 31 December ~ 4,042,354,333 40 39
Total nominal share capital issued 11,930 11,880
“ Refer to Note 33 to the Group Financial Statements which outlines the issue price of both the 2017 und 2014 SAYE Schemes.
Share Premium
2017
Company €000 N
At 1 January 300,345 299,782
Premium on issue of shares under UK SAYE scheme o _ 2,163 563
At 31 December 302,508 300,345




Notes to the Company Financial Statements {continued)

12. Share-Based Payments

Please refer to the Group Share-Based Payments Note 33 set out on pages 172 to 174.

13. Related Party Transactions

The principal related party transactions that require disclosure under IAS 24: Related Party Disclosures relate to subsidiaries, key management

personnel and post-employment benefit plans.

Subsidiaries

The conselidated accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries include the following transactions that have been eliminated on consolidation:
Management charges made by the Company to its subsidiaries of €11.7 million (2016: €11.0 million) for the year ended 31 December 2017; and
Loans were granted to and by the Company to its subsidiaries,

Post-Employment Benefit Plans

Pension commitments to existing and former employees under defined benefit pension scheme arrangements are disclosed in Note 16 to the
Company Financial Statements,

14. Principal Operating Subsidiaries

The principal operating subsidiaries operating in Ireland are:

Name ot Lompany Nature af Business
Grafton Merchanting ROI Limited ) Builders merchants
Chadwicks Limited B Builders merchants
Woodie's DIY Limited DIY superstores

The Company owns 100 per cent of the ordinary shares,the only class of shares in issue, of its principal operating subsidiary undertakings. The
registered office of principal subsidiary undertakings operating in Ireland is ¢/o Grafton Group ple, Heron House, Corrig Road, Sandyford Industrial
Estate, Dublin 18.

The principal operating subsidiaries operating in the United Kingdom are:

Name of Company Nature of Business

Grafton Merchanting GB Limited Builders merchants . o
Macnaughten Blair Limited Builders merchants

Selco Trade Centres Limited Builders merchants

CPI Mortars Limited ) ) Mortar manufacturers

The Company owns 100 per cent of the share capital of its principal subsidiary undertakings operating in the UK. The registered office of Grafton
Merchanting GB Limiled is PO Box 1586, Gemini One, John Smith Drive, Oxford Business Park South, Oxford, OX4 9J¥. The registered office of Selco
Trade Centres Limited is First Floor, Boundary House, 2 Wythall Green way, WyLhall, Birmingham, B47 6LW. The registered office of CPT Mortars
Limited is Oak Green House, 250-256 High Street, Dorking, Surtey, RH4 1QT. The registered office of Macnaughton Blair Limited is 10 Falcon Road,
Belfast, BT12 6RD, Northern Treland.



14. Principal Operating Subsidiaries [continued)

The principal operating subsidiaries in Belgium are YouBuild NV (formerly BMC Groep NV} (Builders merchants) and Binje Ackermans S.A. {trading
as MPRO). The registered office of YouBuild NV is Ropswalle 26, 8930 Menen, Belgium. The registered office of Binje Ackermans $.A.1s Rue Nestor
Martin 315, BE-1082 Brussel, Belgium.

The principal operating subsidiaries in the Netherlands are Isero Llzerwarengroep BV, Pijnenburg Bouw en Industrie BV.and Gunters en Meuser
BV, The registered office of Isero LJzerwarengroep B.V.is Barwoutswaarder 1,3449 HE Woerden, the Netherlands. The registered office of Pijnenburg
Bouw en Industrie B.V. is Pegasusweg 4,5015B7 Tilburg, the Netherlands. The registered office of Gunters en Meuser B.V. is Egelantiersgracht 2-6,1015
RL Amsterdam, the Netherlands.

15. Section 357 Guarantees

Each of the following Trish registered subsidiaries of the Company, whose registered office is ¢/o Grafton Group ple, Heron House, Corrig Road,
sandyford Industrial Estate, Dublin 18 may avail of the exemption from filing its statutory financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017
as permitted by section 357 of the Companies Act 2014 and, if any these Trish registered subsidiaries of the Company elects to avail of this exernption,
there will be in force an irrevocable guarantee from the Company in respect of all commitments entered into by such wholly-owned subsidiary,
including amounts shown as liabilities (within the meaning of section 357 (1) {b) of the Companies Act 2014) in such wholly-owned subsidiary’s
statutory financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017:

Absolute Bathrooms Limited, Athina Limited, Atlantic Home and Garden Centre Limited, Barretts of Ballinasloe Limited, Beralt Developments
Limited, Bluebell Sawmills Limited, Cardston Properties Limited, Chadwicks Limited, Chadwicks Holdings Limited, Cheshunt Timited, Cork Builders
Providers Limited, CPI Limited, Davies Limited, Deltana Limited, Denningco Limited, Doorplan Ireland Limited, Drainage Systems Dublin Limited,
Dunmore Holdings Limited, Eddie’s Hardware Limited, F&T Buckley {Holdings) Limited, F & T Buckley Limited, Frank Barrett & Sons Limited, Garvey
Builders Providers Limited, Gillespie Building Supplies (Carlaw) Limited, Grafton Group Holdings Limited, Grafton Group Investments Limited,
Grafton Group Management Services Limited, Grafton Group Sceretarial Services Limited, Grafton Group Treasury Limited, Grafton Group Finance
plc, Grafton Merchanting ROT Limited, Heatovent Ireland Limited, Heiton Buckley Limited, Heiton Group ple, Heiton McCowen Limited, Heiton
McFerran Limited, House of Woods Limited, J.E. Telford Limited, Jarkin Properties Limited, Kenn Truss Limited, Knottingley Limited, Lacombe
Properties Limnited, Leeway Properties Limited, Leo wright Holdings Limited, Market Hardware Limited, MB Doorplan Limited, MFP Plastics Li mited,
MEP Sales Limited, Mooney & O'Dea Limited, Morgan McMahon & Co. Limited, Multy Products {Ireland} Limited, Paddy Power (Kilbarry) Limited,
Panelling Centre Limited, Payless D.LY. Limited, Perchura Limited, Plumbing Distributors Limited, Plumbland Limited, Pouladuff Developments
Limited, Pouladuff Manufacturing Limited, Powlett Properties Limited, Resadale Properties Linited, Sam Hire Heldings Limited,Sam Hire Limited,
Stettler Properties Limited, Telford Group Limited, Telfords (Athy) Limited, Telfords (Portlaoise) Lirnited, Timber Frame Limited, Tiska Limited,
Titanium Limited, Topez Limited, Tribiani Limited, Tullamore Hardware Limited, Universal Providers Limited, W&S Timber Components Li mited,
weeksbury Limited, woodies DIY (Irl) Limited and Woodie’s DIY Limited.

16. Other Guarantees

The company has declared and assumes joint and several liability for any obligations arising from the legal acts of Grafton Holding Netherlands
BV., Isero BV, Isero Lizerwarengroep B.V., Pijnenburg Bouw en Industrie BV, Gunters en Meuser B.V., Toolrent Midrecht BV.and Scholte & De Vries
- Estoppey BV. in accordance with article 2:403 paragraph {f) of the Dutch Civil Code and such declarations will be filed at the Dutch commercial
register (Kamer van Keophandel) in accerdance with article 2:403 paragraph (g).

The Company has given guarantees in respect of the bank borrowings of subsidiary undertakings which amounted 1o €355.3 million at the balance
sheet date. The Company has also guaranteed certain property lease obligations of subsidiary undertakings.

17. Approval of Financial Statements

The Board of Directors approved the Company Financial Statements in respect of the year ended 31 December 2017 on 12 March 2018.
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Supplementary Financial Information

Alternative Performance Measures

Certain financial information set out in this consolidated year end financial statements is not defined under Interpational Financial Reporting
standards (“IFRS"). These key Alternative Performance Measures (“APMs”) represent additional measures in assessing performance and for reporting
both internally and to shareholders and other external users. The Group believes thar the presentation of these APMs provides useful supplemental
information which, when viewed in conjunction with IFRS financial information, provides readers with a more meaningful understanding of the
underlying financial and operating performance of the Group.

None of these APMs should be considered as an alterriative to financial measures drawn up in accordance with IFRS.

The key Alternative Performance Measures (“APMs”} of the Group are set out below. As amounts are reflected in £'m some non-material rounding
differences may arise. Numbers that refer to 2016 are available in the 2016 Annual Report.

APM Description

Adjusted operating profit/EBITA  Profit before amortisation of intangible assets arising on acquisitions, exceptional items, net finance expense
and income tax expense.

Adjusted operating profit/EBITA  Profit before profit on the disposal of Group properties, amortisation of intangible assets atising on ‘
before property profit acquisitions, exceptional items, net finance expense and income tax expense.

Atﬁ\usted operating profitlr‘ﬁiﬁ' —.Tdiusted—cﬁratid%ﬁt!EﬁAﬁdE_properﬂroﬁt ﬁperce@mevenue. o
margin before property profit

Adjusted profit before tax “Profit before amortisation of intangible assets arising on acquisitions, exceptional items and income tax

expense.

H]ﬁQTpl‘ﬁt?ftel‘TaT "~ Profit before amortisation of intﬁaﬁgiblégéets arising on acquisitions and exc?];f'innal_it—efns butafter
deducting the income tax expense.

" "Revenue for the previous 12 months divided by average capital employed (where capital employed is the saum
of tatal equity and net debt at each period end).

Capitalturn

Constant currency Constant currency reporting is used by the Group to elirninate the translational effect of foreign exchangeon

the Group’s results. To arrive at the constant currency change, the results for the prior period are retranslated
using the average exchange rates for the current period and compared to the current period reported numbers.

Group earnings per share divided by the total dividend per share for the Group.

Dividend cover

EBITDA " Earnings before exceptional items, net finance expense, income tax expense, depreciation and intangible -
assets amortisation. EBITDA {rolling 12 menths) is EBITDA for the previous 12 months.
EBITDA inferest cover  EBITDA divided by net bankiloan note interest. T

Free cash flow " Cash generated from operations less replagem ent capital expenditure (net of disposal i)?&'éeds);Tegg interest

paid {net) and income taxes paid.

Egaring " The Group net debt divided by the total equity attributable to owners of the Parent times 100.



Alternative Performance Measures [continued)

APM

Like-for-like revenue

Description

Like-for-like revenue is a measure of underlying revenue performance for a selected period, Branches

contribute te like-for-like revenue once they have been trading for more than twelve months. Acquisitions

contribute to like-for-like revenue once they have been part of the Group for more than 12 months. When

branches close, or where a business is disposed of, revenue from the date of closure, for a period of 12 months, is

excluded from the prior year result.

Operating profit/EBIT margin

Profit before net finance expense and income tax expense as a percentage of revenue.

Return on capital employed

equity and net debt at each period end) times 100.

Adjusted Operating Profit/EBITA before Property Profit

2017
£€m
Revenue 2,715.8 2,507.3
Operating profit 160.9 120.1
Property profit (2.7) (4.9}
Exceptional items charged in operating profit - 19.7
Amortisalion of intangible assets arising on acquisitions o L 28 2.2
Adjusted operating profit/EBITA hefore property profit 160.9 137.1
Adjusted operating profit/EBITA margin before property profit 5.9% 5.5%
Operating Profit/EBIT Margin
2017
£m
Revenue 2,715.8 2,507.3
Operating profit o 160.9 120.1
Operating profit/EBIT margin 5.9% 4.8%
Adjusted Operating Profit/EBITA & Margin
2017
£€m
Operating profir 160.9 120.1
Exceptional itemis charged in operating profit - 19.7
Amortisation of intangible assets arising on acquisitions o _ 2.8 22
Adjusted operating profit/EBITA 163.7 142.0
6.0% 5.7%

Adjusted operating profit/EBITA margin




Supplementary Financial Information [continued])

Adjusted Profit before Tax

2017
£'m [
Profit before tax 154.5 114.2
Exceptional items charged in operating profit - 19.7
Amortisation of intangible assets arising on acquisitions o 28 22
Adjusted profit before tax 157.2 136.2
Adjusted Profit after Tax
2017 i
£m L
Profit after tax for the financial year 127.8 93.1
Exceptional items charged in operating profit - 19.7
Tax on exceptional items - (2.2}
amortisation of intangible assets arising on acquisitions 2.8 2.2
Tax on amortisation of intangible assets arising on acquisitions (06 (05
Adjusted profit after tax 130.0 112.2
Reconciliation of Profit ta EBITDA
2017
£€'m
Profit after tax fur the financial year 127.8 93.1
Exceptional items charged in operating profit - 19.7
Net finance expense 6.4 5.9
Income tax expense 26.6 21.1
Depreciation 39.5 4.9
Intangible asset amorusatoon . . . I 1
EBITDA 204.4 1//.9
Net debt to EBITDA
2017
£'m '
EBITDA 204.4 177.9
Netdebt =~~~ e 629 96.3
Net debt to EBITDA - times 0.31 0.54
EBITDA interest Cover
2017
£m
EBITDA 204.4 1779
Net bank/loap note interest . 4 4
EBITDA interest cover - times 48.4 37.9




Free Cash Flow

2017
£'m
Cash generated from aperations 210.7 168.6
Replacement capiral expenditure {32.2) (22.9;
Proceeds on sale of property, plant and equipment 3.1 L7
Proceeds on sale of properties held for sale 5.7 8.3
Interest received 0.7 1.3
Interest paid {6.4) (6.9
{ncome taxes paid L B ) o (18.2) (16.3}
Free cash flow 163.3 133.8
Gearing
2017
£tm
Total equity attributahle to owners of the Parent 1,174.6 1,062.1
Group net debt 629 96.3
Gearing 5% 9%
Return an Capital Employed
2017 )
£m e
Operating prefit 160.9 120.1
Exceptional items charged in operating profit - 19.7
Amortisation of intangible assets arising on acquisitions 2.8 2.2
Adjusted operating profit 163.7 142.0
Toral equity - current period end 1,174.6 1,065.2
Net debt - current peried end o 62.9 96.3
Capital employed - current periodend 1,237.5 1,161.5
Total equity - prior petiod end 1,065.2 989.0
Net debt - prior period end o 963 113.6
Capital emploved - prior periodend e o o el 1,16L5 L1026
Average capital employed - - 1,199.5 1,132.0
Return en capital employed 13.6% 12.5%
Capital Turn
2017 "
£m
Revenue 2,715.8 2,507.3
Average capital employed L1995 1,132.0
Capital turn - times 2.3 2.2
Dividend Cover
2017 :
Group adjusted EPS - basic {pence) 54.85 47.67
Group dividend (pence) 15.50 13.75
Group dividend cover - times 3.5 3.3
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Graup income Statements

Revenue

Operating profit
Operating margin %
Restructuring (costs}/credit
Property profit

Finance (expense)/income {net}

Profit hefore taxation
Taxation
Profit after taxation

Group Balance Sheets

Capital employed

Goodwill and intangibles
Property, plant and equipment
Financial assets

Net current assets™

Other net non-current liabilities

Financed as follows:

Shareholders’ equity
Non-controlling interest
Net debtf(cash) _

Other Information - T
Acquisitions & investments
Purchase ol ixed assets / investinent in

intangible assets

Depreciation and intangible amortisation

Financial Highlights

Adjusted EPS*** (pence)

Dividend/share purchase per share (pence)
Cashfiow per share (pence)#

Net assets per share 'pence)

Underlying EBITDA interest cover (times)
Dividend/share purchase cover

Net debt to shareholders’ funds

ROCE

+* Excluding net debtf{cash®

The summary financial information is stated under TFRS for 2004 to 2017 and under [rish GAAP fur all years from 1994 £ 2003.

2017 ~ [N RN " o T P i
€m o [ o f- : e 1 i
2,715.8 25073 2,212.0 2,081.7 L899.8 1760.5 17825 17194 17638 21285 2,193.3
1582 1349 1215 1101 7.2 59.1 47.5 415 213 927 1804
5.8% 5.4% 5.5% 5.3% 4.1% 3.4% 2.7% 2.4% 1.2% 4.4% B.2%
- {19.7) - - 2.8 (212} (278} (132) (17.0) (13.7) -
2.7 4.9 6.7 - - - - - - - 5.0
(e (59) (1 (89) (123  (129) (108) (64) 78  (80) (40)
1545 1142 1203 1012 67.7 250 8.9 219 12.1 5.0 1614
(2686) (21.1) (238} (21.2) (56) 66 (67} 330 (0.2) (5.1) _(214]
178 931 965 OO 621 316 22 549 1S 459 1904
2017 [ B v 1 -
£'m v [ r v [ [ ~ {
6460 610.8 5542 4859  48L0 4762 479 4797 4893 5160 4487
504.4 4617 4301 4234 4134 4583 4719 4896 5371 6032 5161
0.1 0. 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.2 0. 3.4 3.5 o2 0.6
136.3  14L5 496 1128 1365 1337 1212 1222 1226  193.0  256.9
_ . f49.4)  (526) (3L3) (40.6) (23.0) (83.9) (584) (228} {(564) (699} (35.7)
T 13,2378 13615 11027 9816 10080 9825 1,0097 1,071 10961 1,425 11866
1,174.6 10621 9857 9023 8703 8135 820 8525 8097 8276 7830
- ER| 34 4.0 4.0 4.1 - - - -
62.9 96.3 136 53 1337 1649 1887 2196 2864 4]
1,235 11615 L1027 9816 L0080 9825 10097 1071 10961 12
40.4 11.9 98.6 331 5.9 17.6 11 21 6.1 22,4 61.0
] 8L.4 60.4 516 469 247 23.0 304 8.2 1.0 626 7L
T T ms e 10z s00 308 o6 417 103 11 ss0 17
__ 4.5 381 31 325 3LS 388 301 401 447 450 404
2017 - - P . . ot
54.9 477 412 344 22,3 15.1 13.2 159 4.8 25.6 S7.7
15.5 12.8 12.5 10.8 8.5 70 6.5 8.0 4.5 11.9 15.1
72.4 64.0 54.9 48.4 395 29.9 249 448 266 39.6 741
495.0 449.5 419.0 3879 374.4 3s0.6 354.1 368.5 3510 359.5 341.2
48.4 379 27.3 194 110 8.6 6.4 10.0 56 43 8.2
3.5 35 3.3 32 26 2.2 21 26 11 21 3.8
5% 9% 12% 8% 15% 20% 23% 26% 35% 50% 52%
__13.6%  125%  12.2% L% 8% 6% 46%  38%  1.8% 6% 161%

=== Before amertisation of intangible assets arising on acquisitions in 2017, Before exceptionat items and amortisation of intangible assets arising on acguisitions o 2018, Before

pension credit, asset Impairment and amortisation of intangible assets anising on acquisitions in 2015 [Testated ), Befoie pension credit and property impairment in 2013 and

before restructuring costs and intangible amortisation in 2012 and taxation credits in both yeais. In previous years before intangible amorttisation, onerous lease provision and

impaitment, restiucturing costs (net), taxation credit in 2010 and investment profit in 2009 and excluding material property profits in previous years



Group Income Statements

Revenue 2,000.0 1,798.1 1,270.5 1,035.2 7246 6149 5062 408.6 2897 2351 197.1
Operating profit 165.4 1462 1093 80.1 56.4 18.1 394 30.5 22.4 18.7 15.4
Operating margin % 8.3% 8.1% 8.6% 7.7% 7.8% 7.8% 7.8% 7.5% 7.7% 7.8% 7.8%
Restructuring (costs)/credit - - - - - - - - - - -
Property profit 25.9 6.6 5.1 2.4 2.3 1.4 - - - - 1.5
Finance (expense)/income (net} B (21.4) (214} (155} (1.9 (83 77 {72y 54 (3.3) (1.8) (1.1}
Profit before taxation o 169.9 1314 989  70.6 504  41.8 32.2 25.1 19.1 16.9 15.8
Taxaticn 220) (17.8) (1357  (10.6) )] (5.4) (#2) (3.0 (2.7) {2.5) 2.3
Profit after taxation B 14729 1i3.6 854  60.0 _ 429 36.4 280 221 16.4 14.4 13.5
- 0 [V I
Group Balance Sheets . L l
Capital employed
Goodwill and intangibles 400.3 375.4 174.2 1486 65.3 38.0 323 18.7 6.9 - -
Property, plant and equipment 460.8 4271 2864 2444 1966 153.0  130.8 1094 99.2 42.1 37.8
Financial assets 0.3 0.2 33.2 23.7 219 20.5 11.7 11.8 0.1 85 0.1
Net current assets’ 2254 207.8 1376 139.9 93.9 78.8 66.5 474 42.5 20.1 16.7
Other net non-current liabilities (35.8)  (5z.4) (35.8) (19.9) (1L.7)  {10.8) (10.0) (8.8) (8.7 (0.8) (0.9)
T 1,051.0 9581 5956 5367 3660 _ 279.5 2313 1795 1400 _ 69.9 537
Financed as follows: )
Shareholders’ equity 681.1 5577 3494 317.00 2095 160.9 135.1 112.7 58.6 53.6 55.0
Non-controlling interest - . - - - - - . B B _
Net debtf{cashy 399 4001 2462 2197 lsbs 1186 96.2  66.8 41.4 163 (L3)
- 10510 9581 5956 5367  366.0 2795 2313 1755  140.0  69.9 537
Other Information oo '
Acquisitions & investments 59.4 3267 60.2 1523 55.8 38.4 34.5 41.9 36.2 77 6.5
pPurchase of fixed assets / investment in
intangible assets 84.8 68.8 60.3 480  42.8 26.1 26.3 19.4 14.0 0.7 6.1
- 7 1442 3955 1205 2003 986 645 60.8 613 502 324 126
Depreciation and intangible amortisation 7.8 3.5 23.5 26.0 16.7 13.6 w1l 83 4.9 3.9 3.4
Financial Highlights . . - e i
Adjusted EPS*** (pence) 53.2 a6.4 38.1 31.2 23.3 20.0 15.8 12.8 9.6 8.5 7.3
Dividend/share purchase per share (pence) 12.8 10.8 8.8 7.3 5.3 4.7 3.7 3.0 2.2 2.0 1.7
Cashflow per share (pencej# 68.4 60.4 49,1 40.6 32.7 27.9 22.1 18.1 13.1 11.5 5.9
Net agsets per share (pernce) 2847 2349 1637 1491 1181 91.4 77.6 65.2 59.9 33.3 3.4
Underlying EBITDA interest cover (times) 10.2 9.4 9.9 9.1 2.1 8.2 6.9 7.2 8.3 12.9 20.2
Dividend/share purchase cover 4.2 4.3 43 4.3 4.4 4.3 43 4.3 4.3 43 4.3
Net debt to shareholders’ funds 54% 72% 70% 69% 75% 74% 71% 59% 42% 30% -
ROCE 16.5%  18.8%  19.3%  17.1%  16.5%  174%  174% 16.9% 182%  23.1%  22.2%

#  DBased on profit after tax before depreciation, 2016 exceptional 1tems, 2015 pension credit, 2013 pension eredit, intangible amortisatiun, vnerous lease provision, impairmenr and

excluding material property profits in previous years.

+  TA819(Revised) Employee Benehts' has been adopted as required by TFRS fiom the year ended 31 Pecemnber 2013,

The comparatives for the yeal ended 31 December 2012 have been restated.
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Location of Annual General Meeting

The Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held on wednesday 9 May 2018 at 10,30 am in the
IMI Conference Centre, Sandyford Road, Dublin 16. Telephone: {01) 207 8400
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should you require any assistance, or have any queries on the day of the AGM, please call 087 971 0851
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